UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Amendment No. 1

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the **Securities Exchange Act of 1934**

×	File	d by the Registrant					
	heck the appropriate box:						
Che							
X	Preliminary Proxy Statement						
	Definitive Additional Materials						
	Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12						
		CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.					
		(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)					
		(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)					
Pay	ment	of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):					
	No :	fee required.					
X	Fee	computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.					
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Common stock, par value \$0.10 per share, of Cybex International, Inc. (the "Common Stock")					
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 17,143,050					
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):					
		In accordance with Exchange Act Rule 0-11(c), the filing fee of \$3,130 was determined by multiplying .00013640 by the aggregate merger consideration of \$22,929,150. The aggregate merger consideration was calculated based upon the sum of (i) 8,699,381 outstanding shares of Common Stock to be acquired pursuant to the merger multiplied by the merger consideration of \$2.55 per share and (ii) 503,125 shares of Common Stock underlying outstanding options and warrants to be cancelled pursuant to the merger multiplied by the merger consideration of \$2.55 per share, minus the exercise price of such options or warrants.					
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$22,929,150					
	(5)	Total fee paid: \$3,130					

☒ Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.					
(1)	Amount Previously Paid:				
	\$3,130				
(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:				
	Schedule 14A – Preliminary Proxy Statement				
(3)	Filing Party:				
	Cybex International, Inc.				
(4)	Date Filed:				
	November 6, 2012				

CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. 10 Trotter Drive Medway, Massachusetts 02053

January 4, 2013

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Cybex International, Inc., a New York corporation ("Cybex" or the "Company"), to be held on February 6, 2013, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time. The special meeting will take place at Cybex's principal executive office at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053. Notice of the special meeting and the related proxy statement relating to a proposed merger is enclosed. We urge you to read the accompanying proxy statement carefully as it sets forth details of the proposed merger and other important information related to the merger.

Cybex entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the "Merger Agreement"), dated October 17, 2012, among Cybex, UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey corporation ("UM Holdings"), and CYB Merger Corp., a newly-formed wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings (the "Merger Sub"). The Merger Agreement provides for a merger of Merger Sub with and into Cybex (the "Merger"), with Cybex to be the surviving corporation. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Cybex (the "Common Stock"), other than any shares owned by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, will be cancelled and will be converted automatically into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes. The receipt of cash in exchange for shares of Cybex Common Stock in the Merger will constitute a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A copy of the Merger Agreement is included as Annex A to the attached Proxy Statement. At the special meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

Following the Merger, Cybex will become a private company with all of its outstanding Common Stock owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter. UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, who are related parties, currently own approximately 49% of the outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cybex and Joan Carter is a member of its board of directors, serving as Vice Chair and Secretary. Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter are married. UM Holdings, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter have informed the Company that they will vote their shares of Common Stock in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement. We refer herein to the stockholders of Cybex other than John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings and its subsidiaries as the "public stockholders."

A special committee of Cybex's board of directors, consisting of three non-employee independent directors, was appointed to review the Merger Agreement. The special committee, after considering various factors, including the opinion of its independent financial advisor, unanimously determined that the price to be paid pursuant to the Merger Agreement is substantively fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, that the process utilized to determine that price was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby are in the best interests of the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders. Accordingly, the special committee recommended to the board of directors of Cybex that it approve the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. After considering various factors, including the recommendation of the special committee and the opinion rendered to the special committee by its financial advisor, Cybex's board of directors determined that the Merger Agreement is substantively fair to, and in the best interests of, the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of Cybex and that the process utilized to determine that price was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders. As a result, Cybex's board of directors approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, directed that the Merger Agreement be submitted to Cybex's stockholders for their adoption and resolved to recommend that Cybex's stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement. Cybex's board of directors recommends that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

The completion of the Merger is subject to various conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, including adoption of the Merger Agreement and the Merger by the Company's stockholders at a special meeting. Under New York law, the affirmative vote of holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company is required for approval of the Merger Agreement and the Merger. In addition, it is a condition of the Merger Agreement that the Merger Agreement be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock owned by the public stockholders. As of the effective date of the Merger, the directors of Cybex will resign and be replaced by designees of UM Holdings.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete, date, sign and return, as promptly as possible, the enclosed proxy card by mail in the accompanying reply envelope, or submit your proxy by telephone or the Internet. Stockholders who attend the meeting may revoke their proxies and vote in person.

Your vote is very important regardless of the number of shares of Common Stock that you own. If you fail to vote by proxy or in person, or fail to instruct your broker on how to vote, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

Thank you for your cooperation and continued support.

Very truly yours,

Robert E. Smyth, Chair, Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities regulatory agency has approved or disapproved the Merger, passed upon the merits or fairness of the Merger or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The attached proxy statement is dated January 4, 2013 and is first being mailed to stockholders on or about January 4, 2013, together with the form of proxy card.

CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. 10 Trotter Drive Medway, Massachusetts 02053

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held On February 6, 2013

To the Stockholders of Cybex International, Inc.:

A special meeting of the stockholders of Cybex International, Inc., a New York corporation ("Cybex," "Company," "we," "us" or "our"), will be held at the Company's executive offices located at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053 on February 6, 2013, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time, for the following purposes:

- 1. To consider and vote on a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 17, 2012, by and among Cybex, UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey corporation ("UM Holdings"), and CYB Merger Corp., a New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings ("Merger Sub"), and as it may be amended from time to time (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Merger Sub will merge with and into Cybex (the "Merger"), with Cybex surviving as a private company owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter.
- 2. To consider and vote on a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting to a later date or time, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.
- 3. To consider and vote on such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached as Annex A to the accompanying proxy statement. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into Cybex, and each share of Cybex common stock, par value \$0.10 per share (the "Common Stock"), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, other than shares held by Cybex in treasury and shares held by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, will be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

Only holders of Common Stock of record as of the close of business on December 27, 2012 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof. As of the record date, there were 17,143,050 shares of Cybex Common Stock outstanding. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the special meeting.

UM Holdings beneficially owns 6,931,328 shares of Cybex Common Stock, equal to approximately 40% of Cybex's outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings, who are related parties, collectively own approximately 49% of our outstanding Common Stock.

Under New York law, holders of Cybex Common Stock will not be entitled to appraisal rights with respect to the Merger.

The adoption of the Merger Agreement requires the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the holders of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. In addition, it is a condition to the closing of the Merger that the Merger Agreement be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, exclusive of shares owned by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter.

For purposes of both of the voting requirements described in the immediately preceding paragraph, your failure to vote in person at the special meeting or to submit a signed proxy card or to submit your proxy by phone or the internet will have the same effect as a vote by you "AGAINST" the adoption of the Merger Agreement. Any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies must be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of our Common Stock

present in person or by proxy and voting at the special meeting. Properly executed proxy cards with no instructions indicated on the proxy card will be voted "FOR" the adoption of the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies.

Your vote is important and we urge you to complete, sign, date and return your proxy card as promptly as possible by mail in the accompanying reply envelope, whether or not you expect to attend the special meeting. If you are unable to attend in person and you return your proxy card, your shares will be voted at the special meeting in accordance with your proxy. You may also submit your proxy by telephone or electronically through the Internet by following the instructions included with your proxy card. If your shares are held in "street name" by your broker or other nominee, only that holder can vote your shares unless you obtain a valid legal proxy from such broker or nominee. You should follow the directions provided by your broker or nominee regarding how to instruct such broker or nominee to vote your shares. Your prompt attention is greatly appreciated.

Your proxy may be revoked at any time before the vote at the special meeting by following the procedures outlined in the accompanying proxy statement. If you attend the special meeting in person, you may revoke your proxy and vote in person.

We urge you to read the accompanying proxy statement carefully as it sets forth details of the proposed Merger and other important information related to the Merger.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Joan Carter Secretary

Medway, Massachusetts January 4, 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY TERM SHEET	1
Purpose of the Stockholders' Vote	1
The Parties to the Merger	1
The Merger Agreement and Merger Consideration	1
Important Considerations	2
No Solicitation of Other Offers	4
Conditions to the Completion of the Merger	5
Termination of the Merger Agreement	6
Fees and Expenses	7
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consquences	7
No Appraisal Rights	7
Deregistration of Cybex Common Stock	8
Market Price of Cybex Common Stock	8
The Special Meeting	8
Voting and Proxies	9
Revocability of Proxy	9
Transfer or Sale of Shares	9
Solicitation of Proxies; Costs	10
Common Stock Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers	10
Additional Information	10
Additional information	10
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING AND THE MERGER	11
ODECLAL EL CEODO	1.5
SPECIAL FACTORS	15
Background of the Merger	15
Reasons for the Merger; Fairness of the Merger; Recommendation of the Special Committee and Our	13
Board of Directors	18
Opinion of Duff & Phelps	21
Certain Effects of the Merger	29
Purpose and Reasons by the UM Holdings Group for the Merger	30
Position of the UM Holdings Group as to the Merger	31
Plans for the Company after the Merger	32
Effect on the Company's Business if the Merger is Not Completed	32
Financing	32
Treatment of Common Stock	33
Deregistration of Cybex Common Stock	33
Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger	33
Fees and Expenses	34
Financial Projections	35
Absence of Right of Appraisal	36
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	36
Regulatory Approval	38
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION	39
THE PARTIES TO THE MERGER	40
Cubay International Inc	40
Cybex International, Inc	40 40

THE SPECIAL MEETING
Date, Time, Place and Purpose of the Special Meeting
Our Board's Recommendation
Record Date; Notice and Quorum
Required Vote
Revocability of Proxy
Persons Making the Solicitation
Adjournments and Postponements
Transfer or Sale of Shares
Common Stock Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers
Other Matters
Questions and Additional Information
PROPOSAL NO. 1: THE MERGER AGREEMENT
General; The Merger
Completion and Effectiveness of the Merger
Consideration to be Received Pursuant to the Merger; Treatment of Equity Awards
Payment for Cybex Common Stock in the Merger
Representations and Warranties
Agreements Relating to Cybex's Interim Operations
No Solicitation of Other Offers
Special Meeting of Cybex's Stockholders; Recommendation of the Board
Access to Information
Indemnification and Insurance of Cybex's Directors and Officers
Conditions to Completion of the Merger
Termination of the Merger Agreement
Effects of Terminating the Merger Agreement
Fees and Expenses
Amendment of the Merger Agreement and Extension and Waiver
General Provisions
APPRAISAL RIGHTS
PROPOSAL NO. 2: PROPOSAL FOR ADJOURNMENTS OR POSTPONEMENTS OF THE SPECIAL
MEETING
CERTAIN LITIGATION
MARKET PRICE OF CYBEX COMMON STOCK
SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS
OTHER MATTERS
HOUSEHOLDING OF SPECIAL MEETING MATERIALS
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
Annex A Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 17, 2012 by and among Cybex International, Inc.,
UM Holdings, Ltd. and CYB Merger Corp.
Annex B Opinion of Duff & Phelps, dated October 17, 2012.
Annex C Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 of Cybex International, Inc. filed with the SEC on March 22, 2012
Annex D Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2012 of Cybex
International, Inc. filed with the SEC on November 5, 2012

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

The following summary highlights only selected information from this proxy statement and may not contain all of the information that may be important to you. Accordingly, we encourage you to read this proxy statement carefully in its entirety, including the annexes and the other documents referred to or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement. Each item in this summary includes a page reference directing you to a more complete description of that topic. See "Where You Can Find More Information" on page 67 of this proxy statement.

Purpose of the Stockholders' Vote

You are being asked to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), dated October 17, 2012, by and among Cybex International, Inc. ("Cybex", the "Company" or "we," "us," "our" and similar terms), UM Holdings, Ltd. ("UM Holdings") and CYB Merger Corp. ("Merger Sub") and the merger contemplated thereby (the "Merger"). See "The Special Meeting" beginning on page 42 and "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement" beginning on page 46 of this proxy statement.

The Parties to the Merger (See page 40)

Cybex International, Inc.

Cybex International, Inc. is a New York corporation that develops, manufactures and markets strength and cardiovascular fitness equipment products for the commercial and, to a lesser extent, consumer markets. The Company operates in one business segment. Cybex's principal executive offices are located at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, and its telephone number is (508) 533-4300.

UM Holdings, Ltd. and CYB Merger Corp.

UM Holdings, Ltd. is a New Jersey corporation which acts as a holding company, owning or investing in various businesses. CYB Merger Corp. is a newly-formed New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings. Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of entering into the Merger Agreement and consummating the transactions contemplated thereby and has not carried on any business or activities to date, except activities incidental to its formation and activities undertaken in connection with the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. UM Holdings beneficially owns 6,931,328 shares of Cybex's common stock, par value \$.10 per share ("Common Stock"), equal to approximately 40% of Cybex's outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings Ltd., who are related parties, collectively own approximately 49% of our outstanding common stock. UM Holdings and Merger Sub are private companies. UM Holdings' and Merger Sub's principal executive offices are located at 56 Haddon Avenue, Haddonfield, New Jersey 08033, and their telephone number is (856) 354-2200.

The Merger Agreement and Merger Consideration (See page 47)

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Cybex with Cybex continuing as the surviving corporation. We sometimes use the term "surviving corporation" in this proxy statement to refer to Cybex as the surviving corporation following the Merger. In the Merger, each share of Cybex Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than shares held by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, which we refer to as the "Merger Consideration," without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes. As a result of the Merger, Cybex will become a private company, with all of its outstanding shares owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, and our Common Stock will no longer be publicly traded. We refer herein to Cybex's shareholders other than UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders as the "public stockholders."

We are working toward completing the Merger as quickly as possible, but in no event more than three business days after all the conditions to completion of the Merger contained in the Merger Agreement (described in the section entitled "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement—Conditions to Completion of the Merger" beginning on page 53 of this proxy statement) are satisfied or waived. The completion of the Merger is subject to various conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, including fulfillment of customary closing conditions, fulfillment of the financing contingency described herein, receipt of a solvency opinion, adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of the Merger by vote of holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, and by vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock owned by the public stockholders at the special meeting of stockholders to be called after the Company complies with all applicable SEC filing requirements, and completion of the Merger by April 30, 2013. However, we cannot predict the exact timing of the completion of the Merger or whether the Merger will be completed.

Upon completion of the Merger, each option to acquire a share of Common Stock of Cybex which is outstanding as of the effective time of the Merger, whether vested or unvested, will be cancelled in exchange for the right to receive a cash payment (without interest and less any applicable tax withholdings) equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such option; and (ii) an amount that is equal to the excess, if any, of \$2.55 over the exercise price per share of such option.

Similarly, upon completion of the Merger, each restricted share representing a share of Cybex Common Stock will be fully vested, to the extent not already fully vested, and each holder of such Cybex restricted share will, subject to certain tax withholding rights, be entitled to receive an amount in cash equal to the Merger Consideration in cancellation of each Cybex restricted share.

Important Considerations

Recommendation of the Special Committee of Cybex's Board of Directors (See page 42)

In May 2012, in response to an indication from UM Holdings that it was considering a proposal to acquire all of the outstanding Common Stock owned by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, our board of directors (which we sometimes refer to as the "Board") formed a Special Committee of independent non-employee directors to consider on behalf of the Board any "going private" or similar transaction. The Special Committee is comprised of Robert E. Smyth (chairman), John McCarthy and Harvey Morgan, three independent directors. The Special Committee has unanimously:

- approved the terms of the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and
- recommended that the Board approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, and the transactions contemplated thereby, and recommend that the holders of Cybex Common Stock adopt the Merger Agreement.

Financing (See page 32)

Cybex and UM Holdings estimate that approximately \$24,000,000 will be required to complete the Merger and pay related expenses. It is anticipated that these costs will be funded by bank financing consistent with a commitment letter that has been issued to Cybex by RBS Citizens, NA and by mezzanine financing pursuant to a commitment letter issued by Massachusetts Capital Resource Company. The Merger Agreement provides that UM Holdings will not be obligated to complete the Merger if financing in an amount and on terms substantially consistent with such commitment letters is not advanced on or prior to the Effective Date of the Merger. See "Special Factors—Financing" below.

Opinion of Duff & Phelps (See page 21)

On October 17, 2012, Duff & Phelps, LLC ("Financial Advisor" or "Duff & Phelps") rendered an oral opinion to the Special Committee (which was confirmed in writing by delivery of its written opinion dated the same date), as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 in cash per

share to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, in the Merger, as of October 17, 2012 (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger on any particular stockholder of the Company other than in its capacity as a stockholder) and based upon and subject to the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Financial Advisor in preparing its opinion.

Financial Advisor's opinion was directed to the Special Committee and only addressed the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 in cash per share to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, in the Merger and does not address any other aspect or implication of the Merger. The summary of Financial Advisor's opinion in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of its written opinion, which is included as Annex B to this proxy statement and sets forth the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Financial Advisor in preparing its opinion. We encourage our stockholders to carefully read the full text of Financial Advisor's written opinion. However, neither Financial Advisor's opinion nor the summary of its opinion and the related analyses set forth in this proxy statement are intended to be, and do not constitute, advice or a recommendation to the Special Committee, our Board of Directors or any stockholder as to how to act or vote with respect to the Merger or related matters. Further, neither Financial Advisor's opinion nor the summary of its opinion and the related analyses set forth in this proxy statement address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Merger versus any alternative strategy or transaction. A more detailed description of the opinion of Financial Advisor is set forth in the section entitled "Special Factors—Opinion of Duff & Phelps" beginning on page 21 of this proxy statement.

Recommendation of Cybex's Board of Directors (See page 20)

Our Board, upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, has unanimously:

- approved the terms of the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions
 contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and declared the same to be advisable and substantively fair
 to, and in the best interests of, Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated
 stockholders;
- determined that the process utilized to approve the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders;
- approved the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;
- directed that the Merger Agreement be submitted to the holders of Cybex Common Stock for their adoption at a special meeting; and
- recommended that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement.

We have eight directors on our Board. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr., who are affiliated with UM Holdings, abstained from voting on the Merger Agreement or any of the above items. The remaining five directors, who are all independent, voted in favor of the above items.

Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger (See page 33)

In considering the recommendation of our Board that you adopt the Merger Agreement, you should be aware that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the transaction that are different from, or are in addition to, your interests as a stockholder, including the following:

 the Merger Agreement provides for post-Merger indemnification arrangements for each of Cybex's current and former directors and officers, as well as continuation of directors and officers insurance coverage for their services to Cybex;

- John Aglialoro and Joan Carter are the principal stockholders of UM Holdings. John Aglialoro is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cybex and Joan Carter is a member of its Board, serving as Vice Chair and Secretary. Mr. Aglialoro, Ms. Carter and UM Holdings collectively own approximately 49% of our outstanding Common Stock and, after the Merger, will be the sole stockholders of the surviving corporation;
- UM Holdings, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter have advised us that they will vote all of their shares of Common Stock in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement, and would vote against any other acquisition proposal;
- It is anticipated that Mr. Aglialoro will continue as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cybex after consummation of the Merger;
- Mr. Hicks, a member of the Board and an affiliate of UM Holdings, is President, Chief Operating
 Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Cybex; it is anticipated that he will continue in these offices
 after consummation of the Merger;
- Mr. Carll, a member of the Board, is a stockholder of Archer & Greiner, the law firm that acts as general counsel to Cybex and UM Holdings; it is anticipated that Archer & Greiner will continue in these capacities after consummation of the Merger;
- Mr. Curtis, a member of the Board, holds 16,667 restricted shares of our Common Stock; upon the completion of the Merger, these restricted shares will be fully vested and will be exchanged for an amount in cash equal to the Merger Consideration; and
- upon the completion of the Merger, stock options held by the executive officers will vest and be canceled in exchange for an amount of cash equal to the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration over the exercise prices of such options (see page 33).

No Solicitation of Other Offers (See page 50)

UM Holdings has indicated that it and its affiliates have no interest in selling their equity interests in Cybex and would vote against any other acquisition proposal, and subject to the exceptions described in the section entitled "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement—No Solicitation of Other Offers" on page 50 of this proxy statement, Cybex agreed that it (acting through the Board or the Special Committee or otherwise) will not:

- initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of furnishing information), or take any other action to facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any Competing Transaction (as defined below);
- enter into or maintain or continue discussions or negotiate with any person or entity in furtherance of such inquiries or to obtain a Competing Transaction;
- agree to or endorse any Competing Transaction; or
- authorize or permit any of its representatives to take any such action.

The Special Committee or the Board (acting through the Special Committee) (either directly or indirectly through advisors, agents or other intermediaries) is not however prohibited from taking the following actions, if the Special Committee concludes in good faith after consultation with counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the Board's fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under applicable law:

- furnishing information in writing or orally (pursuant to a customary confidentiality letter) concerning the Company and its businesses, properties or assets to any third party in response to any unsolicited inquiry, proposal or offer;
- engaging in discussions or negotiations with such a third party that has made such inquiry, proposal or offer;

- following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, taking and disclosing to the Company's stockholders a position or otherwise making disclosure to its stockholders with respect to such proposal;
- following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, withdrawing or modifying its recommendation of the Merger Agreement; and/or
- terminating the Merger Agreement.

The Merger Agreement defines a "Competing Transaction" as a transaction or proposal involving the Company (other than the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement) as to which the Special Committee, in good faith after consultation with counsel, shall have concluded would, if effectuated, result in a change of control of the Company, including any of the following involving the Company:

- any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, issuance or purchase of securities or other similar transaction;
- any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition of the assets of Company in a single transaction or series of related transactions;
- any tender offer or exchange offer for the Company's securities or the filing of a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in connection with any such exchange offer;
- any solicitation in opposition to approval by the stockholders of the Company of the Merger Agreement; or
- · any announcement of an agreement, proposal, plan or intention to do any of the foregoing.

Conditions to Completion of the Merger (See page 53)

Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

Each party's obligation to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

- adoption of the Merger Agreement by Cybex's stockholders at the special meeting;
- the Financial Advisor shall not have withdrawn or amended its Fairness Opinion that the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to Cybex's public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders;
- issuance of a solvency opinion from an independent valuation firm to the effect that the Company will be solvent as of the effective time of the Merger; and
- the absence of any law, statute, rule, regulation, order, decree, ruling, judgment or injunction of any governmental entity which has the effect of making the Merger illegal or prohibiting or preventing the consummation of the Merger.

Conditions to Cybex's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

The obligation of Cybex to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following additional conditions:

- UM Holdings and Merger Sub must have performed in all material respects their respective obligations
 under the Merger Agreement required to be performed by them at or prior to the effective time of the
 Merger and received all necessary consents, if any; and
- the representations and warranties of UM Holdings and Merger Sub contained in the Merger Agreement must be true and correct in all respects as of October 17, 2012 and as of the effective time of the Merger as if made at such time (except that to the extent such representations and warranties speak as of a specified date, they need only be true and correct in all respects as of such date).

Conditions to UM Holdings' and Merger Sub's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

The obligation of UM Holdings and Merger Sub to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following additional conditions:

- Cybex must have performed in all material respects its obligations under the Merger Agreement required to be performed at or prior to the effective time of the Merger and received all necessary governmental consents, if any;
- the representations and warranties of Cybex contained in the Merger Agreement must be true and correct in all respects as of October 17, 2012 and as of the effective time of the Merger as if made at such time (except that to the extent such representations and warranties speak as of a specified date, they need only be true and correct in all respects as of such date);
- any consents or approvals of any third parties required in connection with the execution, delivery and
 performance of the Merger Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions
 contemplated thereby must have been obtained and be in full force and effect, except for any such
 consent or approval which, if not obtained, would not have a Material Adverse Effect;
- financing in an amount and on terms substantially consistent with the commitment letter of RBS
 Citizens, NA and the mezzanine financing commitment letter of Massachusetts Capital Resource
 Company shall be advanced on or prior to the Closing; and
- the written resignation of each director of Cybex shall have been received.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (See page 54)

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective time of the Merger, whether before or after the adoption of the Merger Agreement by Cybex's stockholders:

- by mutual written consent of UM Holdings and Cybex; or
- by either UM Holdings or Cybex:
 - if the Merger has not been consummated on or before April 30, 2013 (the "Outside Date"), except that the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason will not be available to any party whose breach of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in the Merger Agreement has (directly or indirectly) in whole or in material part been a cause of or resulted in the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or before the Outside Date;
 - if approval by Cybex's stockholders has not been obtained at the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof; or
 - if any governmental entity has issued or entered an injunction or similar legal restraint or order
 permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Merger and such
 injunction, legal restraint or order has become final and non-appealable, except that the party
 seeking to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason shall have used such reasonable best
 efforts as may be required by the Merger Agreement to prevent, oppose and remove such
 injunction.

• by UM Holdings:

• if Cybex has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in the Merger Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition to be satisfied by Cybex prior to or at Closing (see the section entitled "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement—Conditions to Completion of the Merger"), and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by Cybex prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from

UM Holdings, or (B) the Outside Date; except that UM Holdings will not have the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason if it or Merger Sub is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Merger Agreement that would cause any of the conditions to be satisfied by UM Holdings or Merger Sub at or prior to Closing not to be satisfied;

- if the Special Committee or the Cybex Board has modified or amended (or publicly proposes to modify or amend) its approval of, or its recommendation that the Cybex stockholders adopt, the Merger Agreement;
- if Cybex has approved, recommended or entered into any actual or proposed acquisition agreement (other than the Merger or the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement), unless the Special Committee has concluded in good faith after consultation with its legal counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the fiduciary duties of the Cybex Board under applicable law; or
- if Cybex has failed to use its reasonable best efforts to duly call, convene and hold a meeting of the Cybex stockholders for the purpose of obtaining their approval of the Merger Agreement.

• by Cybex:

- if UM Holdings or Merger Sub has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in the Merger Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition to be satisfied by UM Holdings or Merger Sub prior to or at Closing (see the section entitled "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement—Conditions to Completion of the Merger"), and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by UM Holdings or Merger Sub prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Cybex, or (B) the Outside Date; except that Cybex will not have the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason if it is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Merger Agreement that would cause any of the conditions to be satisfied by Cybex at or prior to Closing not to be satisfied; or
- prior to obtaining approval by Cybex's stockholders at the special meeting or at any adjournment
 or postponement thereof, the Special Committee has concluded in good faith after consultation
 with its legal counsel that failure to approve, recommend or enter into any actual or proposed
 acquisition agreement (other than the Merger or the transactions contemplated by the Merger
 Agreement) would be inconsistent with the fiduciary duties of the Cybex Board under applicable
 law.

Fees and Expenses (See page 34)

All expenses incurred in connection with the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated. Cybex shall pay any and all expenses incurred by the Special Committee, including the fees and expenses of the Financial Advisor and counsel to the Special Committee.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences (See page 36)

The conversion of shares of our Common Stock into the right to receive \$2.55 per share cash Merger Consideration will be a taxable transaction to our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

No Appraisal Rights (See page 57)

Under the New York Business Corporation Law ("NYBCL"), no appraisal rights are available to holders of Cybex Common Stock in connection with the merger.

Deregistration of Cybex Common Stock (See page 33)

If the Merger is completed, shares of our Common Stock will no longer be listed and publicly traded and will be deregistered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the "Exchange Act."

Market Price of Cybex Common Stock (See page 59)

Shares of Cybex Common Stock are traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the ticker symbol "CYBI." The closing price of our Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on October 16, 2012, the last trading day prior to our public announcement of the Merger Agreement on October 17, 2012, was \$1.35 per share. On [most recent practicable date], the closing price of our shares of Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was \$ per share. The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock. You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for shares of Common Stock.

The Special Meeting

Date, Time and Place

The special meeting of our stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time on February 6, 2013 at the Company's executive offices located at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053.

Record Date, Notice and Quorum

Holders of Cybex Common Stock at the close of business on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, will be entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. As of the record date, there were 17,143,050 shares of Common Stock outstanding. Each share of outstanding Common Stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the special meeting. A majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting constitutes a quorum for the purpose of considering the proposals.

The Proposals

At the special meeting, you will be asked to vote upon proposals to (1) adopt the Merger Agreement, (2) approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement and (3) consider and vote upon such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

Required Vote

The adoption of the Merger Agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. In addition, it is a condition of the Merger Agreement that the Merger Agreement be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock entitled to be voted at the special meeting by the public stockholders. Failure to vote your shares of Common Stock, including as a result of broker non-votes and abstentions, will have the same effect as voting against the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

At December 27, 2012, UM Holdings owned 6,931,328 shares of our Common Stock, equal to approximately 40% of our outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings, who are related parties, collectively own approximately 49% of our outstanding common stock. UM Holdings, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter have informed the Company that they will vote their shares of our Common Stock in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and would vote against any other acquisition proposal.

In addition, the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy and voting at the special meeting. Failure to vote your shares of Common Stock, including as a result of broker non-votes and abstentions, will have no effect on the proposal to approve any adjournments of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies. UM Holdings, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter have informed the Company that they will vote their shares of our Common Stock in favor of the proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies.

Voting and Proxies

Any stockholder of record entitled to vote at the special meeting may submit a proxy by telephone, internet or by returning the enclosed proxy card by mail, or may vote in person at the special meeting. If you intend to submit your proxy by telephone or internet you must do so no later than 11:59 p.m. on February 5, 2013, and if you intend to submit your proxy by mail it must be received by Cybex prior to the commencement of the special meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and do not provide the nominee who holds your shares with voting instructions, the nominee will inform our inspector of election that it does not have the authority to vote on this matter with respect to your shares. This is generally referred to as a "broker non-vote." When our inspector of election tabulates the votes for any particular matter, broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present, but will not otherwise be counted. ABSTENTIONS AND BROKER NON-VOTES WILL HAVE THE EFFECT OF A VOTE "AGAINST" THE APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT. Please provide voting instructions to the nominee that holds your shares by carefully following their instructions.

The persons named in the accompanying proxy will also have discretionary authority to vote on any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. Even if you plan to attend the special meeting, after carefully reading and considering the information contained in this proxy statement, if you hold your shares of Common Stock in your own name as the stockholder of record, please vote your shares by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card, by using the telephone number printed on your proxy card or by following the instructions for Internet voting included with your proxy materials.

If you return your signed proxy card, but do not mark the boxes showing how you wish to vote, your shares of Common Stock represented by such proxy card will be voted "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the adjournment proposal, if applicable.

Revocability of Proxy

Any stockholder of record who executes and returns a proxy card (or submits a proxy via telephone or the Internet) may revoke the proxy at any time before it is voted at the special meeting by attending the special meeting and voting in person. Your attendance at the special meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy. To revoke your proxy, you must vote in person at the special meeting. If you hold your shares of Common Stock in your name as a stockholder of record, you may also revoke the proxy by notifying our President prior to the special meeting at the following address: Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053. Further, your proxy may be revoked by submitting a later-dated proxy card, or, if you voted by telephone or the Internet, by voting a subsequent time by telephone or the Internet.

In the event that you have instructed a broker, bank or other custodian to vote your shares of Common Stock, you have to follow the directions received from your broker, bank or other custodian and change those instructions in order to revoke your proxy.

Transfer or Sale of Shares

If you held your shares of Common Stock on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, but sell or otherwise transfer your shares prior to the effective time of the Merger, you will retain your right to

vote at the special meeting; however, you will not have the right to receive the Merger Consideration. The right to receive the Merger Consideration when the Merger becomes effective will pass to the person who as of the effective time of the Merger owns the shares of our Common Stock that you previously owned.

Solicitation of Proxies; Costs

This proxy solicitation is being made and paid for by Cybex on behalf of its board of directors. Cybex will pay all expenses of this solicitation, including the cost of preparing and mailing this document. Proxies are being solicited by and on behalf of our Board. In addition to solicitation by use of the mails, proxies may be solicited by our directors, officers and employees in person or by telephone, telegram, electronic mail, facsimile transmission or other means of communication. Those persons will not be additionally compensated for solicitation activities, but may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with any solicitation. We also may reimburse custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their expenses in sending proxies and proxy material to beneficial owners.

The Company has retained Eagle Rock Proxy Advisors, LLC ("Eagle Rock") to assist with the solicitation of proxies for a fee of \$5,500, plus reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. Eagle Rock may solicit proxies by personal interview, mail, telephone, and electronic communications, and will request brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries to forward proxy soliciting material to the beneficial owners of the common stock held on the record date by such persons. Any stockholder with questions or requiring assistance in voting shares of Cybex Common Stock should contact Eagle Rock at its toll free number 1-855-706-2378.

We will also request brokers and other fiduciaries to forward proxy solicitation material to the beneficial owners of shares of Cybex Common Stock that the brokers and fiduciaries hold of record. We will reimburse them for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

Common Stock Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

As of the record date, our directors and executive officers, as a group, beneficially owned an aggregate of approximately 8,909,960 shares of Common Stock (including the shares held by UM Holdings), representing approximately 51% of the voting power of Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. The members of the Special Committee do not have significant share holdings, holding in the aggregate less than 1% of the outstanding Common Stock.

Additional Information

For additional information about the Merger, assistance in submitting proxies or voting shares of Common Stock or additional copies of the proxy statement or enclosed proxy card, please contact our President at the following address or telephone number: Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, (508) 533-4300.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING AND THE MERGER

The following questions and answers are intended to address briefly some questions you may have regarding the special meeting and the proposed Merger. These questions and answers may not address all questions that may be important to you as a stockholder of Cybex. Please refer to the "Summary" and the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement and the annexes, as well as the additional documents referred to or incorporated in this proxy statement, which you should read carefully in their entirety. See "Where You Can Find More Information" on page 67 of this proxy statement.

Q: When and where is the special meeting?

A: The special meeting of our stockholders will be held on February 6, 2013, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time, at the Company's executive offices located at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts, 02053.

Q What am I being asked to vote on?

A: At the special meeting, you will be asked to vote upon proposals to (1) adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 17, 2012 (referred to as the "Merger Agreement"), (2) approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement and (3) consider and vote upon such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

Q: How does Cybex's board of directors recommend that I vote?

A: Our Board has recommended that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement. In making its recommendation, our Board considered the unanimous recommendation of the Special Committee, consisting of three non-employee independent directors, the report and opinion of Financial Advisor as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, in the Merger, the Special Committee's determination that the Merger Agreement is substantively fair to, and in the best interests of, Cybex's public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and the Special Committee's determination that the process utilized to approve the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders.

We have eight directors on our Board. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr., who are affiliated with UM Holdings, abstained from voting on the Merger Agreement or any of the above items. The remaining five directors, who are all independent, voted in favor of the above items.

Q: What is the proposed transaction?

A: The proposed transaction is the merger of Cybex with Merger Sub, a newly formed subsidiary of UM Holdings. If the Merger Agreement is adopted by our stockholders and the other closing conditions in the Merger Agreement are satisfied or waived, Merger Sub will merge with and into Cybex (the "Merger"). Cybex will be the surviving corporation after the Merger with all of its outstanding shares owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter.

Q: What will I receive in the Merger?

A: If the Merger is completed, each share of our Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, excluding shares held by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, will be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash (the "Merger Consideration") without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes. All Cybex stockholders other than UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders are referred to herein as "public stockholders."

Q: What will happen to the Common Stock that I currently own after completion of the Merger?

A: Following completion of the Merger, your shares of Cybex Common Stock will be cancelled and will represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration. Trading in Cybex Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market will cease, price quotations for the Common Stock will no longer be available following completion of the Merger and the Common Stock will cease to be registered under the Exchange Act.

Q: When do you expect the Merger to be completed?

A: We are working toward completing the Merger as quickly as possible, but in no event will the Merger be completed more than three business days after all the conditions to completion of the Merger contained in the Merger Agreement (described in the section entitled "Proposal No. 1: The Merger Agreement—Conditions to Completion of the Merger" beginning on page 53 of this proxy statement) are satisfied or waived. If our stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement, and assuming that the other conditions to the Merger are satisfied or waived, we believe that the Merger will be completed during the first quarter of 2013. However, we cannot predict the exact timing of the completion of the Merger or whether the Merger will be completed.

Q: Am I entitled to dissenters' or appraisal rights?

A: No. Under New York law, Cybex's stockholders will not be entitled to exercise any appraisal rights in connection with the Merger.

Q: What happens if the Merger is not completed?

A: If the Merger Agreement is not adopted by Cybex's stockholders or if the Merger is not completed for any other reason, Cybex's stockholders will not receive any payment for their shares in connection with the Merger. Instead, Cybex will remain a public company, and shares of Cybex Common Stock will continue to be listed and traded on the NASDAQ Global Market and registered under the Exchange Act.

Q: What vote of our stockholders is required to adopt the Merger Agreement and to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting?

A: Under New York law, the affirmative vote of holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Cybex Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting is required to adopt the Merger Agreement. In addition, it is a condition to the closing of the Merger that the Merger Agreement be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock owned by the public stockholders. Approval of any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies, if necessary or appropriate, requires the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy and voting at the special meeting. At December 27, 2012, UM Holdings beneficially owned 6,931,328 shares of our Common Stock, equal to approximately 40% of our outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings collectively beneficially own approximately 49% of our Common Stock, and they have informed us that they will vote in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement. If a quorum is not present at the special meeting, the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy and voting at the special meeting. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings have also informed us that they will vote in favor of any such adjournment or postponement.

Q: Who can vote and attend the special meeting?

A: Common stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, are entitled to receive notice of, to attend and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the special meeting.

Q: What will happen if I abstain from voting or fail to vote?

A: With respect to the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement, if you abstain from voting on the proposal, fail to cast your vote in person or by proxy or, if you hold your shares in "street name", fail to give voting instructions to the record holder of your shares, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

With respect to the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies, if you abstain from voting on the proposal, fail to cast your vote in person or by proxy or, if you hold your shares in "street name", fail to give voting instructions to the record holder of your shares, it will have no effect on the outcome of the vote on that proposal.

Q: How do I cast my vote if my shares of Common Stock are held of record?

A: If you are a stockholder of record on the record date, you may vote in person at the special meeting or authorize a proxy for the special meeting. You can authorize your proxy by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the accompanying pre-addressed, postage-paid envelope, or, if you prefer, by following the instructions on your proxy card for telephonic or electronic (via the Internet) proxy authorization.

Q: How do I cast my vote if my shares of Common Stock are held in "street name"?

A: If you hold your shares of Common Stock in "street name" through a broker, bank or other custodian, your broker, bank or custodian will not vote your shares unless you provide instructions on how to vote. You must obtain a voting instruction card from the broker, bank or other custodian that is the record holder of your shares and provide your broker, bank or other custodian with instructions on how to vote your shares, in accordance with the voting directions provided by your broker, bank or custodian. Additionally, if your shares of Common Stock are held in "street name" and you intend to vote your shares in person at the special meeting you must first obtain a legal proxy from such bank, broker or other custodian. The inability of your broker, bank or other custodian to vote your shares, often referred to as a "broker non-vote," will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and will have no effect on the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. If your shares are held in "street name," please refer to the voting instruction card used by your broker, bank or other custodian, or contact them directly. If you need assistance in voting your shares, please contact Eagle Rock at its toll free number 1-855-706-2378.

Q: How will proxy holders vote my shares of Common Stock?

A: If you properly authorize a proxy prior to the special meeting, your shares of Common Stock will be voted as you direct. If you authorize a proxy but no direction is otherwise made, your shares of Common Stock will be voted "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies. The proxy holders will vote in their discretion upon such other matters as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

Q: What happens if I sell my shares of Common Stock before the special meeting?

A: If you held your shares of Common Stock on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, but transfer your shares prior to the special meeting, you will retain your right to vote at the special meeting; however, you will not have the right to receive the Merger Consideration. The right to receive the Merger Consideration when the Merger becomes effective will pass to the person who owns the shares of our Common Stock that you previously owned.

Q: Can I change my vote after I have mailed my proxy card?

A: Yes. If you own shares of Common Stock as a record holder on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, you may revoke a previously authorized proxy at any time prior to its exercise by delivering a properly executed, later-dated proxy card, by authorizing your proxy by internet or telephone at a later date than your previously authorized proxy, following the instructions that appear on the enclosed proxy card or by voting in person at the special meeting. Attendance at the meeting will not, in itself, constitute revocation of a previously authorized proxy. If you own shares of Common Stock in "street name," you may revoke or change previously granted voting instructions by following the instructions provided by the bank, broker or other custodian that is the registered owner of the shares.

Q: Should I send in my certificates representing shares of Common Stock now?

A: No. Shortly after the Merger is completed, you will receive a letter of transmittal with instructions informing you how to send your share certificates to the paying agent in order to receive the Merger Consideration. You should use the letter of transmittal to exchange your shares of Common Stock for the Merger Consideration following the Merger. DO NOT SEND ANY SHARE CERTIFICATES WITH YOUR PROXY.

Q: Where can I find more information about Cybex?

A: We file certain information with the SEC. You may read and copy this information at the SEC's public reference facilities. This information is also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov and on our website at www.cybexintl.com. Information contained on our website is not part of, or incorporated into, this proxy statement. You can also request copies of these documents from us. See "Where You Can Find More Information" on page 67.

Q: Who will solicit and pay the cost of soliciting proxies?

A: We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies for the special meeting. Cybex's Board is soliciting your proxy on our behalf. Our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies by telephone and facsimile, by mail or in person. They will not be paid any additional amounts for soliciting proxies. We also will request that banking institutions, brokerage firms, custodians, trustees, nominees, fiduciaries and other like parties forward the solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of Common Stock held of record by such person, and we will, upon request of such record holders, reimburse forwarding charges and out-of-pocket expenses. The Company has retained Eagle Rock Proxy Advisors, LLC to assist with the solicitation of proxies for a fee of \$5,500, plus reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. Eagle Rock may solicit proxies by personal interview, mail, telephone, and electronic communications, and will request brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries to forward soliciting material to the beneficial owners of the Common Stock held on the record date by such persons. Any stockholder with questions or requiring assistance in voting shares of Cybex Common Stock should contact Eagle Rock at its toll free number 1-855-706-2378.

Q: Who can help answer my other questions?

A: If you have additional questions about the special meeting or the Merger, you should contact our President at the following address or telephone number: Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, (508) 533-4300. If you hold your shares through a broker, bank or other custodian, you also should call your broker, bank or other custodian for additional information.

SPECIAL FACTORS

Background of the Merger

At a regular meeting of the Board of Directors held May 23, 2012, John Aglialoro, Chairman of the Board, stated that the Board needed to consider whether the interests of all stakeholders in the Company are best served by Cybex remaining a public company. He noted the expense for a company the size of Cybex to remain public and the large amount of time and attention that is spent on the requirements of a public company that might be better spent on operating the business. Mr. Aglialoro stated that he believed that it may be in the best interest of all parties, including the Company, its public stockholders and its employees, if Cybex were to go private at this time. Mr. Aglialoro informed the Board that, while no decision had been made, UM Holdings was seriously considering approaching the Board at some point in the future with an offer to acquire the approximate 51% of the outstanding shares not owned by UM Holdings, Joan Carter or himself. The Board was also informed that UM Holdings had no interest in and would not consider selling its stake in the Company or any strategic transaction involving the Company, other than a going private merger with it, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter.

In response to this discussion, the Board of Directors determined that it would be prudent to organize a Special Committee of the Board, composed solely of independent directors, to consider and respond to an offer if ultimately made by UM Holdings. The Board then appointed a Special Committee composed of Robert Smyth, Chair, Harvey Morgan and John McCarthy, each a non-management independent director. The Board delegated to the Special Committee the power and authority to take all actions as it deemed necessary or appropriate in order to discharge its duties relating to the going private transaction, including without limitation the retention of independent legal counsel and independent financial advisors.

The Company's Board of Directors consists of eight directors, three of whom (John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr.) are affiliated with UM Holdings. The Board organized the Special Committee as a Board committee composed solely of individuals who are independent of UM Holdings, John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr. The Special Committee, in turn, engaged a financial advisor (Duff & Phelps, LLC), legal counsel (Lowenstein Sandler PC) and a consultant (former director Jerry Lee) to assist the Special Committee in its deliberations. Each of these advisors are independent of UM Holdings, John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr. The Special Committee was engaged by the Board, and the Special Committee's advisors were engaged by the Special Committee, to act solely on behalf of the unaffiliated stockholders for purposes of negotiating the terms of the Merger Agreement and/or preparing the opinion set forth in Annex B to this proxy statement.

The Special Committee held an organizational meeting on May 29, 2012. At the organizational meeting, it was noted that the Board in 2010 had formed a special committee, which included two of the members of the 2012 Special Committee, for the purpose of considering any offer that might be made to take the Company private. While no transaction was ultimately proposed or acted upon, prior to being disbanded the 2010 special committee retained the law firm of Lowenstein Sandler as independent counsel and the firm of Duff & Phelps as independent financial advisor, after interviewing a number of law firms and financial advisors. At its organizational meeting, the 2012 Special Committee determined that it was appropriate to again retain the services of Lowenstein Sandler and Duff & Phelps to advise the Special Committee. The Special Committee also retained Jerry Lee, a former independent Cybex director and a member of the 2010 special committee, to serve as a consultant to the Special Committee.

The Company granted the Special Committee and its advisors access to information requested by Duff & Phelps to enable Duff & Phelps to reach a conclusion regarding the fairness of the Merger Consideration from an economic point of view. Members of management also responded to specific questions raised by the Special Committee and its advisors. Other than the access provided by the Company and its management to the Special Committee and its advisors, neither the Company, nor UM Holdings, nor any of UM Holdings' other affiliates made provisions for unaffiliated stockholders to have access to their corporate files.

The Company authorized the Special Committee to retain counsel and a financial advisor at the Company's expense. Neither UM Holdings nor any of UM Holdings' other affiliates made arrangements for unaffiliated stockholders to obtain counsel or appraisal services at their expense. Duff & Phelps provided the Special Committee with the opinion set forth in Annex B to this proxy statement, but did not provide appraisal services to the Special Committee or any other person in connection with the transactions described in this proxy statement.

The Special Committee held 19 meetings through October 17, 2012. During this period, Cybex provided substantial information to the Special Committee and its advisors, and members of the Special Committee and representatives of Financial Advisor had a number of informal discussions with representatives of UM Holdings. Legal counsel for the Company and legal counsel for the Special Committee during this period also discussed the terms of a draft Merger Agreement. On August 23, 2012, Mr. Aglialoro, representing UM Holdings, indicated to Mr. Smyth that, while UM Holdings had not made a decision to make a definitive offer to acquire the stock of the public stockholders, the price it would be willing to offer, if it decided to proceed, would not exceed \$2.25 per share. In prior conversations with Mr. Smyth, Mr. Aglialoro and Mr. Hicks, representing UM Holdings, had suggested prices of \$2.00 and \$2.10 per share.

On September 27, 2012, the Special Committee met with its advisors. At that meeting, Financial Advisor reviewed several valuation methodologies used to value the Company. After that meeting, Mr. Smyth advised John Aglialoro that the Special Committee would support a price of \$2.65 per share. In response, John Aglialoro requested the opportunity to address the Special Committee.

On October 2, 2012, a telephonic meeting was held among two of the members of the Special Committee (Mr. Smyth and Mr. Morgan), Jerry Lee, John Aglialoro, Arthur Hicks, and legal counsel for the parties. At this meeting, the Special Committee reiterated its proposed price of \$2.65 per share. Mr. Aglialoro responded that while he continued to believe that \$2.25 per share represented a fair price, UM Holdings might be willing to consider a price of \$2.45 per share, subject to obtaining sufficient funding commitments from lenders. Mr. Hicks described for the Special Committee the status of discussions with potential financing sources and reviewed projected third quarter results of the Company. The Special Committee requested further information with respect to projected financial results through the end of the year. It was agreed that Mr. Hicks would provide further information to the Special Committee about projected results and possible financing options. After this meeting, but also on October 2, 2012, the Special Committee authorized Robert Smyth, the Chair of the Special Committee, to advise John Aglialoro that the Special Committee would consider an offer price of \$2.55 per share, provided that approval of the Merger was conditioned on receiving the approval of holders of a majority of the shares owned by the public stockholders.

On October 4, 2012, Mr. Aglialoro and Mr. Smyth, on behalf of the Special Committee, discussed the pricing for any transaction that might be proposed. At the end of this conversation, Mr. Aglialoro indicated that UM Holdings would be willing to consider a \$2.55 merger price, but no higher. Mr. Smyth responded that he believed that the Special Committee likely would approve, if offered, a transaction based on a \$2.55 per share merger consideration, subject to receipt of a fairness opinion and conditioned upon the transaction being approved by majority vote of the outstanding shares held by the public stockholders. On October 9, 2012, counsel for UM Holdings confirmed to counsel for the Special Committee that UM Holdings would be willing to condition any proposed merger on the receipt of such a special shareholder vote.

The Special Committee met on October 9, 2012 to review the discussions to date and to confirm its willingness to proceed with a transaction, provided that the Merger Agreement reflected the terms discussed and was otherwise satisfactory to the Special Committee. At that meeting, the Special Committee also directed its counsel to request that closing of the Merger be conditioned on receipt of a solvency opinion.

On October 12, 2012, a draft Merger Agreement, containing terms consistent with a draft agreement provided several months earlier but also containing the \$2.55 price and the majority of the minority voting requirement, was circulated to the Special Committee and its advisors. The draft provided to the Special

Committee on October 12, 2012 did not contain any requirement that the closing of the Merger be conditioned on the receipt of a solvency opinion. The Committee's legal and financial advisors explained to the Special Committee that as a result of certain high profile lawsuits, boards of directors engaged in business combinations involving significant amounts of new bank debt have considered whether the surviving entity will have sufficient funds to pay their debts as they become due subsequent to the closing of the business combinations. The Special Committee determined to supplement the Company's projections with a solvency opinion from an independent expert to confirm its understanding that the Company will meet applicable solvency standards as of the closing.

On October 16, 2012, the Special Committee met with all of its advisors to review the terms of the Merger Agreement and to consider a written analysis prepared by Financial Advisor, updating the analysis submitted to the Special Committee by Financial Advisor in connection with its September 27, 2012 meeting. After receiving the report of Financial Advisor, a review of the Merger Agreement and a summary of the fiduciary obligations imposed upon members of the Special Committee provided by counsel to the Special Committee, and after the Special Committee's further deliberation of the applicable facts and circumstances, the Special Committee unanimously determined to approve the Merger Agreement, to recommend that the full Board approve the Merger Agreement and to recommend that the full Board recommend that the Company's stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement, subject to satisfactory resolution of the Special Committee's request that closing of the Merger be conditioned upon receipt of a solvency opinion.

On October 17, 2012, at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors, Mr. Aglialoro again reviewed with the Board the challenges faced by a small public company in today's environment. He stated that the intervening period of time since the formation of the Special Committee had not only provided opportunity for the Special Committee to be actively engaged in its review, but also an opportunity for UM Holdings, Ms. Carter and himself to fully explore their thoughts as to the wisdom of a going private transaction, both from the standpoint of the Company and its stockholders and the impact such a step would have upon Ms. Carter and himself. He then formally proposed to the Board of Directors that the Company enter into the Merger Agreement pursuant to which all of the Company's outstanding shares, except for shares owned by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries, Ms. Carter and himself, would be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 per share payable in cash, on the terms and conditions set forth in the draft Merger Agreement. It was noted that the Merger Agreement would contain a provision conditioning the closing on the receipt of a solvency opinion.

Mr. Smyth then reported to the Board on the status of the activities of the Special Committee. On the basis of its own observations and deliberations, the input of its advisors and the information supplied by the Company, the Special Committee (i) concluded that the \$2.55 price is substantively fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and that the process utilized to determine that price was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, (ii) determined that adoption of the Merger Agreement is advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, (iii) recommended that the Board approve the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iv) recommended that the Board recommend that the holders of Common Stock adopt the Merger Agreement.

Our Board, upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, unanimously (with Mr. Aglialoro, Ms. Carter and Mr. Hicks abstaining) approved the terms of the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and declared the same to be advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and directed that the Merger Agreement be submitted to the holders of Cybex Common Stock for their adoption at a special meeting.

Following the Board meeting, the Merger Agreement in the form submitted to the Board was executed by the parties and Cybex issued a press release and a Form 8-K announcing that it and UM Holdings had entered into the Merger Agreement.

Our Board recommends that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement.

Reasons for the Merger; Fairness of the Merger; Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors

As discussed in greater detail below, our board of directors believes that the Merger Agreement and the Merger (which is the Rule 13e-3 going private transaction for which a Schedule 13E-3 Transaction Statement has been filed with the SEC), upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, are substantively fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company and our public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and that the process utilized to approve the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders. The recommendation of our Board of Directors is based, in part, upon the unanimous recommendation of the Special Committee.

We have eight directors on our Board. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr., who are affiliated with UM Holdings and will remain as executive officers and/or directors of Cybex, abstained from voting on the Merger Agreement or the above recommendations. The remaining directors, who are all independent and who constitute a majority of our Board, voted in favor of the above recommendations.

The Special Committee

In May 2012, in response to an indication from UM Holdings that it was considering a proposal to acquire all of the outstanding Common Stock not owned by it, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter, the Board of Directors formed a Special Committee of independent non-employee directors to consider on behalf of the Board any "going private" or similar transaction. The Special Committee is comprised of Robert E. Smyth (chairman), John McCarthy and Harvey Morgan, three independent directors.

Recommendation of the Special Committee

The Special Committee, by unanimous vote at a meeting held on October 17, 2017:

- determined that the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 per share is substantively fair to the public stockholders and that adoption of the Merger Agreement is advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders;
- determined that the process utilized to determine the Merger Consideration was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders;
- approved the terms of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby; and
- recommended that the Board approve the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions
 contemplated by the Merger Agreement and recommend that the holders of Cybex Common Stock
 adopt the Merger Agreement.

The Special Committee considered the following material factors in approving the Merger Agreement and making its determination and recommendation:

• the per share dollar amount of the cash consideration to be paid to Cybex's public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, upon consummation of the Merger, the adequacy of that amount and the fairness to the unaffiliated stockholders of receiving that amount;

- the current and historical market prices of Cybex Common Stock, the fact that the price of \$2.55 per share represented a premium over the \$1.35 closing price of Cybex Common Stock on October 16, 2012, the last trading day prior to our public announcement of the Merger Agreement, the fact that the stock price has been volatile over the past twelve months, reaching a high of \$3.60 and a low of \$0.36 during the twelve months prior to the public announcement and the fact that trading volume in the Cybex Common Stock historically has been relatively low;
- the financial analyses and valuation factors reviewed by Financial Advisor with the Special Committee; these factors are set forth in more detail under the subheadings "Discounted Cash Flow Analysis", "Selected Public Companies Analysis", Selected M&A Transactions Analysis", and Premiums Paid Analysis", under "—Opinion of Duff & Phelps";
- the oral opinion of Financial Advisor to the Special Committee on October 17, 2012 (which was confirmed in writing by delivery of Financial Advisor's written opinion dated the same date), as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 in cash per share to be received by the public holders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of Cybex Common Stock in the Merger, as of October 17, 2012 and based upon and subject to the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Financial Advisor in preparing its opinion. A more detailed description of the opinion of Financial Advisor is set forth below under "— Opinion of Duff & Phelps";
- the Special Committee's understanding of Cybex's business, historical and current financial
 performance, competitive and operating environment, operations, management strength and future
 prospects, the recognition that the Company is facing significant price and product competition from
 entities with substantially greater resources than the Company, a curtailment in European sales and
 other challenges to the Company's market position and profitability;
- the fact that the consideration to be paid to Cybex stockholders would be all cash, which provides liquidity and certainty to Cybex's stockholders;
- the fact that the Merger is subject to a financing condition, the Special Committee's understanding of the reputation and experience of UM Holdings, and the ability of UM Holdings to obtain financing to fully fund the payment of the Merger Consideration and the related fees and expenses;
- the fact that the transaction requires the approval by holders of at least two-thirds of Cybex's outstanding Common Stock and by holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock owned by the public stockholders;
- the fact that the Special Committee had retained Financial Advisor, Jerry Lee and counsel, all of whom
 are unaffiliated with Cybex, UM Holdings and the Merger Sub, to assist and advise the Special
 Committee, solely with respect to the public stockholders' interests, including the interests of the
 unaffiliated stockholders, in negotiations of the Merger Agreement with UM Holdings and Merger
 Sub;
- the fact that UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter have stated that they have no intention of selling Cybex in the foreseeable future; and
- the potential risks and costs to Cybex if the Merger does not close, including the diversion of
 management and employee attention and potential effects on the relationships with our suppliers,
 vendors and other business partners.

In considering the proposed transaction, the Special Committee also considered certain negative factors, including the following:

 upon consummation of the Merger, the public stockholders will cease to be stockholders of the Company and thus will be unable to participate in any future appreciation in the value of the Company's stock;

- the current market price of the Company's Common Stock may not reflect the value of the Company's Common Stock, given the lack of trading volume in the Common Stock, the position held by the principal stockholders and the paucity of coverage by outside analysts; and
- that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the Merger that may be
 considered to be different from, or in addition to, their interests as stockholders of Cybex, as described
 below under "—Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger."

The foregoing discussion is not intended to be exhaustive, but summarizes the material factors considered by the Special Committee in making its determination and recommendation to the Board. In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the Special Committee and the complexity of these matters, the Special Committee did not find it practicable to quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the foregoing factors. In addition, each of the members of the Special Committee may have assigned different weights to various factors. On balance, the Special Committee determined that the positive factors discussed above outweighed any negative factors.

The Special Committee believes that the process it followed in making its determination and recommendation with respect to the Merger Agreement was procedurally fair and proper because, among other things:

- the Special Committee consists solely of directors each of whom meets independence requirements of the SEC and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority;
- the members of the Special Committee, as a result of having no significant holdings in the Company, did not have any material financial interest in the outcome of its determination;
- the Special Committee retained and was advised by experienced and independent legal counsel;
- the Special Committee received the advice of a former independent director, who served as a consultant to the Special Committee;
- the Special Committee retained Financial Advisor to render an opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 in cash per share to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, in the Merger;
- the Special Committee, with the assistance of its advisors, negotiated with UM Holdings; and
- the Special Committee acted diligently in discharging its responsibilities, meeting on 19 separate occasions prior to execution of the Merger Agreement, to consider matters related to its mandate.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

At a meeting on October 17, 2012, following the recommendation of the Special Committee, the Company's Board:

- approved the terms of the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions
 contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and declared the same to be advisable and in the best interests
 of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders;
- approved the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;
- directed that the Merger Agreement be submitted to the holders of Cybex Common Stock for their adoption at a special meeting; and
- recommended that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

We have eight directors on our Board. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur Hicks, Jr., who are affiliated with UM Holdings, abstained from voting on the Merger Agreement or any of the above items. The remaining directors, who are all independent and who constitute a majority of our Board, voted in favor of the above items.

In doing so, Cybex's Board reviewed a significant amount of information and considered each of the factors recited above with respect to the Special Committee's deliberations, and adopted the analyses and conclusions of the Special Committee. The Board also considered the following additional material factors:

- the Board's understanding of Cybex's business, historical and current financial performance, competitive and operating environment, operations, management strength and future prospects, the recognition that the Company is facing significant price and product competition from entities with substantially greater resources than the Company, a curtailment in European sales and other challenges to the Company's market position and profitability; and
- the fact that the Merger Agreement was approved and recommended by the Special Committee after a full and deliberate process.

In addition, the Board was aware of and considered the fact that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the Merger that may be considered to be different from, or in addition to, their interests as stockholders of Cybex, as described below under "—Interests of our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger."

The foregoing discussion is not intended to be exhaustive, but summarizes the material factors considered by the Board. In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the Board, and the complexity of these matters, the Board did not find it practicable to quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the foregoing factors. In addition, individual members of the Board may have assigned different weights to various factors. On balance, the Board determined that the positive factors discussed above outweighed the negative factors discussed above and that the Merger Agreement and the Merger were advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders. The Board members voting on the Merger Agreement unanimously approved the Merger Agreement and the Merger based upon the totality of the information presented to and considered by them.

Cybex's Board unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies.

Opinion of Duff & Phelps

Duff & Phelps was engaged to provide an opinion to the Special Committee as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of the Company of the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be received by such stockholders in connection with the Merger (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger on any particular stockholder of the Company other than in its capacity as a stockholder).

Duff & Phelps rendered its written opinion to the Special Committee on October 17, 2012, that, subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limiting conditions set forth therein, as of such date, the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of the Company in the Merger was fair, from a financial point of view, to such stockholders (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger on any particular stockholder of the Company other than in its capacity as a stockholder). The full text of the written opinion of Duff & Phelps is attached as Annex B to this proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

The full text of the written opinion should be read carefully in its entirety for a description of the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and qualifications and limitations of the review undertaken in connection with the opinion. The opinion of Duff & Phelps was addressed to the Special Committee, was given solely with respect to the Merger and is not intended to be used, and may not be used, for any other purpose.

Duff & Phelps' opinion:

- does not address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Merger versus any alternative strategy or transaction;
- does not address any transaction related to the Merger;
- is not a recommendation as to how the Board of Directors of the Company, the Special Committee or any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Merger, or whether to proceed with the Merger or any related transaction;
- does not indicate that the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be received by the Company's stockholders in connection with the Merger is the best possibly attainable under any circumstances; instead, it merely states whether the consideration is within a range suggested by certain financial analyses described in more detail below; and
- does not express any opinion as to the market price or value of the Company's common stock (or anything else) after the announcement of the Merger.

In connection with its opinion, Duff & Phelps made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as it deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as its experience in securities and business valuation in general, and with respect to similar transactions in particular. Duff & Phelps' procedures, investigations and financial analyses with respect to the preparation of its opinion included, but were not limited to, the items summarized below:

- discussed the background and other elements of the Merger, and the Company's business operations, financial condition and prospects with the management of the Company;
- reviewed the Company's audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC and the Company's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and June 25, 2011 included in the Company's Form 10-Q filed with the SEC;
- reviewed unaudited financial information for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the eight months ended on or around August 31, 2012 and 2011;
- reviewed other internal documents relating to the past and current business operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company that were not publicly available, but provided to Duff & Phelps by the management of the Company, including financial forecasts and estimates prepared by the management of the Company for purposes of Duff & Phelps' analysis (the "Projections");
- reviewed the historical trading price and trading volume of the Company's Common Stock and the publicly traded securities of other companies as described in more detail below;
- performed valuation and comparative analyses using generally accepted valuation and analytical
 techniques, including a discounted cash flow analysis, an analysis of selected public companies and an
 analysis of the financial terms of selected merger and acquisition transactions, in each case as described
 in more detail below;
- reviewed a letter dated October 5, 2012 from the management of the Company which made certain representations as to historical financial statements, financial projections and the underlying assumptions, and a pro forma schedule of assets and liabilities (including identified contingent liabilities) for the Company (the "Management Representation Letter");
- reviewed a draft of the Merger Agreement dated October 11, 2012; and
- conducted such other financial analyses and considered such other information and factors as Duff & Phelps deemed appropriate.

In performing its analyses and rendering its opinion with respect to the Merger, Duff & Phelps, with the Company's consent:

- relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information, data, advice, opinions
 and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including
 Company management and the Special Committee, and did not independently verify such information;
- relied upon the fact that the Special Committee, the Board of Directors and the Company have been
 advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Merger, including whether all procedures
 required by law to be taken in connection with the Merger have been duly, validly and timely taken;
- assumed that any estimates, evaluations, forecasts and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were
 reasonably prepared and based upon the best currently available information and good faith judgment
 of the person furnishing the same;
- assumed that information supplied and representations made by Company management are substantially accurate regarding the Company and the Merger and that there has been no material change therein;
- assumed that the representations and warranties made in the Merger Agreement and the Management Representation Letter are substantially accurate;
- assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by Duff & Phelps in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed;
- assumed that there has been no material change in the assets, financial condition, business, or prospects
 of the Company since the date of the most recent financial statements and other information made
 available to Duff & Phelps;
- assumed that all of the conditions required to implement the Merger will be satisfied and that the
 Merger will be completed in accordance with the Merger Agreement without any amendments thereto
 or any waivers of any terms or conditions thereof; and
- assumed that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Merger will be obtained without any adverse effect on the Company or the contemplated benefits expected to be derived in the Merger.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions on which Duff & Phelps' opinion was based prove to be untrue in any material respect, Duff & Phelps' opinion cannot and should not be relied upon. In its analysis and in connection with the preparation of its opinion, Duff & Phelps made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Merger.

In preparing its opinion with respect to the fairness of the cash consideration to be paid in the Merger, Duff & Phelps did not evaluate the Company's solvency or conduct an independent appraisal or physical inspection of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company. Duff & Phelps was not requested to, and did not, (i) initiate any discussions with, or solicit any indications of interest from, third parties with respect to the Merger, the assets, businesses or operations of the Company, or any alternatives to the Merger, (ii) negotiate the terms of the Merger, and therefore, Duff & Phelps has assumed that such terms are the most beneficial terms, from the Company's perspective, that could, under the circumstances, be negotiated among the parties to the Merger Agreement and the Merger, or (iii) advise the Special Committee or any other party with respect to alternatives to the Merger or any other aspect of the Merger. Duff & Phelps expressed no opinion as to the fairness of the amount or nature of any compensation to be received by any officers, directors or employees of any parties to the Merger Agreement, or any class of such persons, relative to the \$2.55 per share merger consideration. The issuance of Duff & Phelps' opinion was approved by an authorized fairness opinion committee of Duff & Phelps.

Duff & Phelps assumed that the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be paid to the Company's stockholders in connection with the Merger was determined based on arm's length negotiations between the

Special Committee and representatives of UM Holdings. Duff & Phelps' provided advice to the Special Committee during these negotiations but did not recommend the specific amount or form of consideration to be paid to the Company's stockholders in connection with the Merger.

Although developments following the date of Duff & Phelps' opinion may affect the opinion, Duff & Phelps assumes no obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Duff & Phelps' opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic and other conditions that were in effect on, and information made available to Duff & Phelps as of, the date of the opinion. Developments subsequent to October 17, 2012 may affect the conclusion expressed in Duff & Phelps' opinion. Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting its opinion. Duff & Phelps' opinion is limited to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of the Company in the Merger as of October 17, 2012 (without giving effect to any impact of the Merger on any particular stockholder of the Company other than in its capacity as a stockholder), and does not speak as to the fairness of such consideration at any other point in time.

Set forth below is a summary of the material analyses performed by Duff & Phelps in connection with the delivery of its opinion to the Special Committee. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion, attached hereto as Annex B. While this summary describes the analyses and factors that Duff & Phelps deemed material in its presentation to the Special Committee, it is not a comprehensive description of all analyses and factors considered by Duff & Phelps. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process that involves various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of these methods to the particular circumstances. Therefore, a fairness opinion is not readily susceptible to partial analysis. In arriving at its opinion, Duff & Phelps did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, Duff & Phelps believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and of the factors considered by it in rendering the fairness opinion without considering all analyses and factors could create a misleading or incomplete view of the evaluation process underlying its opinion. The conclusion reached by Duff & Phelps was based on all analyses and factors taken as a whole, and also on the application of Duff & Phelps' own experience and judgment.

The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order for Duff & Phelps' financial analyses to be fully understood, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. Considering the data below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of Duff & Phelps' financial analyses.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

Duff & Phelps performed a discounted cash flow analysis of the estimated future unlevered free cash flows of the Company for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2012 through December 31, 2021, with "free cash flow" defined as cash that is available either to reinvest or to distribute to security holders. The discounted cash flow analysis was used to determine the net present value of estimated future free cash flows utilizing a weighted average cost of capital as the applicable discount rate. Duff & Phelps utilized and relied upon the Projections for purposes of its discounted cash flow analysis. The costs associated with the Company being a publicly listed company were excluded from the financial projections since such costs would likely be eliminated as a result of a sale of the Company, such as the Merger.

Duff & Phelps used discount rates ranging from 12.75% to 14.25%, reflecting Duff & Phelps' estimate of the Company's weighted average cost of capital, to discount the projected free cash flows and terminal value. Duff & Phelps estimated the Company's weighted average cost of capital by estimating the weighted average of

the Company's cost of equity (derived using the capital asset pricing model) and the Company's after-tax cost of debt. Duff & Phelps believes that this range of discount rates is consistent with the rate of return that security holders could expect to realize on alternative investment opportunities with similar risk profiles.

Based on these assumptions, Duff & Phelps' discounted cash flow analysis resulted in an estimated enterprise value for the Company of \$59.8 million to \$68.5 million and a range of implied values of the Company's Common Stock of \$2.21 to \$2.71 per share.

Selected Public Companies Analysis

Duff & Phelps compared certain financial information of the Company to corresponding data and ratios from publicly traded companies in the leisure equipment and products industry and the office and capital equipment manufacturing industry that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant to its analysis. For purposes of its analysis, Duff & Phelps used certain publicly available historical financial data and consensus equity analyst estimates for the selected publicly traded companies. This analysis produced valuation multiples of selected financial metrics which Duff & Phelps utilized to estimate the enterprise value of the Company. The eight companies included in the selected public company analysis in the leisure equipment and products industry were:

- · Accell Group NV
- Amer Sports Corp.
- Brunswick Corporation
- Callaway Golf Co.
- Escalade Inc.
- Johnson Health Tech Co., Ltd.
- Johnson Outdoors Inc.
- Nautilus Inc.

Duff & Phelps also included the following five companies in the selected public company analysis in the office and capital equipment manufacturing industry due to similarities to the Company in terms of EBITDA margins, business-to-business market, and customer purchasing habits:

- Herman Miller Inc.
- John Bean Technologies Corporation
- Knoll Inc.
- Standex International Corp.
- Steelcase Inc.

Duff & Phelps selected these companies for its analysis based on their relative similarity, primarily in terms of business model and primary customers, to that of the Company.

The tables below summarize certain observed trading multiples and historical and projected financial performance, on an aggregate basis, of the selected public companies. The estimates for 2012 and 2013 in the tables below with respect to the selected public companies were derived based on information for the 12-month periods ending closest to the Company's fiscal year ends for which information was available. Data related to the Company's earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") was adjusted for purposes of this analysis to eliminate public company costs and the estimated transaction costs related to the Merger.

	Revenue Growth		EBITDA Growth			EBITDA Margin			
	LTM	2012E	2013E	LTM	2012E	2013E	LTM	2012E	2013E
Leisure Equipment & Products Industry:									
Mean	5.8%	5.4%	8.0%	11.3%	22.7%	23.6%	7.0%	6.6%	8.7%
Median	7.3%	5.1%	7.8%	10.2%	17.6%	19.1%	8.5%	7.6%	8.7%
Office & Capital Equipment Manufacturing:									
Mean	2.0%	3.5%	6.1%	(2.0%	6.4%	15.3%	9.8%	10.2%	11.0%
Median	(0.6%)	3.7%	6.6%	(1.9%	5.4%	15.9%	10.1%	10.3%	11.6%
Aggregate:									
Minimum	(3.8%)	(4.1%)	2.9%	(17.6%	(6.8%) 6.8%	0.0%	(1.6%)	6.1%
Maximum	16.4%	16.5%	13.9%	21.4%	54.2%	42.7%	11.8%	12.1%	12.7%
Mean	4.2%	4.4%	7.1%	4.7%	13.6%	19.5%	8.2%	8.2%	9.8%
Median	4.9%	4.1%	6.6%	7.7%	8.5%	19.0%	8.8%	9.1%	10.0%
Cybex International, Inc	8.9%	3.5%	3.4%	7.5%	(14.2%)14.3%	8.0%	8.0%	8.9%

	Enterprise Value as a Multiple of				
	LTM EBITDA	2012E EBITDA	2013E EBITDA	LTM Revenue	2012E Revenue
Leisure Equipment & Products Industry:					
Mean	8.1x	8.2x	7.0x	0.64x	0.66x
Median	7.2x	8.9x	10.5x	0.56x	0.60x
Office & Capital Equipment Manufacturing:					
Mean	7.6x	7.0x	6.1x	0.75x	0.72x
Median	7.3x	6.7x	5.8x	0.72x	0.68x
Aggregate:					
Minimum	5.7x	6.2x	4.4x	0.38x	0.38x
Maximum	12.1x	9.6x	8.4x	1.13x	1.03x
Mean	7.9x	7.6x	6.6x	0.69x	0.69x
Median	7.2x	6.7x	6.0x	0.62x	0.60x

LTM = Latest twelve months for which financial information was available

Enterprise Value = (Market Capitalization + Debt + Preferred Stock + Minority Interest) - (Cash & Equivalents + Net Non-operating Assets)

EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization Source: Bloomberg, Capital IQ, SEC filings

Duff & Phelps used the data above, in conjunction with data from its selected M&A transactions analysis described below, to reach the valuation conclusions described below.

The companies utilized for comparative purposes in Duff & Phelps' analysis were not identical to the Company. As a result, a complete valuation analysis cannot be limited to a quantitative review of the selected

public companies, but also requires complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of such companies, as well as other factors that could affect their value relative to that of the Company.

Selected M&A Transactions Analysis

Duff & Phelps compared the Company to the target companies involved in the sixteen selected merger and acquisition transactions listed in the below table. The selection of these transactions was based, among other things, on the target company's industry, the relative size of the transaction compared to the Merger and the availability of public information related to the transaction. The selected transactions indicated enterprise value to LTM EBITDA multiples ranging from 5.6x to 14.3x with a median of 9.8x and enterprise value to LTM revenue multiples ranging from 0.13x to 3.69x with a median of 0.73x.

Date Announced	Acquirer Name	Target Name			
6/21/2012	Mizuno	Senoh Corporation			
6/13/2012	Bauer Performance Sports	Cascade Helmets Holdings			
4/3/2012	Accell Group NV	Raleigh Cycle			
3/18/2012	Taylor Made Golf Company	Adams Golf			
9/21/2011	Pon Holding Germany GmbH	Derby Cycle			
5/19/2011	Fila Korea, Mirae Asset Financial and others	Acushnet Company			
1/18/2011	Adams Golf	Yes! Golf			
10/20/2010	Mamiya-OP Co.	Kasco Corporation			
3/15/2010	Andell Holdings	Sports Supply Group			
1/13/2010	Johnson Health Tech	PBM Fitness			
12/21/2009	Metroelectric	Powabyke			
7/15/2009	Dorel Industries Inc.	Iron Horse Bicycle Company			
9/5/2008	Amer Sports Corp.	Amer Sports Bulgaria			
8/25/2008	Chartreuse & Mont Blanc	Skis Rossignol			
6/26/2008	Pacific Cycle, Inc.	PTI Sports			
2/21/2008	Kohlberg & Company	Bauer Hockey			

Summary of Selected Public Companies / M&A Transactions Analyses

In order to estimate a range of enterprise values for the Company, Duff & Phelps applied valuation multiples to the Company's LTM EBITDA for the period ended June 30, 2012, projected EBITDA for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 and the Company's LTM revenue for the period ended June 30, 2012. In each case, EBITDA was adjusted to exclude public company costs and costs associated with the Merger. Duff & Phelps' selected valuation multiples were as follows: LTM EBITDA multiple ranged from 5.5x to 6.5x, projected fiscal 2013 EBITDA multiple ranged from 4.5x to 5.5x, and LTM revenue multiple ranged from 0.45x to 0.55x. Valuation multiples were selected taking into consideration historical and projected financial performance metrics of the Company relative to such metrics of the selected public companies, including, but not limited to, the Company's smaller size on a revenue and EBITDA basis, lower EBITDA margins than the aggregate median of the selected public companies and lower projected EBITDA growth than the aggregate median of the selected public companies. Duff & Phelps noted that while it reviewed the selected M&A transactions, it did not deem any of the selected M&A transactions relevant to its analysis. As a result of these selected valuation multiples, the selected public companies indicated an estimated enterprise value for the Company of \$63.0 million to \$76.3 million and a range of implied values of the Company's common stock of \$2.40 to \$3.16 per share.

Premiums Paid Analysis

Duff & Phelps analyzed the premiums paid by acquirers over the public market trading prices in merger and acquisition transactions involving a change of control of the target. The transactions analyzed by Duff & Phelps included transactions announced after February 2009 involving target companies with businesses deemed

relevant by Duff & Phelps. The medians of the premiums paid over the stock prices one-day, one-week, and one-month prior to the announcement of the transactions in the sporting and recreational goods sector were 27.2%, 27.6%, and 36.5%, respectively. The medians of the premiums paid over the stock prices one-day, one-week, and one-month prior to the announcement of the transactions in related party transactions with related party ownership prior to the transaction between 25.0% and 50.0% were 38.9%, 30.5%, and 28.6%, respectively. Duff & Phelps noted that the Merger implies a 90.3% premium over the Company's common stock closing price of \$1.34 per share on October 8, 2012.

Summary of Analyses

The range of estimated enterprise values for the Company that Duff & Phelps derived from its discounted cash flow analysis was \$59.8 million to \$68.5 million, and the range of estimated enterprise values that Duff & Phelps derived from its selected public companies / M&A transactions analyses was \$63.0 million to \$76.3 million. Duff & Phelps concluded that the Company's enterprise value was within a range of \$61.5 million to \$72.5 million based on the analyses described above.

Based on the concluded enterprise value, Duff & Phelps estimated the range of common equity value of the Company to be \$39.6 million to \$50.5 million by:

- subtracting debt of \$21.3 million as of August 31, 2012;
- adding excess cash of \$2.7 million as of August 31, 2012 based on cash and cash equivalents of \$4.0 million less customer deposits of \$1.3 million;
- adding the estimated value of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards (derived by estimating
 the present value of projected tax savings from these carryforwards after giving consideration to the
 limitations resulting from a change of control transaction such as the Merger) of \$3.3 million to \$3.5
 million;
- adding the estimated after-tax value of excess real property of \$0.4 million;
- subtracting a working capital deficiency of \$4.6 million as of August 31, 2012 calculated based on the difference between historical average working capital as a percent of revenues and actual August 31, 2012 working capital as a percent of revenues;
- subtracting other long term liabilities of \$1.8 million consisting of an interest rate swap liability, a property TIF liability, and the present value of future payments related to a product liability settlement discounted at the Company's weighted average cost of capital; and
- subtracting the intrinsic value of options and warrants to acquire shares of the Company's common stock held by Company management and certain investors as of August 31, 2012.

Based on the foregoing analysis, Duff & Phelps estimated the value of each share of the Company's common stock to range from \$2.31 to \$2.94. Duff & Phelps noted that the \$2.55 per share cash consideration to be received by the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of the Company in the Merger was within the range of the per share value indicated by its analyses.

The Special Committee did not believe that the Company's book value or liquidation value were relevant factors in determining the Merger Consideration. Price to book value ratios were presented to the Special Committee, but have been volatile and thus were not considered predictive of value. In the absence of any intention by the principal stockholders to consider a liquidation process, liquidation value was perceived to be inapplicable. The analyses utilized by Duff & Phelps, as outlined above, were considered by the Special Committee to be the appropriate methodologies to determine the Company's value as a going concern.

Duff & Phelps' opinion was only one of the many factors considered by the Special Committee in its evaluation of the Merger and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Special Committee.

The Special Committee selected Duff & Phelps because Duff & Phelps is a leading independent financial advisory firm, offering a broad range of valuation and investment banking services, including fairness and solvency opinions, mergers and acquisitions advisory services, mergers and acquisitions due diligence services, financial reporting and tax valuation, fixed asset and real estate consulting, ESOP and ERISA advisory services, legal business solutions and dispute consulting. Duff & Phelps is regularly engaged in the valuation of businesses and securities in the preparation of fairness opinions in connection with mergers, acquisitions and other strategic transactions.

As compensation for Duff & Phelps' services in connection with the rendering of its opinion to the Special Committee, the Company agreed to pay Duff & Phelps \$225,000, due and payable as follows: \$112,500 in cash upon execution of the engagement letter with Duff & Phelps; and the remaining \$112,500 in cash upon Duff & Phelps' informing the Special Committee that it was prepared to deliver its opinion. No portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is contingent upon either the conclusion expressed in the opinion or whether the Merger is successfully consummated. Furthermore, Duff & Phelps is entitled to be paid additional fees at Duff & Phelps' standard hourly rates for any time incurred should Duff & Phelps be called upon to support its findings subsequent to the delivery of its opinion. The Company has also agreed to reimburse Duff & Phelps for its out-of-pocket expenses and reasonable fees and expenses of counsel, consultants and advisors retained by Duff & Phelps in connection with the engagement. The Company has also agreed to indemnify Duff & Phelps for certain liabilities arising out of its engagement.

The terms of the fee arrangements with Duff & Phelps, which the Company believes are customary in transactions of this nature, were negotiated at arm's length, and the Special Committee and the Company's Board of Directors are aware of these fee arrangements.

During the two years preceding the date of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has not had any material relationship with any party to the Merger for which compensation has been received or is intended to be received, nor is any such material relationship or related compensation mutually understood to be contemplated, other than this engagement and except that Duff & Phelps was engaged by the Company on behalf of the 2010 special committee to serve as independent financial advisor and, if required, to provide a fairness opinion in the event a going private offer was received by the Company at that time, and Duff & Phelps received customary fees, expense reimbursement and indemnification pursuant to that engagement. During the two year period preceding the date of this proxy statement, Duff & Phelps received \$11,975 in expense reimbursement relating to such prior engagement. On November 5, 2012, Duff & Phelps was also engaged to provide the solvency opinion required as a condition of closing the Merger, for which it will be paid a customary fee and receive customary reimbursement of its expenses and indemnification.

Certain Effects of the Merger

If the Merger Agreement is approved by our stockholders, and certain other conditions to the closing of the Merger are either satisfied or waived, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Cybex with Cybex continuing as the surviving corporation, and 100% of the equity interests of the Company will be owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro and Joan Carter.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement at the effective time of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of Common Stock of Cybex (other than any shares owned by UM Holdings or its subsidiaries or stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) will be cancelled and will be converted automatically into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

At the effective time of the Merger, the directors of Merger Sub will become the directors of the surviving corporation and the current officers of Cybex will become the officers of the surviving corporation. The articles of incorporation of Cybex will be amended as provided in the Merger Agreement. The bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will become the bylaws of the surviving corporation (except the references to Merger Sub's name will be replaced by references to Cybex International, Inc.).

Shares of Cybex Common Stock are traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the ticker symbol "CYBI." As a result of the Merger, we will be a privately held corporation, and there will be no public market for our Common Stock. After the Merger, our Common Stock will cease to be quoted, and price quotations with respect to sales of shares of Common Stock in the public market will no longer be available. In addition, registration of our Common Stock under the Exchange Act will be terminated, which will terminate the requirement to furnish reports to our stockholders and the SEC, and would make certain provisions of the Exchange Act, such as the short-swing trading provisions of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act and the requirement of furnishing a proxy statement in connection with any stockholder meeting pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, no longer applicable to the Company.

Following the Merger, 100% of our outstanding Common Stock will be beneficially owned by UM Holdings, John Aglialoro (a principal shareholder of UM Holdings and an executive officer and director of both UM Holdings and the Company), and Joan Carter (a principal shareholder and an executive officer of UM Holdings and a director of both UM Holdings and the Company) (collectively for purposes of the Merger, the "UM Holdings Group"). The UM Holdings Group will receive the benefit of one hundred percent (100%) of our net earnings of \$346,000 for the nine months ended September 29, 2012. The UM Holdings Group also will have a one hundred percent (100%) interest in our pro forma net deficit of (\$2,492,000), which is the net book value at September 29, 2012 less the Merger Consideration paid as a result of the transaction. If the Merger is completed, the members of the UM Holdings Group will be the sole beneficiary of our future earnings and growth, if any, and will operate the Company as the UM Holdings Group may desire without being subject to disclosure obligations and any stockholder approval. Similarly, the UM Holdings Group will also bear the risks of ongoing operations, including the risks of any decrease in our value after the Merger.

In connection with the Merger, the UM Holdings Group will receive benefits and be subject to obligations in connection with the Merger that are different from, or in addition to, the benefits and obligations of our stockholders generally. As a result of the Merger, the UM Holdings Group will benefit in that the Company will no longer have to bear the expense and regulatory burdens associated with being a public company, which should improve the Company's operating cash flow and net income. A detriment to the UM Holdings Group is that its equity interests in the Company will not be registered under the federal securities laws and that such equity interests will be relatively illiquid without any public trading market for such securities. Additional incremental benefits to Mr. Aglialoro include, among others, continuing as an executive officer and director of the Company and being compensated for such services.

Purpose and Reasons by the UM Holdings Group for the Merger

If the Merger is consummated, the UM Holdings Group will benefit from any future earnings and growth of the Company after the Merger, through making the Company privately-held. The UM Holdings Group believes that being a public company results in substantial expense and regulatory burdens for the Company. As a privately-held entity, the Company will have greater flexibility to make decisions based upon long-term considerations without concern about short-term market price impact, the Company's annual expenses will be reduced by approximately \$670,000 associated with public company reporting and compliance, and the amount of time spent by management on compliance with the regulatory burden of being a public company will be reduced.

In addition, it is difficult for the Company, in light of its size, to obtain visibility in the stock market and the trading volume for the Company's Common Stock has been relatively low. The UM Holdings Group is of the belief that the \$2.55 per share Merger Consideration provides the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, the opportunity to liquidate their investment at a substantial premium to the market prices prior to UM Holdings' proposal and without having to incur brokerage fees or to face liquidity issues and market fluctuations.

See "Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger-Certain Relationships Between UM Holdings and Cybex" below.

Position of the UM Holdings Group as to the Merger

Each member of the UM Holdings Group believes that the factors described below, in addition to the analyses and discussion of the factors considered by the Special Committee and the Company's Board of Directors with respect to their approval of the Merger Agreement and the fairness opinion of Financial Advisor, provide a reasonable basis for its position that the terms and conditions of the Merger are substantively fair to the Company and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and that the process utilized to approve the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders.

In making this determination, the UM Holdings Group reviewed a significant amount of information and considered the following material factors:

- Financial Performance and Prospects: The UM Holdings Group reviewed and considered the Company's current and anticipated business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, including the prospects of the Company if it were to remain as a public reporting company and the prospects of the Company in light of current economic conditions. The UM Holdings Group also considered the historical financial performance of the Company for the three years and nine months ended September 29, 2012, which showed a cumulative net loss of \$26,703,000.
- Current Market Price: The UM Holdings Group considered the historical market prices and recent trading activity for the Common Stock, including that the price of \$2.55 per share to be paid in the Merger to the public stockholders represents a premium of 82% above the thirty day average closing price of \$1.40 per share for the period ended October 16, 2012 (the last trading day prior to public announcement of the transaction) and a premium of 89% above the closing price of \$1.35 per share on October 16, 2012 (the last trading day prior to the announcement of the execution of the Merger Agreement). They did not foresee any event other than the proposed Merger that would warrant a substantial increase in the market price.
- Cash Consideration and Liquidity: The Merger will provide immediate and certain liquidity, without brokerage commissions and other costs associated with market sales, for the public stockholders.
- Formation and Authority of Special Committee: In May 2012, the Company's Board of Directors formed a Special Committee which consisted solely of non-employee, independent directors. The role of the Special Committee was to consider any going private proposal which might be made by UM Holdings.
- Independent Advisors: To advise it in its negotiations, the Special Committee retained its own financial and legal advisors, each of which has extensive experience in transactions similar to the Merger and none of which the Special Committee determined to have a relationship that would compromise its independence in the process.
- Negotiated Price: The \$2.55 per share Merger Consideration and other terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement were the result of negotiations between the Special Committee and its counsel, on the one hand, and the UM Holdings Group.
- Opinion of Financial Advisor: Without adopting the opinion, the fact that the Special Committee
 received the opinion of Financial Advisor, its independent financial advisor, to the effect that as of
 October 17, 2012, and based upon and subject to the various considerations set forth in such opinion,
 the \$2.55 per share Merger Consideration in the Merger Agreement to be received by public
 stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, was fair from a financial point of view to such
 stockholders.
- Negotiations: The Merger Agreement was the result of active negotiations by the Special Committee, together with its advisors and counsel. These negotiations resulted in, among other things, a substantial increase in the Merger Consideration from amounts preliminarily proposed by representatives of UM Holdings.

- The Company's Deliberative Process: Neither John Aglialoro, Joan Carter, nor Arthur W. Hicks, Jr. voted on any aspect of the Merger. Further, they and James Carll did not participate in any deliberations of the Special Committee.
- Vote Required: While the UM Holdings Group beneficially owns about 49% of the outstanding Cybex Common Stock, approval of the Merger requires the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and a majority of the shares of Common Stock held by stockholders exclusive of the UM Holdings Group.

Plans for the Company after the Merger

Following the Merger, UM Holdings expects to operate the Company consistent with its past practices. UM Holdings does not have any present plans or proposals which relate to, or would result in, an extraordinary transaction, such as a merger, reorganization or liquidation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or a sale or transfer of a substantial amount of the assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. UM Holdings will, from time to time following the Merger, evaluate and review the business, operations and properties of the Company and its subsidiaries and make such changes as UM Holdings then deems appropriate.

Effect on the Company's Business if the Merger is Not Completed

If the Merger Agreement is not adopted by Cybex's stockholders or if the Merger is not completed for any other reason, Cybex's stockholders will not receive any payment for their shares in connection with the Merger. Instead, Cybex will remain a public company, and shares of Cybex Common Stock will continue to be listed and traded on the NASDAQ Global Market and registered under the Exchange Act. Accordingly, if the Merger is not consummated, there can be no assurance as to the effect of the risks and opportunities on the future value of your Cybex shares. If the Merger Agreement is not adopted by Cybex's stockholders or if the Merger is not consummated for any other reason, there can be no assurance that any other transaction will be offered, or that the business, prospects or results of operations of Cybex will not be adversely impacted.

Financing

Cybex and UM Holdings estimate that approximately \$24,000,000 will be required to complete the Merger and pay related expenses. These costs will be funded by bank financing pursuant to the commitment letter that has been issued to Cybex by RBS Citizens, NA ("Citizens") and the commitment letter for mezzanine financing issued by Massachusetts Capital Resource Company ("MCRC"). The Merger Agreement provides that UM Holdings will not be obligated to complete the Merger if financing in an amount and on terms substantially consistent with such commitment letters are not advanced on or prior to the effective time of the Merger.

Pursuant to the Citizens' commitment, Citizens will act as administrative agent for a syndicate of financial institutions which will provide senior credit facilities of up to \$40,000,000. The syndicate presently includes Citizens and First Niagara Bank, N.A. These facilities will include a term loan facility of up to \$25,000,000 and a revolving credit facility of up to the lesser of \$15,000,000 or an amount determined by reference to a borrowing base composed of designated percentages of our eligible accounts receivable and inventory. Both the term loan facility and revolving credit facility have a maturity date of five years from closing of the loan transaction. These facilities will be secured by a first lien on substantially all of our assets and will bear interest either at LIBOR plus 2.75% to 4% or the Citizens' base rate plus 1.75% to 3%, based upon a performance grid.

The MCRC commitment provides for \$8,000,000 of subordinated debt financing. This facility will have a maturity date of six years from closing of the loan transaction, will be secured by a second lien position on substantially all of our assets and will bear interest at 11% per annum.

We intend to repay these loans in accordance with their stated payment terms and have no current plans to prepay or refinance either facility.

Both the Citizens and the MCRC commitments are subject to standard closing conditions, including completion of due diligence, the execution of definitive documentation, consummation of the Merger and

advancement of funds pursuant to the Citizens and MCRC commitments. While UM Holdings is confident that all conditions to the financing will be satisfied, it has indicated that it has no alternate financing arrangements or plans in the event that the Citizens or MCRC financings are not consummated. In such event, the Merger would not be consummated, our shareholders would retain their shares of our Common Stock and we would remain subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Treatment of Common Stock

The Merger Agreement provides that, at the effective time of the Merger, each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than shares held by UM Holdings or its subsidiaries and stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) will be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

Deregistration of Cybex Common Stock

If the Merger is completed, our Common Stock will no longer be listed or traded on the NASDAQ Global Market and will be deregistered under the Exchange Act.

Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

In considering the recommendation of our Board that you adopt the Merger, you should be aware that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the transaction that are different from, or are in addition to, your interests as a stockholder. The Board and the Special Committee were aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in reaching the decision to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Merger, and to recommend that you vote in favor of adopting the Merger Agreement.

Arrangements with our Executive Officers Relating to a Change of Control

The Merger will not constitute a "change of control" as defined under any employment agreement with our executive officers and accordingly our executive officers will not receive any special benefit upon the Merger pursuant to their respective employment agreements. The Merger will, however, represent a change of control under our 1995 and 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plans, with the result that all outstanding options and restricted stock will automatically vest upon consummation of the Merger, including 5,000 option shares held by John Aglialoro, 3,750 option shares held by Arthur Hicks, Jr., and 2,500 option shares held by each of Ray Giannelli, Edward Kurzontkowski and Ed Pryts (our Named Executive Officers). The following chart sets forth the total payments to be received by the Named Executive Officers upon cancellation of stock options in the Merger.

Name	Payment In Cancellation Of Stock Options
John Aglialoro, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	\$ 27,600
Arthur Hicks, Jr., President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer	\$105,150
Ray Giannelli,	\$ 13,800
Edward Kurzontkowski,	\$ 13,800
Ed Pryts,	\$ 58,900

Except for payments in cancellation of stock options, our executive officers will receive no compensation, whether present, deferred or contingent, based upon or otherwise relating to the Merger.

Indemnification Under the Merger Agreement

The Merger Agreement provides that all rights to exculpation, indemnification and advancement of expenses existing on the date of the Merger Agreement in favor of current or former directors, officers or employees of Cybex and its subsidiaries under the provisions of their respective organizational documents or other agreements will survive the Merger and continue in full force and effect. For a period of six years after the effective time of the Merger, UM Holdings is required to cause the surviving corporation to honor all provisions for indemnification and advancement of expenses under the organizational documents of Cybex and its subsidiaries, as in effect immediately prior to the Merger, and under the indemnification agreements (in effect on the date of the Merger Agreement) of Cybex and its subsidiaries with their respective directors and officers. The surviving corporation is also required to indemnify (and provide customary advancement of expenses to) the current directors and officers of Cybex and its subsidiaries to the fullest extent permitted by law with respect to any costs, expenses, judgments, fines, losses, claims, settlements, damages and liabilities incurred in connection with any actual or threatened action, proceeding or claim arising out of such person's service as such director or officer or performed at the request of Cybex or any of its subsidiaries.

Certain Relationships between the UM Holdings Group and Cybex

UM Holdings, John Aglialoro, the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Joan Carter, Director (collectively, the "UM Holdings Group") together beneficially own approximately 49% of the Company's outstanding Common Stock.

Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter are executive officers, directors and the principal stockholders of UM Holdings. Arthur W. Hicks, Jr., the Company's President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer and a member of its Board, was employed by UM Holdings prior to 2006 and continues to act as its chief financial officer. UM Holdings provides to the Company office space, office support and tax services for which Cybex currently reimburses UM Holdings at the rate of \$180,000 per annum for 2012.

James H. Carll, a director of the Company, is a stockholder and Chairman of Archer & Greiner, P.C., which acts as general counsel to the Company. The Company paid Archer & Greiner \$501,000 in 2011 and \$474,134 during the first nine months of 2012. Archer & Greiner also acts as counsel to UM Holdings and Mr. Carll serves on its Board.

Fees and Expenses

Except as otherwise provided in the Merger Agreement, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated thereby will be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated. All expenses are estimated except filing fees.

Description	Amount
Filing fees	\$ 3,130
Legal and accounting fees and expenses	\$ 275,000
Financial advisory fees and expenses*	\$ 350,000
Special committee meeting fees	\$ 50,000
Consulting fees	\$ 11,000
Printing, proxy solicitation and mailing costs	\$ 50,000
Miscellaneous	\$ 5,870
Total	\$ 745,000

^{*} Includes solvency opinion fee

Financial Projections

The Company does not, as a matter of course, provide financial guidance or publicly disclose projections of future revenues, earnings or other financial performance. However, in connection with the review of the proposed acquisition of the Company, the Company's management prepared non-public financial projections reflecting management's views as to possible future performance of the Company for fiscal years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016. The information was provided to the Special Committee and Financial Advisor in connection with discussing and evaluating the Merger. The financial projections, which are set forth below, do not give effect to the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including the Merger. The inclusion of this information should not be regarded as an indication that the Company considered or now considers these projections to be a reliable prediction of future results. The financial projections provided below were last updated on September 5, 2012.

The financial projections were prepared by Arthur W. Hicks, Jr., our President and Chief Financial Officer, using historical information, business trends and input from members of management, reviewed by John Aglialoro, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Company has met its financial projections through the nine months ended September 29, 2012. In compiling the financial projections, the Company's management took into account historical performance, customers' projections, the current economy and the Company's strategic plan, as well as estimates regarding revenues, overhead expenses and net income, among other estimates.

The financial projections were not developed as part of management's historical development of internal financial forecasts or budget preparation. The financial projections were not prepared with a view to public disclosure and are included in this proxy statement only because the information for fiscal years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 was made available on a confidential basis to Financial Advisor in connection with Financial Advisor's financial analysis undertaken for purposes of rendering the opinion to the Special Committee described in the section entitled "Special Factors—Opinion of Duff & Phelps" beginning on page 21 of this proxy statement. The projections were not prepared with a view to compliance with published guidelines of the SEC, the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective financial information or generally accepted accounting principles. Neither the Company's registered public accountant nor any other registered public accountant has examined or compiled the projections and, accordingly, no registered public accountant expresses an opinion or any other form of assurance or association with respect thereto.

The projections are subjective in many respects and thus susceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based on actual experience and business developments. Although the projections are presented with numerical specificity, they reflect assumptions and estimates relating to the Company's business based on the factors discussed above. The most significant assumptions made by the Company relate to (i) sales; (ii) gross margins; and (iii) input costs. Although the Company's management believed that such assumptions and estimates were reasonable at the time the projections were prepared, they are not intended as predictions and may not reflect the actual results achieved. In addition, factors such as industry performance, competitive uncertainties, the impact of the announcement and pendency of the Merger, and general business, economic, regulatory, market and financial conditions, all of which are difficult to predict and beyond the Company's control, may cause actual results to vary from the projections or the underlying assumptions and estimates.

Accordingly, while the projections were prepared in good faith by the Company's management, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made in preparing the projections will prove to be accurate or that the projections will be realized, and actual results may be materially greater or less than those contained in the projections. The inclusion of this information in this proxy statement should not be regarded as predictions of actual future results, and the projections should not be relied upon as such. These financial projections are by their nature forward-looking information, and you should read the section "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information" beginning on page 39 of this proxy statement for additional information regarding the risks of unduly relying on such information.

The following are the financial projections described above for the fiscal years ending December 31 (in thousands):

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Sales	\$145,000	\$150,000	\$155,000	\$160,000	\$160,000
Cost of Sales	96,000	97,600	99,800	102,400	102,400
Gross Margin	49,000	52,400	55,200	57,600	57,600
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses	42,700	45,000	47,000	48,000	48,000
Operating Profit	6,300	7,400	8,200	9,600	9,600
Interest Expense	1,400	1,000	800	600	600
Income Before Taxes	\$ 4,900	\$ 6,400	\$ 7,400	\$ 9,000	\$ 9,000
EBITDA	\$ 11,000	\$ 12,700	\$ 13,400	\$ 15,200	\$ 16,200

Absence of Right of Appraisal

Under the New York Business Corporation Law, no appraisal rights are available to Cybex's stockholders in connection with the Merger.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to the holders of Cybex Common Stock whose shares will be converted to cash in the Merger. This discussion is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code, the U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and judicial and administrative rulings, all as in effect as of the date of this proxy statement and all of which are subject to change or varying interpretation, possibly with retroactive effect. Any such changes could affect the accuracy of the statements and conclusions set forth herein.

This discussion assumes that the holders of Cybex Common Stock hold their shares as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment). This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to a holder of Cybex Common Stock in light of such holder's particular circumstances, nor does it discuss the special considerations applicable to holders of Cybex Common Stock subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws, such as, for example, financial institutions or broker-dealers, mutual funds, partnerships or other pass-through entities and their partners, members or shareholders, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, traders in securities who elect mark-to-market method of accounting, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, U.S. expatriates, holders who acquired their Cybex Common Stock through the exercise of options or otherwise as compensation, holders who hold their Cybex Common Stock as part of a hedge, straddle, constructive sale or conversion transaction, and U.S. holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. This discussion does not address any aspect of foreign, state, local, alternative minimum, estate, gift or other tax law that may be applicable to a U.S. holder.

We intend this discussion to provide only a general summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to holders of Cybex Common Stock. We do not intend it to be a complete analysis or description of all potential U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger. The U.S. federal income tax laws are complex and subject to varying interpretation. Accordingly, the Internal Revenue Service may not agree with the tax consequences described in this proxy statement.

All holders should consult their own tax advisor to determine the particular tax consequences to them (including the application and effect of any state, local or foreign income and other tax laws) of the receipt of cash in exchange for shares of Cybex Common Stock pursuant to the Merger.

For purpose of this discussion, a "U.S. holder" means, a beneficial owner of the common stock that is:

- a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation, created or organized in, or under the laws of, the United States or any political subdivision thereof;
- an estate, the income of which is subject to United States federal income tax regardless of its source; or
- a trust if, in general, the trust is subject to the supervision of a court within the United States, and one or more U.S. persons as described in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code have the authority to control all significant decisions of the trust.

A "non-U.S. holder" means a beneficial owner of common stock that is not a U.S. holder.

If a partnership (including for this purpose any entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is a beneficial owner of the Common Stock, the tax treatment of a partner in that partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Stockholders that are partnerships (as well as partners in these partnerships) are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of owning and disposing of their shares in the Merger.

Treatment of the Merger

The conversion of shares of Cybex Common Stock into cash pursuant to the Merger will be a taxable sale for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A U.S. holder generally will recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to the difference, if any, between the amount of cash received pursuant to the Merger and such U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in the shares converted into cash pursuant to the Merger. Such gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the holder's holding period for such shares exceeds one year as of the date of the Merger. Long-term capital gains for certain non-corporate U.S. holders, including individuals, are generally eligible for a reduced rate of federal income taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. If a U.S. holder acquired different blocks of Cybex Common Stock at different times or different prices, such U.S. holder must determine its tax basis, holding period, and gain or loss separately with respect to each block of Cybex Common Stock.

For individuals, trusts and estates, the present maximum federal tax rate on long term capital gains is 15%, but that rate is scheduled to increase to 20% for gains realized on or after January 1, 2013. In addition to the aforesaid tax on capital gains, for individuals, trusts and estates, their gain will also be subject to the new 3.8% Medicare surtax on investment income, which is scheduled to go into effect for gains realized on or after January 1, 2013.

Any gain realized by a non-U.S. holder upon the conversion of shares in the Merger generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax unless: (i) the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the non-U.S. holder in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment or fixed base of the non-U.S. holder), (ii) the non-U.S. holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the Merger, and certain other conditions are met, or (iii) Cybex is or has been a "United States real property holding corporation" for United States federal income tax purposes at any time during the shorter of the five-year period ending on the date of the Merger or the period that the non-U.S. holder held the shares, and the non-U.S. holder owns, or is treated as owning, more than five percent of our shares. Cybex currently is not a "United States real property holding corporation."

Net gain realized by a non-U.S. holder described in clause (i) of the preceding paragraph will be subject to tax at generally applicable United States federal income tax rates. Any gains of a foreign corporation non-U.S. holder described in clause (i) of the preceding sentence may also be subject to an additional "branch profits tax"

at a 30% rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. Gain realized by an individual non-U.S. holder described in clause (ii) of such paragraph will be subject to a flat 30% tax, which may be offset by United States source capital losses, even though the individual is not considered a resident of the United States.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

A U.S. holder may, under certain circumstances, be subject to information reporting and backup withholding at the applicable rate (currently 28%) with respect to the cash received pursuant to the Merger, unless such holder properly establishes an exemption or provides its correct tax identification number and otherwise complies with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.

A non-U.S. holder is required to certify its foreign status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establish an exemption in order to avoid information reporting and backup withholding on disposition proceeds where the transaction is effected by or through a United States office of a broker. United States information reporting and backup withholding generally will not apply to a payment of proceeds from a disposition of common stock where the transaction is effected outside the United States through a foreign office of a foreign broker. However, information reporting requirements, but not backup withholding, generally will apply to such a payment if the broker is (i) a U.S. person, (ii) a foreign person that derives 50% or more of its gross income for certain periods from the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, (iii) a controlled foreign corporation as defined in the Code or (iv) a foreign partnership with certain United States connections, unless the broker has documentary evidence in its records that the holder is a non-U.S. holder and certain conditions are met or the holder otherwise establishes an exemption.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be refunded or credited against the holder's United States federal income tax liability, if any, provided that certain required information is furnished to the IRS in a timely manner. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding application of backup withholding in their particular circumstances and the availability of and procedure for obtaining an exemption from backup withholding under current United States Treasury Regulations.

This discussion is a general summary and does not purport to be a comprehensive analysis or description of all potential U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger. Each stockholder is urged to consult his, her or its own tax advisor as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences and as to any U.S. estate, gift, state, local, or non-U.S. tax consequences of the Merger.

Regulatory Approval

The Company is not aware of any material governmental or regulatory approval required for completion of the Transaction, other than compliance with the relevant federal and state securities laws and New York corporate laws.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This proxy statement includes certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements, which are based on various assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identified by our use of words such as "intend," "plan," "may," "should," "will," "would," "could," "project," "estimate," "anticipate," "believe," "expect," "continue," "potential," "opportunity" and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. We cannot guarantee that we will achieve these plans, intentions or expectations, including completing the Merger on the terms summarized in this proxy statement. All statements regarding our expected financial position, business and financing plans are forward-looking statements.

Except for historical information, matters discussed in this proxy statement are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These risks and other factors include, without limitation:

- the occurrence of any event, occurrence, fact, condition, change, development or effect that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement;
- the outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against Cybex and others following announcement of entering into the Merger Agreement or the filing of this proxy statement;
- the inability to complete the Merger due to the failure to obtain the required stockholder approvals or the necessary financing, or the failure to satisfy other conditions to completion of the Merger;
- the effect of the announcement of the proposed Merger on our relationships with customers, suppliers and other business partners;
- the disruption of current plans and operations as a result of the Merger, which could give rise to potential difficulties in employee retention;
- the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the Merger; and
- the possibility that our operating results may fail to meet our financial projections.

All forward-looking statements included in this proxy statement speak only as of the date of this proxy statement and all forward-looking statements incorporated by reference into this proxy statement speak only as of the date of the document in which they were included. We expressly disclaim any obligation to release publicly any revisions or updates to any forward-looking statements, except to the extent required by law. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this section.

All information contained in this proxy statement concerning UM Holdings, Ltd., Merger Sub and their affiliates related to the Merger has been supplied by such entities and their affiliates, and has not been independently verified by us.

THE PARTIES TO THE MERGER

Cybex International, Inc.

10 Trotter Drive Medway, Massachusetts 02053 (508) 533-4300

Cybex International, Inc. is a New York corporation organized in 1953 that develops, manufactures and markets strength and cardiovascular fitness equipment products for the commercial and, to a lesser extent, consumer markets. References to Cybex or the Company include the operations of each of its subsidiaries except where the context otherwise requires. Cybex's principal executive offices are located at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, and its telephone number is (508) 533-4300.

Further information concerning Cybex can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2012 which are attached hereto as Annexes D and E.

UM Holdings, Ltd. and CYB Merger Corp.

c/o UM Holdings, Ltd. 56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 (856) 354-2200

UM Holdings, Ltd. is a New Jersey corporation which owns or invests in various businesses. CYB Merger Corp. ("Merger Sub") is a newly-formed New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings. Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of entering into the Merger Agreement and consummating the transactions contemplated thereby and has not carried on any business or activities to date, except activities incidental to its formation and activities undertaken in connection with the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. UM Holdings owns 6,931,328 shares of Cybex Common Stock, equal to approximately 40% of Cybex's outstanding Common Stock. UM Holdings and Merger Sub are private companies. All the outstanding capital stock of UM Holdings is owned by Mr. Aglialoro, Ms. Carter or trusts for the benefit of their children.

Set forth below are the names, the present principal occupations or employment, telephone number and the name, principal business, and address of any corporation or other organization in which such occupation or employment is conducted and the five—year employment history of each of UM Holdings, Merger Sub, Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter. During the past five years, none of the persons or entities described have been (i) convicted in a criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors) or (ii) party to any judicial or administrative proceeding (except for matters that were dismissed without sanction or settlement) that resulted in a judgment, decree or final order enjoining the person from future violations of, or prohibiting activities subject to, federal or state securities laws or a finding of any violation of federal or state securities laws. Each person identified is a United States citizen. Mr. Aglialoro is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Chairman of UM Holdings, and President of Merger Sub. Ms. Carter is a director of the Company, UM Holdings and Merger Sub and is President of UM Holdings and Vice President of Merger Sub.

Name	Business Address	Employment History
UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey		
corporation	56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 (856) 354-2200	N/A
CYB Merger Corp., a New York		
corporation	56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 (856) 354-2200	N/A
John Aglialoro, a natural person	UM Holdings, Ltd. 56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 (856) 354-2200	The Company's Chairman of the Board since 1997 and CEO since 2000. The Chairman of UM Holdings since 1982. President and a director of Merger Sub since 2012.
Joan Carter, a natural person	UM Holdings, Ltd. 56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 (856) 354-2200	Director of the Company since 1997. The President of UM Holdings since 1986. Vice President and a director of Merger Sub since 2012.

THE SPECIAL MEETING

Date, Time, Place and Purpose of the Special Meeting

This proxy statement is being furnished to our stockholders in connection with the solicitation of proxies by Cybex's board of directors (which we also refer to as the "Board") to be exercised at a special meeting to be held on February 6, 2013 at the Company's executive offices at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time.

The special meeting is being held for the following purposes:

- To consider and vote on a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 17, 2012 (the "Merger Agreement") by and among Cybex International, Inc., a New York corporation, UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey corporation ("UM Holdings"), and CYB Merger Corp., a New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings ("Merger Sub"), as it may hereafter be amended from time to time.
- To consider and vote on a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting to a later date or time, if
 necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger
 Agreement if there are insufficient votes at the time of such adjournment or postponement to adopt the
 Merger Agreement.
- 3. To consider and vote on such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into Cybex, which we refer to as the "Merger," and each share of Cybex Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than shares held by UM Holdings or its subsidiaries and stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

Our Board's Recommendation

The Special Committee, comprised of three non-employee independent directors, has unanimously (i) determined that the Merger Consideration of \$2.55 per share is substantively fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, that the process utilized to determine that price was procedurally fair to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, and that adoption of the Merger Agreement is advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders; (ii) approved the terms of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby; and (iii) recommended that the Board approve the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and recommend that the holders of Cybex Common Stock adopt the Merger Agreement.

Upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, the members of the Board who voted on the Merger Agreement unanimously (i) approved the terms of the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and declared the same to be advisable and in the best interests of Cybex and its public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders; (ii) approved the Merger Agreement, including the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; (iii) directed that the Merger Agreement be submitted to the holders of Cybex Common Stock for their adoption at a special meeting; and (iv) recommended that you vote "FOR" the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement.

We have eight directors on our Board. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and Arthur W. Hicks, Jr., who are affiliated with UM Holdings, abstained from voting on the Merger Agreement. The remaining five directors, who are all independent, voted in favor of the above items.

Record Date, Notice and Quorum

We have fixed the close of business on December 27, 2012 as the record date for the special meeting, and only holders of record of the Company's Common Stock on the record date are entitled to vote at the special meeting. On the record date, there were 17,143,050 shares of Common Stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Each share of Common Stock entitles its holder to one vote on all matters properly coming before the special meeting.

A majority of the shares of our Common Stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting constitutes a quorum for the purpose of considering the proposals. Both abstentions and "broker non-votes" will be treated as present at the special meeting for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for the transaction of all business. In the event that a quorum is not present at the special meeting, we currently expect that the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed to solicit additional proxies.

Required Vote

You may vote "FOR" or "AGAINST," or you may "ABSTAIN" from voting on, the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement. Abstentions will not be counted as votes cast or shares voting on the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement.

Completion of the Merger requires adoption of the Merger Agreement by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. At December 27, 2012, UM Holdings beneficially owned 6,931,328 shares of our Common Stock, equal to approximately 40% of our outstanding Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings (collectively, the "UM Holdings Group"), who are related parties, collectively own approximately 49% of our outstanding Common Stock. The UM Holdings Group has informed us that it will vote in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement. If you abstain from voting on this proposal, it will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the adoption of the Merger Agreement.

In addition, it is a condition of the closing of the Merger that the Merger Agreement be adopted by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock, exclusive of shares held by UM Holdings and its subsidiaries and stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter.

Under the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, banks, brokers and other custodians who hold shares in street name for customers have the authority to vote on "routine" proposals when they have not received instructions from beneficial owners. However, brokers are precluded from exercising their voting discretion with respect to approving non-routine matters such as the adoption of the Merger Agreement. As a result, absent instructions from the beneficial owner of such shares, brokers are not empowered to vote those shares, referred to generally as "broker non-votes." Therefore, while "broker non-votes" will be counted for the purpose of determining a quorum, because completion of the Merger requires the adoption of the Merger Agreement by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and by holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock exclusive of shares held by UM Holdings and its subsidiaries and stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter, any "broker non-votes" will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" the adoption of the Merger Agreement.

Revocability of Proxy

If you submit a proxy by telephone, by the Internet or by returning a signed and dated proxy card by mail, your shares will be voted at the special meeting as you indicate. If you sign your proxy card without indicating your vote, your shares will be voted "FOR" the adoption of the Merger Agreement and "FOR" any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies, and in accordance with the recommendations of our Board on any other matters properly brought before the special meeting, or at any adjournments or postponements thereof, for a vote.

If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and do not provide the nominee who holds your shares with voting instructions, the nominee will inform our inspector of election that it does not have the authority to vote on this matter with respect to your shares. When our inspector of election tabulates the votes for any particular matter, broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present, but will not otherwise be counted. ABSTENTIONS AND BROKER NON-VOTES WILL HAVE THE EFFECT OF A VOTE "AGAINST" THE APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT. Please provide voting instructions to the nominee that holds your shares by carefully following its instructions.

Proxies received at any time before the special meeting that have not been revoked or superseded before being voted will be voted at the special meeting. You have the right to change or revoke your proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the special meeting:

- if you hold your shares in your name as a stockholder of record, by notifying our President at the following address: Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053;
- by attending the special meeting and voting in person (your attendance at the meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy; you must vote in person at the meeting);
- · by submitting a later-dated proxy card;
- if you voted by telephone, by voting again by telephone;
- if you voted by the Internet, by voting again by the Internet; or
- if you have instructed a broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares, by following the directions received from your broker, bank or other nominee to change those instructions.

Persons Making the Solicitation

This proxy solicitation is being made and paid for by Cybex on behalf of its board of directors. Cybex will pay all expenses of this solicitation, including the cost of preparing and mailing this document. In addition to solicitation by use of the mails, proxies may be solicited by our directors, officers and employees in person or by telephone, telegram, electronic mail, facsimile transmission or other means of communication. Those persons will not be additionally compensated for solicitation activities, but may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with any solicitation. We also may reimburse custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their expenses in sending proxies and proxy material to beneficial owners. The Company has retained Eagle Rock Proxy Advisors, LLC to assist with the solicitation of proxies and we will pay Eagle Rock's fees, which are estimated to be \$5,500, and expenses. Any stockholder with questions or requiring assistance in voting shares of Cybex Common Stock should contact Eagle Rock at its toll free number 1-855-706-2378.

We will also request brokers and other fiduciaries to forward proxy solicitation material to the beneficial owners of shares of Cybex Common Stock that the brokers and fiduciaries hold of record. We will reimburse them for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

Adjournments and Postponements

Although it is not currently expected, the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. Any signed proxies received by Cybex in which no voting instructions are provided on such matter will be voted "FOR" any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies. Any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow Cybex's stockholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use at the special meeting as adjourned or postponed.

Transfer or Sale of Shares

If you held your shares of Common Stock on December 27, 2012, the record date for the special meeting, but sell or otherwise transfer your shares prior to the effective time of the Merger, you will retain your right to vote at the special meeting; however, you will not have the right to receive the Merger Consideration. The right

to receive the Merger Consideration when the Merger becomes effective will pass to the person who owns the shares of our Common Stock that you previously owned.

Common Stock Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

As of the record date, our directors and executive officers, as a group, directly or indirectly beneficially owned and were entitled to vote an aggregate of approximately 8,909,960 shares of Common Stock, which includes the shares owned by UM Holdings, representing approximately 51% of the shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. The members of the Special Committee do not have significant shareholdings, holding in the aggregate less than 1% of the outstanding Common Stock.

Other Matters

Our Board does not know of any other business that will be presented at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. If any other proposal comes up for a vote at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof in which your proxy has provided discretionary authority, the proxy holders will vote your shares of Common Stock in accordance with their best judgment.

Questions and Additional Information

If you have questions about the special meeting or how to submit your proxy, or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card or voting instructions, please call our President at (508) 533-4300.

PROPOSAL NO. 1: THE MERGER AGREEMENT

In this section: Cybex International, Inc. is also referred to as "Cybex," "we" or "us"; Cybex, as the surviving corporation following the Merger, is at times referred to as the "surviving corporation"; the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 17, 2012, by and among Cybex, UM Holdings, Ltd. ("UM Holdings") and CYB Merger Corp. ("Merger Sub") is referred to as the "Merger Agreement"; the board of directors of Cybex is referred to as the "Board"; and the special committee of the Board, comprised of independent non-employee directors to consider, examine, explore, review, analyze and negotiate the terms and conditions of a "going private transaction," described in the section entitled "Special Factors: Background of the Merger" beginning on page 15 of this proxy statement, is referred to as the "Special Committee."

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Merger Agreement. This summary does not purport to describe all the terms of the Merger Agreement and is qualified by reference to the complete Merger Agreement which is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement. We urge you to read the Merger Agreement carefully and in its entirety because it, and not this proxy statement, is the legal document that governs the Merger.

The Merger Agreement and this summary have been included to provide you with information regarding the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement contains representations and warranties that Cybex, UM Holdings and Merger Sub made to each other as of specific dates. The representations and warranties were negotiated between the parties with the principal purpose of setting forth their respective rights with respect to their obligation to complete the Merger and may be subject to important limitations and qualifications as set forth therein, including a contractual standard of materiality different from that generally applicable under United States federal securities laws.

General; The Merger

At the effective time of the Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement and in accordance with the New York Business Corporation Law (which is referred to as the "NYBCL"), Merger Sub will merge with and into Cybex and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease. Cybex will be the surviving corporation in the Merger. The certificate of incorporation of Cybex will be amended at the effective time of the Merger as provided in the Merger Agreement. The by-laws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be the by-laws of the surviving corporation.

The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be the directors of the surviving corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be. The officers of Cybex immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be the officers of the surviving corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly appointed, as the case may be.

Completion and Effectiveness of the Merger

We intend to complete the Merger promptly, but in no event more than three business days after all of the conditions to the closing of the Merger contained in the Merger Agreement (described below under "-Conditions to Completion of the Merger") are satisfied or waived, including the adoption of the Merger Agreement by the stockholders of Cybex. The Merger will become effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of New York or such later time as provided in the Certificate of Merger and agreed to by Cybex and UM Holdings.

We are working to complete the Merger as quickly as possible, but in no event will the Merger be completed more than three business days after all the conditions to completion of the Merger contained in the Merger Agreement are satisfied or waived. If our stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement, and assuming that the other conditions to the Merger are satisfied or waived, we believe that the Merger will be completed during the first quarter of 2013. However, we cannot predict the exact timing of the completion of the Merger or whether the Merger will be completed.

Consideration to be Received Pursuant to the Merger; Treatment of Equity Awards

The Merger Agreement provides that, as of the effective time of the Merger:

- each share of Common Stock of Cybex issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than shares held by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders, including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) will be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 in cash (the "Merger Consideration"), without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, and will be automatically cancelled and retired and will cease to exist, and each certificate that immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger represented such shares of Common Stock shall, after the effective time of the Merger, only represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration;
- each share of Common Stock of Cybex that is owned, directly or indirectly, by Merger Sub, UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and its stockholders (including John Aglialoro and Joan Carter) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive one (1) share of the common stock of the surviving corporation for every one hundred (100) shares of Cybex Common Stock owned by such person, with any fractional share rounded up to the next whole number;
- each share of Common Stock of Cybex that is held in the treasury of the Company shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor; and
- each share of the capital stock of Merger Sub that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

Each option to acquire a share of Common Stock of Cybex, which is outstanding as of the effective time of the Merger, whether vested or unvested, will be cancelled in exchange for the right to receive a cash payment (without interest and less any applicable tax withholdings) equal to the product of:

- the total number of shares of Common Stock of Cybex underlying such stock option; and
- the excess, if any, of \$2.55 over the per share exercise price of such option.

Cybex may make any amendments to any of the Cybex stock plans that may be necessary or desirable to implement the foregoing.

Payment for Cybex Common Stock in the Merger

Prior to the effective time of the Merger, Cybex will designate and enter into an agreement with a bank, trust company or transfer agent to act as paying agent for the payment of the Merger Consideration. Prior to the effective time, Cybex will deposit, or cause the surviving corporation to deposit, with the paying agent, for the benefit (from and after the effective time) of the public holders of Common Stock of Cybex, cash in an amount sufficient to pay the aggregate Merger Consideration required to be paid pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

As soon as practicable after the effective time of the Merger, the paying agent will mail to each record holder of Common Stock, a letter of transmittal and instructions for use in effecting the surrender of his shares of Common Stock in exchange for the Merger Consideration. You should not send in your certificates representing

shares of Common Stock until you receive the letter of transmittal. The letter of transmittal and instructions will tell you what to do if any of your certificates has been lost, stolen or destroyed. You will have to provide an affidavit to that fact and, if required by Cybex, post a bond in a customary amount as indemnity against any claim that may be made with respect to such lost, stolen or destroyed certificates.

The paying agent will pay your Merger Consideration to you after you have surrendered your share certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) and returned a duly executed letter of transmittal and any other documents as may reasonably be required by the paying agent. No interest will be paid or accrued in respect of cash payments of Merger Consideration. The surviving corporation and the paying agent may reduce the amount of any Merger Consideration paid to you by any applicable withholding taxes.

Representations and Warranties

Cybex has made certain customary representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement to UM Holdings and Merger Sub that are subject in some cases to specified exceptions and qualifications. Our representations and warranties relate to, among other things:

- our corporate organization and valid existence, power to conduct business, qualification and good standing;
- ownership of our subsidiaries;
- our capitalization;
- our corporate authority to enter into and carry out the obligations under the Merger Agreement;
- the adoption and recommendation of the Merger Agreement by our Board;
- our reports and financial statements filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (referred to as the "SEC");
- the operation of our business in the ordinary course;
- absence of certain changes since the date of the Merger Agreement;
- the required vote of holders of our Common Stock to adopt the Merger Agreement;
- compliance with applicable laws and regulations;
- the engagement of brokers and other advisors;
- the opinion of Financial Advisor; and
- the information filed with the SEC in connection with this proxy.

Certain aspects of our representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement are qualified by the concept of "Material Adverse Effect." For the purposes of the Merger Agreement, a "Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, circumstance, change, occurrence or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other facts, circumstances, changes, occurrences or effects, (1) is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Cybex or its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (2) that would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the ability of Cybex to consummate the Merger.

However, the following matters will not be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect and will not be deemed to constitute a Material Adverse Effect:

 the announcement or the existence of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, or actions by UM Holdings, Merger Sub or Cybex required to be taken pursuant to the Merger Agreement;

- changes in general economic or political conditions or the financial markets (so long as we are not disproportionately affected thereby);
- changes in applicable laws, rules, regulations or orders of any governmental entity or interpretations thereof by any governmental entity or changes in accounting rules or principles (so long as we are not disproportionately affected thereby);
- changes affecting generally the industries in which Cybex conducts business (so long as we are not disproportionately affected thereby); or
- any outbreak or escalation of hostilities or war or any act of terrorism (so long as we are not disproportionately affected thereby).

UM Holdings and Merger Sub have each made certain representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement to Cybex that are subject, in some cases, to specified exceptions and qualifications. UM Holdings' and Merger Sub's representations and warranties relate to, among other things:

- their corporate organization and valid existence, power to conduct business, qualification and good standing;
- · their corporate authority to enter into, and carry out their obligations under, the Merger Agreement;
- absence of a breach of UM Holdings' or Merger Sub's organizational documents or contracts, or of any laws, or the creation of any liens or payment obligations as a result of the Merger;
- capitalization of Merger Sub;
- absence of brokers hired by UM Holdings or Merger Sub;
- the information to be filed with the SEC regarding UM Holdings and Merger Sub in connection with this proxy statement;
- absence of agreements with Cybex's management relating to the Merger Agreement;
- · access to information relating to Cybex; and
- solvency of the surviving corporation and its subsidiaries after the effective time of the Merger.

The representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement do not survive the effective time of the Merger.

Agreements Relating to Cybex's Interim Operations

Cybex has agreed that, except as agreed to in writing by UM Holdings, as required by applicable law or as required by the Merger Agreement, subject to certain other exceptions, until the effective time of the Merger, Cybex and its subsidiaries will carry on their businesses in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and will use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact their respective business organizations, retain the services of their officers, key employees and consultants and maintain their relationships with certain third parties.

In addition, Cybex has agreed that, subject to certain exceptions, neither Cybex nor any of its subsidiaries will, prior to the effective time of the Merger, do any of the following without the prior written consent of UM Holdings:

- declare, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution, except for dividends and distributions paid or made to us by any of our subsidiaries;
- split, combine or reclassify any of our capital stock or authorize the issuance of any other securities for shares of our capital stock;

- purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of our capital stock or any other rights to acquire any shares or securities:
- issue, sell, grant, pledge, dispose of or encumber or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, any shares of our capital stock or other ownership interests, any other securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or ownership interests, or rights, options or warrants to acquire such shares or ownership interests or take any action to cause to be exercisable any otherwise unexercisable option under any stock option plan;
- change our organizational documents;
- acquire or agree to acquire, by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial portion of
 the assets of, by making an investment in or capital contribution to, or by any other manner any
 business, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association or other business organization or division
 thereof or any material assets (except for certain capital expenditures);
- incur, guarantee, assume, prepay or otherwise become liable for any indebtedness for borrowed money, issue or sell any debt securities or warrants or other rights to acquire debt securities or enter into any "keep well" or other arrangement to maintain any financial condition of another person;
- make any loans or advances to any other business, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association
 or other business organization or division thereof (except for those made to any of our subsidiaries in
 the ordinary course of business);
- pay, discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or obligations other than payment, discharge or satisfaction in the ordinary course of business in accordance with their terms, of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the financial statements (or the notes thereto) included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended December 31, 2011;
- adopt, terminate or amend any collective bargaining agreement, benefit plan or other contract involving us or our subsidiaries as applied to our directors and executive officers;
- increase the compensation or other benefits of our officers or directors, enter into or amend any
 employment, change of control, severance or retention agreement with any of our officers, or establish,
 enter into, adopt or amend any collective bargaining agreement, plan, trust, fund, policy or arrangement
 for the benefit of any current or former directors, officers or employees or their beneficiaries, or hire or
 terminate any employees outside the ordinary course of business;
- adopt or enter into a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of such entity; or
- authorize any of, or commit, resolve, propose or agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

No Solicitation of Other Offers

UM Holdings has indicated that it and its affiliates have no interest in selling their equity interests in Cybex and would vote against any other acquisition proposal, and subject to the exceptions described below in this section, Cybex agreed that it (acting through the Board or the Special Committee or otherwise) shall not:

- initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of furnishing information), or take any other action to facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any Competing Transaction (as defined below), or
- enter into or maintain or continue discussions or negotiate with any person or entity in furtherance of such inquiries or to obtain a Competing Transaction, or
- · agree to or endorse any Competing Transaction, or
- authorize or permit any of its representatives to take any such action.

The Special Committee or the Board of Directors (acting through the Special Committee) (either directly or indirectly through advisors, agents or other intermediaries) is not, however, prohibited from taking the following actions, if the Special Committee concludes in good faith after consultation with counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the Board's fiduciary duties to the stockholders of Company under applicable law:

- furnishing information in writing or orally concerning the Company and its businesses, properties or assets to any third party in response to any unsolicited inquiry, proposal or offer,
- engaging in discussions or negotiations with such a third party that has made such inquiry, proposal or offer,
- following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, taking and disclosing to
 the Company's stockholders a position or otherwise making disclosure to its stockholders with respect
 to such proposal,
- following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, withdrawing or modifying its recommendation of the Merger Agreement, and/or
- terminating the Merger Agreement.

The Merger Agreement defines a "Competing Transaction" as a transaction or proposal involving the Company (other than the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement) as to which the Special Committee, in good faith after consultation with counsel, shall have concluded would, if effectuated, result in a change of control of the Company necessitating the filing by the Company of a Current Report on Form 8-K pursuant to Item 5.01 thereof.

Special Meeting of Cybex's Stockholders; Recommendation of the Board

The Merger Agreement provides that we will use our reasonable best efforts, as soon as practicable following the date of the Merger Agreement and after the proxy statement is cleared by the SEC, to establish a record date for, duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of our stockholders for the purpose of seeking the stockholders' adoption of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement further provides that, except in certain limited circumstances described below, our Board must recommend the adoption of the Merger Agreement by our stockholders, and use reasonable best efforts to effect the Merger.

At any time prior to adoption of the Merger Agreement by our stockholders, the Board or Special Committee may modify or amend (or publicly propose to modify or amend) in a manner adverse to UM Holdings or withdraw (or publicly propose to withdraw) the Board's recommendation that the Cybex stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement, but only if the Special Committee determines in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel) that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of Cybex under applicable law.

Access to Information

Until the earlier of the effective time of the Merger or the termination of the Merger Agreement, on reasonable notice and subject to applicable law and certain other exceptions, we are required to afford to UM Holdings and its representatives reasonable access to Cybex's and its subsidiaries' properties, books, contracts, commitments, personnel, records and reports, schedules or other documents filed or received pursuant to applicable securities laws.

Indemnification and Insurance of Cybex's Directors and Officers

The Merger Agreement provides that all rights to exculpation, indemnification and advancement of expenses existing on the date of the Merger Agreement in favor of our (or our subsidiaries') current or former

directors, officers or employees under the provisions of our respective organizational documents or other agreements will survive the Merger and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms for a period of not less than six years from the effective time of the Merger.

Under the Merger Agreement, the surviving corporation will assume the obligations with respect to all rights to indemnification, defense and exculpation from liabilities, including advancement of expenses, for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time of the Merger now existing in favor of our (or our subsidiaries') current or former directors, officers, employees or agents to the same extent as provided in our (or our subsidiaries') certificate or articles of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents or any indemnification contract between such directors, officers, employees or agents and us or any of our subsidiaries (in each case, as in effect on the date of this Agreement), without further action, as of the effective time of the Merger. Such obligations will survive the Merger and will continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms for a period of not less than six (6) years from the effective time of the Merger Agreement. All rights to indemnification, defense or exculpation in respect of any action pending or asserted or any claim made within such period shall continue until the full, final and non-appealable disposition of such action or resolution of such claim.

For six (6) years after the effective time of the Merger, the surviving corporation must maintain (directly or indirectly through our existing insurance programs or, subject to certain conditions, through policies offering comparable coverage with terms no less advantageous than under our current policies) in effect directors' and officers' liability insurance in respect of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time of the Merger, covering each person currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance policy maintained by us or our subsidiaries on terms with respect to coverage and amounts comparable to the insurance maintained currently by us or our subsidiaries, as applicable.

Filings; Other Actions

The Merger Agreement provides that each party to the Merger Agreement agrees to use reasonable best efforts to assist and cooperate with one another in consummating and making effective, as promptly as practicable, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including using reasonable best efforts to accomplish the following:

- causing the closing conditions (as described in further detail below under "—Conditions to Completion of the Merger") to be satisfied;
- obtaining all necessary actions or nonactions, waivers, consents, clearances, and approvals from governmental entities and non-governmental third parties and making all necessary registrations, notices and filings; and
- obtaining all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties.

The Merger Agreement further provides that Cybex and UM Holdings will:

- cooperate and consult with each other in connection with the making of all such filings and notifications;
- promptly inform each other upon receipt of any material communication from any governmental entity regarding any of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and
- use reasonable best efforts to ensure that no state takeover law or similar law is or will become
 applicable to the Merger Agreement or the Merger, and if such a takeover law becomes applicable, to
 use reasonable best efforts to ensure that the merger may be consummated as promptly as practicable
 on terms contemplated by the Merger Agreement and otherwise minimize the effect of such law on the
 Merger.

Conditions to Completion of the Merger

Conditions to each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

Each party's obligation to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver (unless otherwise provided) of the following conditions on or prior to the closing date of the Merger:

- adoption of the Merger Agreement by Cybex's stockholders at the special meeting (this condition is not waivable);
- Financial Advisor shall not have withdrawn, amended or modified its opinion dated October 17, 2012 to the effect that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view to the public stockholders, including the unaffiliated stockholders, of Cybex (this condition is not waivable);
- there shall not be in effect any statute, regulation, order, decree or judgment of any governmental entity
 which has the effect of making the Merger illegal or prohibiting or preventing the consummation of the
 Merger; and
- Cybex shall have received an opinion, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Cybex, UM Holdings and the Special Committee, from an independent valuation firm to the effect that as of the closing date, the surviving corporation will be solvent (this condition is not waivable).

Conditions to UM Holdings' and Merger Sub's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

The obligation of UM Holdings and Merger Sub to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following additional conditions:

- the representations and warranties of Cybex contained in the Merger Agreement that are qualified as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect must be true and correct, and the representations of Cybex contained in the Merger Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of October 17, 2012 and as of the closing date of the Merger as if made at such time (except that to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, they need only be true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date);
- Cybex must have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it at or prior to the closing date of the Merger;
- any consents or approvals of any third parties required in connection with the execution, delivery and
 performance of the Merger Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions
 contemplated thereby must have been obtained and be in full force and effect, except for any such
 consent or approval which, if not obtained, would not have a Material Adverse Effect;
- the directors of Cybex shall have resigned as directors of Cybex; and
- financing in an amount and on terms substantially consistent with financing commitments described in the Merger Agreement shall be advanced to the surviving corporation at the closing of the Merger.

Conditions to Cybex's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

The obligation of Cybex to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following additional conditions:

• the representations and warranties of UM Holdings and Merger Sub contained in the Merger Agreement that are qualified as to materiality must be true and correct, and the representations of UM Holdings and Merger Sub contained in the Merger Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of October 17, 2012 and as of the closing date of the Merger as if made at such time (except that to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, they need only be true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date); and

UM Holdings and Merger Sub must have performed in all material respects their respective obligations
under the Merger Agreement required to be performed by them at or prior to the closing date of the
Merger.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective time of the Merger, whether before or after the adoption of the Merger Agreement by Cybex's stockholders:

- by mutual written consent of UM Holdings and Cybex; or
- by either UM Holdings or Cybex:
 - if the Merger has not been consummated on or before April 30, 2013 (the "Outside Date"), except that the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason will not be available to any party whose breach of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in the Merger Agreement has (directly or indirectly) in whole or in material part been a cause of or resulted in the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or before the Outside Date;
 - if stockholder approval has not been obtained at the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof; or
 - if any governmental entity has issued or entered an injunction or similar legal restraint or order permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Merger and such injunction, legal restraint or order has become final and non-appealable, except that the party seeking to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason must have used such reasonable best efforts as may be required by the Merger Agreement to prevent, oppose and remove such injunction.

• by UM Holdings:

- if Cybex has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in the Merger Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition to be satisfied by Cybex prior to or at Closing (as described above in "—Conditions to Completion of the Merger"), and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by Cybex prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from UM Holdings, or (B) the Outside Date; except that UM Holdings will not have the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason if it or Merger Sub is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Merger Agreement that would cause any of the conditions to be satisfied by UM Holdings or Merger Sub at or prior to Closing not to be satisfied;
- if the Special Committee or Cybex Board has modified or amended (or publicly proposes to modify or amend) its approval of, or its recommendation that the Cybex stockholders adopt, the Merger Agreement;
- if prior to obtaining approval of the Merger by the Cybex Stockholders, Cybex has approved, recommended or entered into any Competing Transaction, except as provided above in "—No Solicitation of Offers"; or
- if Cybex has failed to use its reasonable best efforts to duly call, convene and hold a meeting of the Cybex stockholders for the purpose of obtaining their approval of the Merger Agreement or Cybex fails to include the Board recommendation in the proxy statement.

by Cybex:

• if UM Holdings or Merger Sub has breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in the Merger Agreement, which breach or failure to

perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition to be satisfied by UM Holdings or Merger Sub prior to or at Closing (as described above in "—Conditions to Completion of the Merger"), and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by UM Holdings or Merger Sub prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Cybex, or (B) the Outside Date; except that Cybex will not have the right to terminate the Merger Agreement for this reason if it is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Merger Agreement that would cause any of the conditions to be satisfied by Cybex at or prior to Closing not to be satisfied; or

if prior to obtaining the required stockholder approval at the stockholders' meeting or at any
adjournment or postponement thereof, the Special Committee has concluded in good faith after
consultation with its legal counsel to approve, recommend or enter into any actual or proposed
acquisition agreement (other than the Merger or the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement) that is permissible under the Merger Agreement (as described above in "—No
Solicitation of Offers").

Effects of Terminating the Merger Agreement

If the Merger Agreement is terminated by either Cybex or UM Holdings as provided above, the Merger Agreement will become void and have no effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of UM Holdings or Cybex or their respective directors, officers or stockholders, other than their respective obligations under the Merger Agreement to hold certain information confidential, to pay certain fees or expenses and to consent to jurisdiction and waiver of certain rights relating to certain legal matters.

Fees and Expenses

Except for Cybex's obligation to pay reasonable expenses incurred by the Special Committee or members of the Cybex Board in connection with the Merger, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger Agreement and the Merger will be paid by the party incurring such expenses whether or not the Merger is consummated.

Amendment of the Merger Agreement and Extension and Waiver

At any time prior to the effective time of the Merger, the Merger Agreement may be amended by Cybex, UM Holdings and Merger Sub by a written instrument signed by each party in accordance with applicable law.

Prior to the effective time of the Merger, any party to the Merger Agreement may, by written instrument signed by such party, (i) extend the time for the performance of any obligation or other act of another party, (ii) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties of another party or (iii) waive compliance with any covenant or agreement of another party or condition to its own obligations (other than those conditions that are not waivable by either party and other than the obligation that holders of two-thirds of the Cybex Common Stock approve the Merger Agreement at a special meeting duly called and held and that the Merger Agreement is approved by holders of a majority of the Common Stock at the special meeting, excluding the shares held by UM Holdings, its subsidiaries and stockholders).

General Provisions

The Merger Agreement is to be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction.

The general provisions section of the Merger Agreement also contains additional provisions regarding the non-survival of representations and warranties, notices, counterparts, third-party beneficiaries, waiver of jury trial, assignment, severability, enforcement of the Merger Agreement and the interpretation and construction of the Merger Agreement.

APPRAISAL RIGHTS

Under New York law, Cybex's stockholders are not entitled to appraisal rights in connection with the Merger.

PROPOSAL NO. 2: PROPOSAL FOR ADJOURNMENTS OR POSTPONEMENTS OF THE SPECIAL MEETING

We are asking Cybex stockholders to vote on a proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies, if necessary or appropriate, if there are insufficient votes at the special meeting to adopt the Merger Agreement. Even though a quorum may be present at the special meeting, it is possible that we may not have received sufficient votes to adopt the Merger Agreement by the time of the special meeting. In that event, we would need to adjourn or postpone the special meeting in order to solicit additional proxies. The adjournment or postponement proposal relates only to any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting for purposes of soliciting additional proxies to obtain stockholder adoption of the Merger Agreement. Any other adjournment of the special meeting (e.g., an adjournment or postponement required because of the absence of a quorum) would be voted upon pursuant to the discretionary authority granted by the proxy.

UM Holdings holds approximately 40% of the outstanding shares of Cybex's Common Stock. John Aglialoro, Joan Carter and UM Holdings, who are related parties, collectively beneficially own 49% of Cybex's Common Stock. There is no assurance that Cybex will receive the approval of more than two-thirds of the outstanding shares or of a majority of the shares of Common Stock, exclusive of those held by the UM Holdings Group. UM Holdings does not have any agreements or understandings with third parties regarding voting at the special meeting.

The approval of a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting would require the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our Common Stock present in person or by proxy and voting at the special meeting. The failure to vote shares of our Common Stock would have no effect on the approval of the adjournment or postponement proposal.

Our board of directors recommends that you vote "FOR" the proposal to approve any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. Properly executed proxies will be voted "FOR" the adjournment or postponement proposal, unless otherwise noted on the proxies.

CERTAIN LITIGATION

Three separate lawsuits, each seeking class action status, have been commenced in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, naming the Company and its directors as defendants: <u>Guziec v. Cybex</u> International, Inc. et al, Turner v. Cybex International, Inc. et al, and Nollett v. Cybex International, Inc. et al.

Each action alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary obligations to our shareholders by entering into the Merger Agreement, seeks an unspecified amount of damages and asks that we be enjoined from proceeding with the Merger.

We believe that these actions are without merit and will vigorously pursue our defense.

MARKET PRICE OF CYBEX COMMON STOCK

Our Common Stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Global Market since November 21, 2006 under the "CYBI" symbol. The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share as reported on the NASDAQ.

Quarter Ended	High	Low
March 27, 2010	\$1.62	\$1.17
June 26, 2010	1.72	1.17
September 25, 2010	1.80	1.34
December 31, 2010	1.65	0.57
March 26, 2011	\$0.89	\$0.65
June 25, 2011	1.32	0.67
September 24, 2011	0.87	0.55
December 31, 2011	1.38	0.36
March 31, 2012	\$3.60	\$0.39
June 30, 2012	3.12	1.60
September 29, 2012	1.83	1.18
To , 2012		

The above quotations represent prices between dealers, do not include retail markups, markdowns or commissions and may not represent actual transactions. As of December 27, 2012, there were approximately record holders of Cybex Common Stock. The Company has not declared or paid any dividends on its Common Stock.

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Set forth below is summarized financial data for the Company as of September 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and the nine months and year then ended, respectively. The financial data for December 31, 2011 and the year then ended has been derived from the audited financial statements contained in the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 (the "2011 10-K"). The financial data for September 29, 2012 and the nine months then ended has been derived from the unaudited financial statements contained in the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2012 (the "2012 10-Q" and together with the 2011 10-K, the "Periodic Reports"). This data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and other financial information contained in the Periodic Reports, including the notes thereto, attached to this proxy statement as Annex C and Annex D. More comprehensive financial information is included in the Periodic Reports, including management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, and other documents we file with the SEC. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Periodic Reports and to other documents and all of the financial information and notes contained in those documents. See "Where You Can Find More Information."

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except per share data)

	September 29, Dece		mber 31,	
	2012	2011	2010	
ASSETS				
Current Assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 2,181	\$ 11,958	\$ 7,030	
\$1,046	18,620	20,251	18,806	
Inventories	14,258	13,584	11,060	
Prepaid expenses and other	1,596	2,070	1,574	
Barnhard litigation related receivable		7,561	15,904	
Total current assets	36,655	55,424	54,374	
Property, plant and equipment, net	27,131	28,194	29,693	
Other assets	827	1,025	1,347	
	\$ 64,613	<u>\$ 84,643</u>	\$ 85,414	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities:				
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 2,061	\$ 1,520	\$ 1,520	
Accounts payable	5,302	5,364	3,913	
Accrued liabilities	12,295	13,674	12,856	
Barnhard litigation reserve		27,004	62,696	
Total current liabilities	19,658	47,562	80,985	
Long-term debt	18,939	12,769	14,289	
Other liabilities	5,579	4,674	5,150	
Total liabilities	44,176	65,005	100,424	
Stockholders' Equity (Deficit): Common stock, \$.10 par value, 30,000 shares authorized, 17,883,				
17,860 and 17,860 issued	1,788	1,786	1,786	
Additional paid-in capital	69,263	69,051	68,880	
Treasury stock, at cost (740 shares)	(2,955)	(2,955)	(2,955)	
Accumulated deficit	(45,883)	(46,229)	(80,484)	
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,776)	(2,015)	(2,237)	
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)	20,437	19,638	(15,010)	
	\$ 64,613	\$ 84,643	\$ 85,414	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (in thousands, except per share data)

	Nine Mon	ths Ended	Year Ended	
	September 29, September 24,		December 31,	
	2012	2011	2011	2010
Net sales	\$102,427	\$97,054	\$140,129	\$122,961
Cost of sales	69,686	63,053	90,221	78,114
Gross profit	32,741	34,001	49,908	44,847
Selling, general and administrative expenses	31,498	30,818	41,671	42,072
Litigation charge (reduction)		3,005	(27,058)	45,991
Total operating expenses	31,498	33,823	14,613	88,063
Operating income (loss)	1,243	178	35,295	(43,216)
Interest expense, net	(946)	781	(1,004)	(1,260)
Income (loss) before income taxes	297	(603)	34,291	(44,476)
Income tax expense (benefit)	(49)	(149)	36	13,761
Net income (loss)	\$ 346	\$ (454)	\$ 34,255	\$(58,237)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.03)	\$ 2.00	\$ (3.40)
Comprehensive income (loss):				
Net income (loss)	\$ 346	\$ (454)	\$ 34,255	\$ (58,237)
Other comprehensive income (loss):				
Foreign currency translation adjustment	(66)	34	33	(48)
Change in fair value of interest rate hedge	305	49	189	(53)
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ 585	\$ (371)	\$ 34,477	<u>\$ (53,338)</u>

The book value of the Company at September 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was \$20,437 and \$19,638, respectively, and its book value per share as of September 29, 2012 was \$1.19. The Company's ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended December 31, 2011 and for the nine months ended September 29, 2012 was 31.3 to 1 and 1.3 to 1, respectively. The Company had a net loss in 2010. Results for each period include litigation charges and adjustments related to a product liability judgment and subsequent settlement.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information with respect to the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company beneficially owned by each person known to us to own beneficially more than 5% of the Common Stock, by each director of the Company, by each of the Named Executive Officers identified in the Company's 2012 proxy statement under the caption "Summary Compensation Table", and by all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group as of the record date, December 27, 2012. Except as otherwise indicated, all shares are owned directly.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class
UM Holdings, Ltd	6,931,328(1)	40.5%
John Aglialoro,	8,493,679(3)(4)	49.4%
Joan Carter, Director(2)	8,493,679(5)	49.4%
Grace & White, Inc.(6) 515 Madison Avenue, Suite 1700 New York, New York 10022	1,470,376	8.2%
Arthur W. Hicks, Jr., Director,	120,346(4)	*
Ray Giannelli,	25,698(4)	*
Edward Kurzontkowski,	25,815(4)	*
Edward Pryts,	65,150(4)	*
James H. Carll, Director	44,346	*
John McCarthy, Director	10,518	*
Harvey Morgan, Director	23,485	*
Robert E. Smyth, Director	23,256	*
Art Curtis, Director	16,667	*
All directors and executive officers as a group (consisting of 12 persons)	8,909,960(4)	51.0%

^{*} Less than 1%

⁽¹⁾ Represents shares owned by its wholly-owned subsidiaries, UM Equity Corp. and UM Investment Corp.

⁽²⁾ Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter's address is the same as UM Holdings, Ltd.

⁽³⁾ Includes (a) 6,931,328 shares beneficially owned by UM Holdings, Ltd., of which Mr. Aglialoro is a principal stockholder, executive officer and director; and (b) 757,192 shares owned by his wife, Joan Carter, as to which beneficial ownership is disclaimed.

⁽⁴⁾ The amount next to the individual's name includes shares which the individual has the right to acquire within sixty days through the exercise of stock options, as follows: Mr. Aglialoro, 60,000 shares; Mr. Hicks, 105,000 shares; Mr. Giannelli, 20,000 shares; Mr. Kurzontkowski, 20,000 shares; Mr. Pryts 65,000 shares.

The number of shares which all directors and executive officers as a group have the right to acquire within sixty days is 331,000 shares of Company Common Stock. In each case the percent of class is calculated on the basis that such shares are deemed outstanding. No voting or investment power exists with respect to shares prior to acquisition. Shares beneficially owned by all directors and executive officers as a group include 6,931,328 shares beneficially owned by UM Holdings, Ltd., of which Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter are principal stockholders.

- (5) Includes (a) 6,931,328 shares beneficially owned by UM Holdings, Ltd., of which Ms. Carter is a principal stockholder, executive officer and director; (b) 755,149 shares owned by her husband, John Aglialoro, as to which beneficial ownership is disclaimed; (c) and 60,000 shares that her husband, John Aglialoro, has the right to acquire within sixty days through the exercise of stock options, as to which beneficial ownership is disclaimed.
- (6) Information is based upon filing made with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of such information.

Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

In considering the recommendation of our Board that you adopt the Merger Agreement, you should be aware that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the transaction that are different from, or are in addition to, your interests as a stockholder. The Board and the Special Committee were aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in reaching the decision to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Merger, and to recommend that you vote in favor of adopting the Merger Agreement.

Arrangements with our Executive Officers Relating to a Change of Control and/or Termination of Employment

The Merger will not constitute a "change of control" as defined under any employment agreement with our executive officers and, accordingly, our executive officers will not receive any special benefit upon the Merger pursuant to their respective employment agreements. The Merger will, however, represent a change of control under our 1995 and 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plans, with the result that all outstanding options and restricted stock will automatically vest upon consummation of the Merger.

Indemnification Under the Merger Agreement

The Merger Agreement provides that all rights to exculpation, indemnification and advancement of expenses existing on the date of the Merger Agreement in favor of current or former directors, officers or employees of Cybex and its subsidiaries under the provisions of their respective organizational documents or other agreements will survive the Merger and continue in full force and effect. For a period of six (6) years after the effective time of the Merger, UM Holdings is required to cause the surviving corporation to honor all provisions for indemnification and advancement of expenses under the organizational documents of Cybex and its subsidiaries, as in effect immediately prior to the Merger, and under the indemnification agreements (in effect on the date of the Merger Agreement) of Cybex and its subsidiaries with their respective directors and officers. The surviving corporation is also required to indemnify (and provide customary advancement of expenses to) the current directors and officers of Cybex and its subsidiaries to the fullest extent permitted by law with respect to any costs, expenses, judgments, fines, losses, claims, settlements, damages and liabilities incurred in connection with any actual or threatened action, proceeding or claim arising out of such person's service as such director or officer or performed at the request of Cybex or any of its subsidiaries. UM Holdings is also required to cause the surviving corporation to maintain in effect directors' and officers' liability insurance for a period of six (6) years after the effective time of the Merger covering each person currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance policy maintained by Cybex or any of its subsidiaries.

Certain Relationships between the UM Holdings Group and Cybex

UM Holdings, John Aglialoro, the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Joan Carter, a Director (collectively, the "UM Holdings Group") together beneficially own approximately 49% of the Company's outstanding Common Stock.

Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter are executive officers, directors and the principal stockholders of UM Holdings. Mr. Aglialoro and Ms. Carter are married. Arthur W. Hicks, Jr., the Company's President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer and a member of its Board, was employed by UM Holdings prior to 2006 and continues to act as its chief financial officer. UM Holdings provides to the Company office space, office support and tax services for which Cybex currently reimburses UM Holdings at the rate of \$180,000 per annum.

Purchases by UM Holdings Group within past two years

There have been no transactions in the Common Stock of Cybex by any member of the UM Holdings Group in the period commencing two years prior to the date of this proxy statement.

SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

We will hold our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders only if the Merger is not consummated because, if the Merger is consummated, we will no longer be a publicly-held company following such consummation. If the Merger is not consummated, we will publicly notify you of the expected date that we plan to print and mail our 2013 annual meeting proxy materials at the time we establish a date for such meeting. In such case, any stockholder wishing to have a proposal considered for inclusion in our 2013 annual meeting proxy solicitation materials must have set forth such proposal in writing and have filed it with the President of Cybex at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053 no later than December 13, 2012. Proposals received after such date would be considered untimely and not be included in our annual meeting proxy solicitation materials (in the event that the Merger is not consummated). If we hold our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, our board of directors will review any timely submitted stockholder proposals which are filed as required and will determine whether such proposals meet applicable criteria for inclusion in our 2013 annual meeting proxy solicitation materials.

OTHER MATTERS

We currently know of no other business that will be presented for consideration at the special meeting. Nevertheless, the enclosed proxy confers discretionary authority to vote with respect to matters described in Rule 14a-4(c) under the Exchange Act, including matters that the Board of Directors does not know, a reasonable time before proxy solicitation, are to be presented at the special meeting. If any of these matters are presented at the special meeting, then the proxy agents named in the enclosed proxy card will vote in accordance with their judgment.

HOUSEHOLDING OF SPECIAL MEETING MATERIALS

Some banks, brokerages and other custodian record holders may be participating in the practice of "householding" proxy statements and annual reports. This means that only one copy of this proxy statement may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. Cybex will promptly deliver a separate copy of this proxy statement to you if you call or write to Cybex at the following address or telephone number: Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, (508) 533-4300. If you want to receive separate copies of this proxy statement, you should contact your bank, broker or other custodian record holder, or you may contact Cybex at the above address and telephone number.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and proxy statements with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, proxy statements or other information that we file with the SEC at the SEC's public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. You also may obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. Our public filings are also available to the public from document retrieval services and the Internet website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov and on our website at www.cybexintl.com under Investor Relations—SEC Filings. The information provided on our website is not part of this proxy statement, and therefore is not incorporated by reference.

Any person, including any beneficial owner, to whom this proxy statement is delivered may request copies of reports, proxy statements or other information concerning us, without charge, by written or telephonic request directed to us at Cybex International, Inc., Attention: President, 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, (508) 533-4300. If you would like to request such documents, please do so by January 30, 2013 in order to receive them before the special meeting.

We are "incorporating by reference" information into this proxy statement, meaning that we are disclosing important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this proxy statement, except to the extent that the information is superseded by information in this proxy statement.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 22, 2012; and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 29, 2012, filed with the SEC on November 5, 2012 are attached to this proxy statement as Annexes C and D, respectively. The following documents contain important information about us and our financial condition and operating results, and are hereby incorporated by reference:

- 1 Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2012 and June 30, 2012, filed with the SEC on May 4, 2012 and August 6, 2012;
- Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 20, 2012, February 15, 2012, February 28, 2012, March 22, 2012, April 24, 2012, May 24, 2012, July 24, 2012, October 18, 2012 and October 23, 2012.

No persons have been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this proxy statement and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or any other person. This proxy statement is dated January 4, 2013. You should not assume that the information contained in this proxy statement is accurate as of any date other than that date, and the mailing of this proxy statement to stockholders shall not create any implication to the contrary.

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

a New York corporation,

CYB MERGER CORP.

a New York corporation,

and

UM HOLDINGS, LTD.

a New Jersey corporation

October 17, 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I	DEFINITIONS	A-1
Section 1.0	Definitions	A-1
Section 1.0	2 Interpretation	A-3
ARTICLE II	THE MERGER	A-3
Section 2.0	The Merger	A-3
Section 2.0	2 Closing	A-3
Section 2.0	Effective Time	A-4
Section 2.0	4 Effect of the Merger	A-4
Section 2.0	Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation	A-4
Section 2.0	6 Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation	A-4
Section 2.0	7 Further Assurances	A-4
ARTICLE III	EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK OF THE	
	CONSTITUENT CORPORATIONS; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES	A-5
Section 3.0	Effect on Capital Stock	A-5
Section 3.0	2 Exchange of Certificates	A-6
Section 3.0	Stock Options; Restricted Stock	A-7
ARTICLE IV	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	A-8
Section 4.0	Organization, Standing and Corporate Power	A-8
Section 4.0	2 Subsidiaries	A-8
Section 4.0	3 Capital Structure	A-8
Section 4.0	4 Authority	A-9
Section 4.0	5 Company SEC Documents	A-9
Section 4.0	6 Operational Matters	A-10
Section 4.0	7 Voting Requirements	A-10
Section 4.0	8 Brokers and Other Advisors	A-11
Section 4.0	9 Opinion of Financial Advisors	A-11
Section 4.1	0 Schedule 13E-3/Proxy Statement; Other Information	A-11
ARTICLE V	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB	A-11
Section 5.0	Organization, Standing and Corporate Power	A-11
Section 5.0	2 Authority; Noncontravention	A-11
Section 5.0	Capital Structure; Operations	A-12
Section 5.0	4 Brokers	A-12
Section 5.0	Schedule 13E-3/Proxy Statement; Other Information	A-12

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
Section 5.06	Absence of Arrangements with Management	A-13
Section 5.07	Access to Information and Investigation by Parent	A-13
Section 5.08	Solvency	A-13
Section 5.09	Financing	A-13
Section 5.10	Vote/Approval Required	A-14
	OVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS; NO DLICITATION; DEBT FINANCING	A-14
Section 6.01	Conduct of Business by the Company	A-14
Section 6.02	No Solicitation of Competing Transactions	A-16
Section 6.03	Financing	A-17
ARTICLE VII AI	DDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	A-18
Section 7.01	Preparation of the Proxy Statement and Schedule 13E-3- Stockholders' Meeting	A-18
Section 7.02	Access to Information; Confidentiality	A-19
Section 7.03	Reasonable Best Efforts	A-19
Section 7.04	Indemnification Exculpation and Insurance	A-21
Section 7.05	Fees and Expenses	A-22
Section 7.06	Public Announcements	A-22
ARTICLE VIII CO	ONDITIONS PRECEDENT	A-22
Section 8.01	Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger	A-22
Section 8.02	Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub	A-23
Section 8.03	Conditions to Obligation of the Company	A-23
Section 8.04	Frustration of Closing Conditions	A-23
ARTICLE IX TI	ERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER	A-24
Section 9.01	Termination	A-24
Section 9.02	Effect of Termination	A-25
Section 9.03	Amendment	A-25
Section 9.04	Extension; Waiver	A-25
Section 9.05	Procedure for Termination or Amendment	A-25
ARTICLE X GI	ENERAL PROVISIONS	A-25
Section 10.01	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties	A-25
Section 10.02	Notices	A-25
Section 10.03	Consents and Approvals	A-26

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
Section 10.04	Counterparts	A-26
Section 10.05	Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries	A-26
Section 10.06	Governing Law	A-26
Section 10.07	Assignment	A-26
Section 10.08	Enforcement; Consent to Jurisdiction	A-27
Section 10.09	Severability	A-27
Section 10.10	No Recourse	A-27
Section 10.11	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	A-27

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

Term	Section
Affiliate	1.01
Agreement	Preamble
Alternative Financing	6.03(b)
Alternative Financing Commitment	6.03(b)
Bank Financing Commitments	5.09(a)
Benefit Plans	1.01
Business Day	1.01
Cancelled Shares	3.01(b)
Capitalization Date	4.03
Certificate	3.01(a)(i)
Certificate of Merger	2.03
Change in Recommendation	6.02(d)
Closing	2.02
Closing Date	2.02
Code	3.02(h)
Company	Preamble
<u>.</u> •	4.04(b)
Company Board Bosommondation	4.04(b) 4.04(b)
Company Bylavia	6.01(a)(iii)
Company Charter	
Company Charter	6.01(a)(iii)
Company Stock	Recitals
Company Information	4.10
Company SEC Documents	4.05(a)
Company Stock Option	3.03(b)
Company Stock Plans	3.03(b)
Company Stock-Based Awards	4.03
Competing Transaction	6.02(c)
Contract	1.01
Converted Shares	3.01(a)
NYBCL	2.01
Effective Time	2.03
Exchange Act	4.05(a)
Exchange Fund	3.02(a)
Expenses	1.01
Filed Company SEC Documents	Article IV
Financial Advisor	4.08
Financing	5.09(a)
Financing Agreements	6.03(b)
Financing Commitments	5.09(a)
Financing Conditions	6.03(a)
GAAP	4.05(b)
Governmental Entity	1.01
Indemnified Party	7.04(a)
Interim Period	6.01(a)
Key Persons	6.01(a)(vii)
Knowledge	1.01
Law	1.01
Liens	4.02

Material Adverse Effect	1.01
Merger	Recitals
Merger Consideration	Recitals
Merger Sub	Preamble
Mezzanine Financing Commitments	5.09(a)
Order	1.01
Outside Date	9.01(b)(i)
Parent	Preamble
Parent Information	5.05
Parent Material Adverse Effect	1.01
Paying Agent	3.02(a)
Person	1.01
Potential Restricted Stock Grants	3.03(c)
Preferred Stock	4.03
Proxy Statement	4.10
Representative	1.01
Schedule 13E-3	4.10
SEC	5.02(b)
Securities Act	4.05(a)
Solvent	5.08
SOX	4.05(a)
Special Committee	Recitals
Stockholder Approval	4.07
Stockholders	3.01
Stockholders' Meeting	7.01(c)
Subsidiary	1.01
Surviving Corporation	2.01
Tax	1.01
Taxing Authority	1.01
Third Party	6.02(a)

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of October 17, 2012, by and among UM HOLDINGS, LTD., a New Jersey corporation ("Parent"), CYB MERGER CORP., a New York corporation ("Merger Sub"), and CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC., a New York corporation (the "Company").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company and of Merger Sub, and a special committee of the board of directors of the Company (the "Special Committee"), each has approved and declared advisable, and the board of directors of Parent has approved, this Agreement and the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company, with the Company continuing as the surviving corporation in the merger (the "Merger"), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, whereby each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value \$0.10 per share, of the Company (the "Company Stock"), owned by the Public Stockholders (as defined below), will be converted into the right to receive Two Dollars and Fifty-Five Cents (\$2.55) in cash, per share, without interest (the "Merger Consideration"); and

WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger, and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:

- (a) "Affiliate" of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person. For purposes hereof, "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person by virtue of ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
- (b) "Benefit Plans" means all employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended) and all employment benefit, compensation, stock option, stock purchase, restricted stock, deferred compensation, retiree medical or life insurance, split dollar insurance, supplemental retirement, severance, change of control, fringe benefit, bonus, incentive, employee loan or other employee benefit, arrangements, plans, policies or programs, in each case, which are provided, maintained, contributed to or sponsored by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on behalf of current or former directors, officers, employees, or consultants or for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any liability, contingent or otherwise.
- (c) "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the banks in New York, New York are authorized by Law or executive order to be closed.

- (d) "Contract" means any contracts, agreements, arrangements, leases, licenses, obligations, commitments and undertakings, whether written or oral, express or implied.
- (e) "Expenses" means with respect to any party hereto, all reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses (including counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants of the party, and filing and related fees) incurred by such party on its behalf in connection with or related to authorization, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, inter alia, the organization of Merger Sub and the preparation of the Proxy Statement and Schedule 13E-3, as applicable.
- (f) "Governmental Entity" means any of the following: (i) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature; (ii) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; or (iii) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental, regulatory or administrative body, division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, organization, unit, body or entity and any court or other tribunal).
- (g) "Knowledge" means, with respect to any matter in question, the actual knowledge of the Company's Chief Executive Officer, as well as that knowledge that a reasonably prudent Chief Executive Officer of a public reporting company would have pertaining to such matter in the course of performing his duties in a reasonable and diligent manner.
- (h) "Law" means, any federal, state, local, provincial or foreign statutory or common law, and any ordinance, rule or regulation of a Governmental Entity.
- (i) "Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, circumstance, change, occurrence or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other facts, circumstances, changes, occurrences or effects, (1) is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (2) that would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the ability of the Company to consummate the Merger, except for any such facts, circumstances, changes, occurrences or effects arising out of or relating to (i) the announcement or the existence of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, or actions by Parent or the Company required to be taken pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) changes in general economic or political conditions or the financial markets (so long as the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are not disproportionately affected thereby), (iii) changes in applicable Laws, rules, regulations or orders of any Governmental Entity or interpretations thereof by any Governmental Entity or changes in accounting rules or principles (so long as the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are not disproportionately affected thereby), (iv) changes affecting generally the industries in which the Company or its Subsidiaries conduct business so long as the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are not disproportionately affected thereby) or (v) any outbreak or escalation of hostilities or war or any act of terrorism (so long as the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are not disproportionately affected thereby).
- (j) "Order" means any decree, order, judgment, ruling, writ, award, injunction, stipulation or consent of or by a Governmental Entity.
- (k) "Parent Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, circumstance, change, occurrence, or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other facts, circumstances, changes, occurrences or effects, would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (l) "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization, or other entity.
- (m) "Public Stockholders" means all of the Stockholders other than Parent, the stockholders of Parent or the Subsidiaries of Parent.

- (n) "Representative" means any officer, employee, counsel, investment banker, accountant, consultant, debt financing source, or other authorized representative of any Person.
- (o) "Subsidiary" of any Person means another Person of which such first Person directly or indirectly owns an amount of the voting securities, other voting rights or voting partnership interests sufficient to elect at least a majority of its board of directors or other governing body (or, if there are no such voting interests, 50% or more of the equity interests thereof).
- (p) "Tax" means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, property, sales, use license, excise, franchise employment, payroll, withholding, alternative or add on minimum, ad valorem, transfer or excise tax, or any other tax, custom, duty, governmental fee or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever (including withholding on amounts paid to or by any Person), together with any related interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount.
- (q) "Taxing Authority" means any federal, state, local or foreign government, any subdivision, agency, commission or authority thereof, or any quasi-governmental body exercising tax regulatory authority.

Section 1.02 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to an "Article," or a "Section," such reference shall be to an Article or a Section of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include", "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." The words "hereof', "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any Contract, instrument or Law defined or referred to herein or in any Contract or instrument that is referred to herein means such Contract, instrument or Law as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of Contracts or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of Laws) by succession of comparable successor Laws and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement; consequently, in the event of an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

THE MERGER

Section 2.01 The Merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York (the "NYBCL"), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company at the Effective Time, as defined below. At the Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation in the Merger (the "Surviving Corporation") and shall succeed to and assume all of the rights and obligations of Merger Sub and the Company in accordance with the NYBCL.

Section 2.02 Closing. Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") will take place at 10:00 a.m. on a date to be specified by the parties, which shall be no later than the third Business Day after satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by

applicable Law) waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waiver of those conditions), at the offices of Archer & Greiner, PC, 1 Centennial Square, Haddonfield, NJ, at 10:00 am (local time), unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by Parent and the Company; provided, however, that if all the conditions set forth in Article VIII shall no longer be satisfied or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waived on such third Business Day, then the Closing shall take place on the first Business Day on which all such conditions shall again have been satisfied or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waived unless another time is agreed to in writing by Parent and the Company. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to as the "Closing Date."

Section 2.03 Effective Time. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, upon consummation of the Closing, the parties shall file with the Secretary of State of the State of New York a certificate of merger regarding the Merger (the "Certificate of Merger") in accordance with the relevant provisions of the NYBCL and, as soon as practicable on or after the Closing Date, shall make or cause to be made all other filings or recordings required under the NYBCL in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become effective upon the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of New York, or at such later time as Parent and the Company shall agree in writing and specify in the Certificate of Merger (the time the Merger becomes effective being the "Effective Time").

Section 2.04 Effect of the Merger. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the NYBCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, all of the properties, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.05 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

- (a) The certificate of incorporation of the Company in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be amended as of the Effective Time as a result of the Merger as provided in this Section 2.05, and as so amended and restated, shall be the Surviving Corporation's certificate of incorporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.
 - (i) Article Third of the certificate of incorporation is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
 - "THIRD: The total number of shares which the Corporation shall have the authority to issue is one hundred thousand (100,000), which shall be Common Shares of the par value one cents (\$.01) per share."
- (b) The by-laws of the Company, as in effect as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be amended and restated as of the Effective Time so as to read in their entirety as the by-laws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (except the references to Merger Sub's name shall be replaced by references to Cybex International, Inc.) and, as so amended and restated, shall be the Surviving Corporation's by-laws until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

Section 2.06 Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation. From and after the Effective Time, the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be. From and after the Effective Time, the officers of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be.

Section 2.07 Further Assurances. If at any time after the Effective Time the Surviving Corporation shall consider or be advised that any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances or any other acts or things are necessary, desirable or proper (i) to vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Surviving Corporation its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the rights, privileges, powers, franchises, properties or assets of either

Merger Sub or the Company or both, or (ii) otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the Surviving Corporation and its proper officers and directors or their designees shall be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of either Merger Sub or the Company or both, all such deeds, bills of sale, assignments and assurances and to do, in the name and on behalf of either Merger Sub or the Company, all such other acts and things as may be necessary, desirable or proper to vest, perfect or confirm the Surviving Corporation's right, title or interest in, to, or under any of the rights, privileges, powers, franchises, properties or assets of Merger Sub and the Company, and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK OF THE CONSTITUENT CORPORATIONS; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

Section 3.01 Effect on Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, or the holder of any shares of Company Stock (collectively, the "Stockholders") or of any other of the following securities:

(a) Conversion of Company Stock.

- (i) Subject to Section 3.01(d), each share of Company Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time owned by the Public Stockholders shall be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration on the terms set forth in this Agreement (the "Converted Shares"). As of the Effective Time, subject to Section 3.01(d), all of the Converted Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate or uncertificated shares representing Company Stock which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented any such Converted Shares (each a "Certificate") shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration to be issued or paid in consideration therefor upon surrender of such Certificate and other required documentation in accordance with Section 3.02 (c). The right of any holder of a Certificate to receive the Merger Consideration shall be subject to and reduced by the amount of any withholding that is required under applicable tax Law.
- (ii) The shares of Company Stock that are owned, directly or indirectly, by Parent, Merger Sub or Parent's Subsidiaries or stockholders immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive one (1) share of the common stock of the Surviving Corporation for every one hundred (100) shares of Company Common Stock owned by such person, with any fractional share rounded up to the next whole number.
- (b) Cancellation of Certain Stock. Each share of Company Stock that is held in the treasury of the Company (the "Cancelled Shares") shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefore.
- (c) Capital Stock of Merger Sub. Each share of capital stock of Merger Sub that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefore.
- (d) Certain Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, (i) the outstanding shares of Company Stock shall have been changed into a different number of shares or a different class, by reason of the occurrence or record date of any stock dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, combination, exchange of shares or similar transaction, (ii) a stock dividend or dividend payable in any other securities of the Company shall be declared with a record date within such period, or (iii) any similar event shall have occurred, then in any such case the Merger Consideration shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect such action; provided, however that nothing in this Section 3.01(d) shall be construed to permit the Company to take any action with respect to its securities that is prohibited by the terms of this Agreement.

Section 3.02 Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) Paying Agent. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall designate and enter into an agreement with a bank, trust company or transfer agent that is reasonably satisfactory to the Company to act as paying agent (the "Paying Agent") for the payment of the Merger Consideration. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or cause the Surviving Corporation to deposit, with the Paying Agent, for the benefit (from and after the Effective Time) of the holders of Certificates, cash in an amount sufficient to pay the aggregate Merger Consideration required to be paid pursuant to Section 3.01(a). All cash deposited with the Paying Agent pursuant to this Section 3.02(a) shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Exchange Fund."
- (b) Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to mail to each holder of record of a Certificate (i) a form of letter of transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates to the Paying Agent, and which shall be in customary form and have such other provisions as Parent may reasonably specify), and (ii) instructions for effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration. Each holder of record of one or more Certificates shall, upon surrender to the Paying Agent of such Certificate or Certificates, together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Paying Agent, be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the amount of cash to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 3.01(a), and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Company Stock which is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, payment of the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Section 3.02(b) may be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered if such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer (and accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer) and the Person requesting such payment shall pay any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the payment of the Merger Consideration to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate. No payment of Merger Consideration shall be paid to any holder of a Certificate with respect to the Converted Shares represented by such Certificate until the holder of such Certificate shall have surrendered such Certificate in accordance with this Article III. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 3.02(b), each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration to which such holder is entitled to receive in respect of such Certificate pursuant to this Article III. Following the surrender of any Certificate, there shall be paid to the record holder of the Certificate representing whole shares of Company Stock issued in exchange therefor, without interest, at the time of such surrender, the Merger Consideration payable in respect therefor in accordance with this Article III. No interest shall be paid or will accrue on any payment to holders of Certificates pursuant to the provisions of this Article III.
- (c) No Further Ownership Rights in Company Stock. The Merger Consideration paid upon the surrender of Certificates in accordance with the terms of this Article III shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the shares of Company Stock formerly represented by such Certificates. At the close of business on the day on which the Effective Time occurs, the share transfer books of the Company shall be closed, and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the share transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of the Company Stock. If, after the Effective Time, any Certificate is presented to the Surviving Corporation or Parent for transfer, it shall be canceled against delivery of the Merger Consideration as provided in this Article III.
- (d) Termination of the Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund which remains undistributed to the holders of the Certificates for twelve (12) months after the Effective Time shall, upon the demand of Parent, be delivered to the Surviving Corporation. Any holders of the Certificates who have not theretofore complied with this Article III shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation for payment of their claim for the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Article III.
- (e) No Liability. None of Parent, the Company, the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent or any of their respective Affiliates shall be liable to any Person in respect of any Merger Consideration properly delivered

to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. If any Certificate shall not have been surrendered immediately prior to the date on which any Merger Consideration would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity, any such Merger Consideration shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the Surviving Corporation, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

- (f) Investment of Exchange Fund. The Paying Agent shall invest the cash included in the Exchange Fund as directed by Parent prior to the Effective Time and by the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Time; provided, that, such investments shall be in obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality thereof and backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, in commercial paper obligations rated A-1 or P-1 or better by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively, or in deposit accounts, certificates of deposit or banker's acceptances of, repurchase or reverse repurchase contracts with, or Eurodollar time deposits purchased from, commercial banks with capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating in excess of \$500 million (based on the most recent financial statements of such bank which are then publicly available). If for any reason (including losses) the cash in the Exchange Fund shall be insufficient to fully satisfy all of the payment obligations to be made in cash by the Paying Agent hereunder, the Surviving Corporation shall promptly deposit or cause to be deposited into the Exchange Fund an amount in cash which is equal to such deficiency in order to fully satisfy such cash payment obligations. Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall be payable to Parent prior to the Effective Time and to the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Time.
- (g) Lost Certificates. If any Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, the entering into of an indemnity or the posting of a bond (in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct) as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Paying Agent shall deliver in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration to which the holder thereof is entitled pursuant to this Article III.
- (h) Withholding Rights. The Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of Certificates such amounts as the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or any provision of state, local or foreign tax Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and paid over to the appropriate Taxing Authority by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of Certificates in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent.

Section 3.03 Stock Options; Restricted Stock.

- (a) In accordance with the Company Stock Plans, upon the Effective Time, each unvested Company Stock Option that is then outstanding shall immediately become fully vested and exercisable. Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall take all necessary steps under the Company Stock Plans to (i) cancel, immediately prior to the Effective Time, each then-outstanding Company Stock Option (provided that, if deemed necessary or appropriate, the Company may obtain from the holder of such Company Stock Option any consent, in writing, confirming such cancellation), in exchange for an amount in cash (less any applicable withholding required by Law) payable at or as soon as practicable after the Effective Time, equal to the product of (A) the total number of shares of Company Stock underlying such Company Stock Option and (B) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration over the per share exercise price of such Company Stock Option, and (ii) make any amendments to the Company Stock Plans that may be necessary or desirable to implement the foregoing.
- (b) For purposes of this Agreement, "Company Stock Option" means any option or right to purchase Company Stock granted under one or more of the Company Stock Plans. "Company Stock Plans" mean the Company 1995 Omnibus Incentive Plan and the 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

(c) Senior officers of the Company are eligible to receive a portion of the bonus that may become payable under the 2012 Management Incentive Compensation Bonus Program in restricted stock (the "Potential Restricted Stock Grants"). Promptly after the date hereof, the Company shall take all necessary steps in order to obtain from each such officer his agreement that, subject to the consummation of the Merger, any such bonus that becomes payable shall be paid solely in cash.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except (i) as disclosed in the Company SEC Documents filed by the Company and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement ("Filed Company SEC Documents") (other than any forward-looking disclosures set forth in any risk factor section, any disclosures in any section relating to forward-looking statements and any other disclosures included therein to the extent they are primarily predictive, cautionary or forward-looking in nature), and provided that, in no event shall any disclosure in any Filed Company SEC Documents qualify or limit the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Sections 4.03 or 4.04, or (ii) to the extent that the Chief Executive Officer or the President/Chief Operating Officer/Chief Financial Officer of the Company has Knowledge otherwise, the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

Section 4.01 Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries is validly existing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, as the case may be. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority and possesses all governmental licenses, permits, authorizations and approvals necessary to enable it to use its corporate or other name and to own, lease or otherwise hold and operate its properties and other assets and to carry on its business as currently conducted, except where the failure to have such power, authority, licenses, permits, authorizations and approvals would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.02 Subsidiaries. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each Subsidiary of the Company have been duly authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable and are directly or indirectly owned by the Company, free and clear of all pledges, liens, charges, encumbrances or security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever (collectively, "Liens"), other than Liens imposed by or arising under applicable Law, Liens which may be imposed pursuant to the Financings and Liens which are not material, and free of any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other equity interests. Except as set forth in the Filed Company SEC Documents and except for the capital stock of, or voting securities or equity interests in, its Subsidiaries, the Company does not own, directly or indirectly, as of the date of this Agreement, any capital stock of, or other voting securities or equity interests in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, association or other entity, or any options, warrants, rights or securities convertible, exchangeable or exercisable therefor.

Section 4.03 Capital Structure. The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share (the "Preferred Stock"), and 30,000,000 shares of Company Stock. At the close of business on September 29, 2012 (the "Capitalization Date"), (i) 17,143,050 shares of Company Stock were issued and outstanding, (ii) 611,125 shares of Company Stock were subject to outstanding Company Stock Options with a weighted average exercise price of \$2.36 per share, (iii) 75,000 shares of Company Stock were subject to an outstanding warrant (the "Warrant") with an exercise price of \$0.10 per share, and (iv) no shares of Preferred Stock were issued or outstanding. Except as set forth above, at the close of business on the Capitalization Date, no shares of capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests of the Company were issued, reserved for issuance (other than with respect to such shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of Company Stock Options and the Warrant) or outstanding. There are no outstanding stock appreciation rights, "phantom" stock rights, restricted stock units, performance units, rights to receive shares of Company Stock on a deferred basis or other rights (other than Company Stock Options and the Potential Restricted Stock Grants) that

are linked to the value of Company Stock (collectively, "Company Stock-Based Awards"). The Company has provided or made available to Parent a true and complete list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each outstanding Company Stock Option and the exercise price thereof. The Company Stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market. All Company Stock Options were issued under the Company Stock Plans. All outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company are, and all shares which may be issued pursuant to the Company Stock Options will be, when issued in accordance with the terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to preemptive rights. There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which stockholders of the Company may vote. Except as set forth above in this Section 4.03 and except for issuances of shares of Company Stock pursuant to the exercise of Company Stock Options or the Warrant, (A) there are not issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding (1) any shares of capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests of the Company, (2) any securities of the Company convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests of the Company, (3) any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from the Company, and no obligation of the Company to issue, any capital stock, voting securities, equity interests or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for capital stock or voting securities of the Company, or (4) any Company Stock-Based Awards, and (B) there are not any outstanding obligations of the Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock, equity interests or other securities or to register, issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any such shares of capital stock, equity interests or other securities. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any voting Contract with respect to the voting of any such securities.

Section 4.04 Authority.

- (a) Power and Authority. The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and, subject to receipt of the Stockholder Approval and the governmental filings and other matters referred to in the last sentence of this Section 4.04(a), to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company or any filing under the pre-notification rules under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, subject, in the case of the consummation of the Merger, to the obtaining of the Stockholder Approval. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity.
- (b) Board Resolutions. Upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, the board of directors of the Company (the "Company Board"), at a meeting duly called and held, duly adopted resolutions (i) approving and declaring this Agreement and the Merger advisable and fair to and in the best interest of the Company and the Public Stockholders, and (ii) recommending that the Stockholders adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger, which resolutions, as of the date of this Agreement, have not been subsequently rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way (the "Company Board Recommendation"). The members of the Company Board who are not Affiliates of the Parent or the Merger Sub unanimously approved the Merger.

Section 4.05 Company SEC Documents.

(a) SEC Filings. The Company has filed with or furnished to the SEC, on a timely basis, all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits and other information incorporated therein)

required to be filed or furnished by the Company since January 1, 2008 (such documents, together with any documents filed during such period by the Company with the SEC on a voluntary basis on Current Reports on Form 8-K, the "Company SEC Documents"). As of their respective filing dates, or, if revised, amended, supplemented or superseded by a later-filed Company SEC Document filed prior to the date of this Agreement, as of the date of filing of the last such revision, amendment, supplement or superseding filing, the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with, to the extent in effect at the time of filing, the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the "Securities Act"), the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the "Exchange Act") and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, "SOX") applicable to such Company SEC Documents, and none of the Company SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. None of the Company SEC Documents (as revised, amended, supplemented or superseded by a later-filed Company SEC Document) contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, which individually or in the aggregate would require an amendment, supplement or corrective filing to such Company SEC Documents.

(b) Financial Statements. Each of the financial statements (including the related notes) of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents complied at the time it was filed in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto in effect at the time of filing, had been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP") (except as otherwise noted therein and, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) other than (i) liabilities or obligations reflected or reserved against on the balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2012 included in the Filed Company SEC Documents (including the notes thereto), (ii) liabilities or obligations incurred after June 30, 2012 in the ordinary course of business, (iii) liabilities incurred in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby or (iv) liabilities or obligations which would not have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Subsidiaries of the Company are, or have at any time been, subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Section 4.06 Operational Matters. Since January 1, 2012, except as contemplated herein, the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses only in the ordinary course of business. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in the Company SEC Documents, since January 1, 2012, there has not been any event, fact, violation, circumstance or other matter that has or have had, or would be reasonably expected to, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with, and has not received notice of any violation of, any applicable Law or Order of any Governmental Entity, whereby the effect of any such violation would be reasonably expected to, either individually or in the aggregate, cause a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.07 Voting Requirements. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Parent and Merger Sub in Article V, the only votes of Stockholders required by law or this Agreement to approve this Agreement and the Merger at the Stockholders' Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, are as follows (the votes in clauses (a) and (b) below, collectively, the "Stockholder Approval"):

(a) the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company Stock; and

(b) the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Stock held by the Public Stockholders.

Section 4.08 Brokers and Other Advisors. Except for Duff & Phelps Securities, LLC (the "Financial Advisor"), no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's or financial advisor's fees or commissions in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company. The Company has delivered to Parent true, complete and accurate copies of all written agreements entered into on or prior to the date of this Agreement with the Financial Advisor under which any fees or expenses are payable and all indemnification and contribution related to its engagement are set forth therein.

Section 4.09 Opinion of Financial Advisors. On October 17, 2012, the Special Committee received the opinion of the Financial Advisor to the effect that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Public Stockholders.

Section 4.10 Schedule 13E-3/Proxy Statement; Other Information. None of the information provided by the Company for inclusion in the Schedule 13E-3 or the Proxy Statement (the "Company Information") will, in the case of the Schedule 13E-3, as of the date of its filing and of each amendment or supplement thereto and, in the case of the Proxy Statement, (i) at the time of the mailing of the Proxy Statement or any amendments or supplements thereto, and (ii) at the time of the Stockholders' Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information that is contained or incorporated by reference in the Schedule 13E-3 or the Proxy Statement other than with respect to the Company Information as forth in this Section 4.10. The Proxy Statement will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act.

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

Section 5.01 Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is validly existing under the laws of the States of New Jersey and New York, respectively. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has made available to the Company true, complete and accurate copies of its respective certificate of incorporation and bylaws. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease its respective properties and to carry on its respective business as it is now being conducted, and is duly qualified or licensed to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its respective business or the properties owned, operated or leased by it makes such qualification, licensing or good standing necessary, except where the failure to have such power, authority or to be so qualified, licensed or in good standing, would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.02 Authority; Noncontravention

(a) Power and Authority. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary entity action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub and no other proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub (other than approval by Parent as the sole stockholder of

Merger Sub, such approval, if not already obtained, to occur immediately after the execution of this Agreement) are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity.

(b) No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and compliance by Parent and Merger Sub with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, require consent under, or give rise to a right of, or result in, termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under, or result in the creation of any Lien in or upon any of the properties or other assets of Parent or Merger Sub under (i) the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) any Contract to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or any of their respective properties or other assets are subject (including any credit facilities or agreements and any other indebtedness arrangements), or (iii) subject to the governmental filings and other matters referred to in the following sentence, any Laws and Orders applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or their respective properties or other assets, other than, in the case of the immediately preceding clauses (ii) and (iii), any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults, consents, rights of termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration, losses or Liens that would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. No consent, approval, order or authorization of, action by or in respect of, or registration, declaration, notice to or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required by or with respect to Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent or Merger Sub or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for (x) the filing of (1) an amendment to the Schedule 13D of Parent and (2) the Schedule 13E-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), (y) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of New York and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of the other states in which Parent and Merger Sub are qualified to do business, and (z) such other consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, actions, registrations, declarations, notices and filings the failure of which to be obtained or made would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.03 Capital Structure; Operations. The authorized capital stock of Merger Sub consists of 1,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, all of which are issued and outstanding and owned by Parent. Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and has not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.04 Brokers. No broker, investment banker or financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's fees or commissions in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub.

Section 5.05 Schedule 13E-3/Proxy Statement; Other Information. None of the information provided by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to itself for inclusion in the Schedule 13E-3 or the Proxy Statement (the "Parent Information") will, in the case of the Schedule 13E-3, as of the date of its filing and of each amendment or supplement thereto and, in the case of the Proxy Statement, (i) at the time of the mailing of the Proxy Statement or any amendments or supplements thereto and (ii) at the time of the Stockholders' Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent and Merger Sub make no representation or warranty with respect to any information that is contained or incorporated by reference in the Proxy Statement or the Schedule 13E-3 other than with respect to the Parent Information as set forth in this Section 5.05.

Section 5.06 Absence of Arrangements with Management. Except for this Agreement, as of the date of this Agreement, there are no contracts, undertakings, commitments, agreements or obligations or understandings between Parent or any of its Affiliates (other than the Company), on one hand, and or any member of the Company's management or Board or any Stockholder (other than Parent, Parent's Subsidiaries or Parent's stockholders), relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.07 Access to Information and Investigation by Parent. Parent and its Representatives have received access to such books and records, facilities, equipment, Contracts and other assets of the Company which it and its Representatives, as of the date hereof, have requested to review, and that it and its Representatives have had full opportunity to meet with officers and other Representatives of the Company for the purpose of investigating and obtaining information regarding the Company's business, operations and legal affairs. Parent has conducted its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, operations, assets, liabilities, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries, which investigation, review and analysis was done by Parent and, to the extent Parent deemed appropriate, by Parent's Representatives. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, none of the Company or its Subsidiaries nor any of their respective Representatives or any other person has made a representation or warranty to Parent with respect to (i) any projections, estimates or budgets for the Company or its Subsidiaries or (ii) any material, documents or information relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries made available to Parent, except as expressly and specifically covered by a representation or warranty set forth in Article IV.

Section 5.08 Solvency. Assuming the satisfaction of the conditions to the obligation of Parent to consummate the Merger, or the waiver of such conditions, and the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Article IV hereof, then immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including payment of all amounts required to be paid in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and payment of all related fees and expenses, each of the Parent and the Surviving Corporation will be Solvent. For purposes of this Section 5.09, the term "Solvent" with respect to any Person means that, as of any date of determination, (i) the amount of the "fair saleable value" of the assets of such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, exceeds, as of such date, the sum of (A) the value of all "liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, including contingent liabilities valued at the amount that is reasonably expected to become due", as of such date, as such quoted terms are generally determined in accordance with applicable Laws governing determinations of the insolvency of debtors, and (B) the amount that will be required to pay the liabilities that are reasonably expected to become due of such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, on its existing debts (including contingent liabilities) as such debts become absolute and matured, (ii) such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, will not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of their businesses in which they are engaged or proposed to be engaged by Parent following such date, and (iii) such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, will be able to pay their liabilities, including contingent and other liabilities, as they mature. For purposes of this definition, "not have an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of the businesses in which they are engaged or proposed to be engaged" and "able to pay its liabilities, including contingent and other liabilities, as they mature" means that such Person and its Subsidiaries will be able to generate enough cash from operations, asset dispositions or refinancing, or a combination thereof, to satisfy as they become due.

Section 5.09 Financing.

(a) Parent and the Company have received true, accurate and complete copies of term sheets from (i) RBS Citizens, NA (collectively, the "Bank Financing Commitments"), and (ii) Massachusetts Capital Resource Company (collectively, the "Mezzanine Financing Commitments" and, together with the Bank Financing Commitments, the "Financing Commitments") pursuant to which such lenders have agreed, subject only to the terms and conditions set forth therein, to provide or cause to be provided to the Company financing in the amounts set forth therein for the purposes of financing the Merger and related fees and expenses and the other purposes set forth therein (the "Financing").

(b) As of the date of this Agreement, (i) none of the Financing Commitments have been amended, supplemented or modified, in any respect, and (ii) the respective commitments contained in the Financing Commitments have not been withdrawn, terminated or rescinded, in any respect. Each of the Financing Commitments, in the form so delivered, is (x) in full force and effect as of the date hereof and (y) a valid and binding obligation of the Company, Parent and/or Merger Sub, as applicable, and, to Parent's knowledge, each of the other parties thereto. There are no conditions precedent or other contingencies related to the funding of the full amount of the Financing, other than as set forth in the Financing Commitments. No event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would constitute a breach or default on the part of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub under any term or condition of the Financing Commitments. Parent is unaware of any fact or occurrence existing on the date hereof that (with or without notice, lapse of time, or both) would reasonably be expected to (w) make any of the assumptions or any of the statements set forth in the Financing Commitments inaccurate in any material respect, (x) result in any of the conditions in the Financing Commitments not being satisfied, (y) cause any of the Financing Commitments to cease to be in full force and effect, or (z) otherwise result in the funding contemplated by the Financing Commitments not being available by the Outside Date in order to consummate the Merger. The Company, Parent and/or Merger Sub have fully paid any and all commitment fees or other fees required by the Financing Commitments to be paid on or before the date of this Agreement, if any. The Financing Commitments contain all of the conditions precedent to the obligations of the parties thereunder to make the Financing available to the Company, Parent and/or Merger Sub on the terms therein. Subject to the terms and conditions of each of the Financing Commitments and this Agreement, the aggregate proceeds contemplated by the Financing Commitments, together with the cash projected to be on hand of the Company at the Effective Time, will be sufficient to pay the aggregate Merger Consideration and any other amounts required to be paid in connection with the consummation of the Merger, to make any repayment or refinancing of indebtedness contemplated in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and to pay all related fees and expenses.

Section 5.10 Vote/Approval Required. No vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of capital stock in Parent is necessary to approve this Agreement and the Merger. The vote or consent of Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, has been given and is the only vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Merger Sub necessary to approve this Agreement and the Merger. Neither Parent, Merger Sub nor any other party has entered into or granted any voting trusts, stockholders' agreements, proxies or other similar instruments with respect to any voting securities of Merger Sub.

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS; NO SOLICITATION; DEBT FINANCING

Section 6.01 Conduct of Business by the Company.

(a) During Interim Period. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.01 or the Effective Time (the "Interim Period"), except as contemplated by this Agreement or as consented to in writing in advance by Parent, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, carry on its business in all material respects in the ordinary course and, to the extent consistent therewith, use all commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact its current business organizations, to keep available the services of its current officers, key employees and consultants and to preserve its relationships with customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees, distributors and others having business dealings with it. In addition to and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the Interim Period, except as contemplated by this Agreement, the Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, without Parent's prior written consent (which Parent may provide or withhold in its reasonable discretion):

(i) (A) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of, any of its capital stock, other than dividends or distributions by a direct or

indirect Subsidiary wholly-owned by the Company to the Company or another directly or indirectly wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (B) split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, or (C) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or any other securities thereof or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities:

- (ii) issue, deliver, sell, grant, pledge or otherwise encumber or subject to any Lien any shares of its capital stock, any other voting securities or any securities convertible into, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, voting securities or convertible securities, or any "phantom" stock, "phantom" stock rights, stock appreciation rights or stock based performance units (other than the issuance of shares of Company Stock upon the exercise of Company Stock Options or the Warrant or as required pursuant to Contracts as in effect on the date of this Agreement in accordance with their respective terms on the date of this Agreement);
- (iii) amend or waive any provision in the Company Charter or the Company Bylaws or other comparable charter or organizational documents of any of the Company's Subsidiaries, except as may be required by applicable Law or the rules and regulations of the SEC or, in the case of the Company, enter into any agreement with any of its Stockholders in their capacity as such;
- (iv) directly or indirectly acquire, (A) by merging or consolidating with, by purchasing a substantial portion of the assets of, by making an investment in or capital contribution to, or by any other manner, any Person or division, business or equity interest of any Person, or (B) any material asset or assets, except for capital expenditures;
- (v) (A) incur, create, assume or otherwise become liable for, any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness of another Person, issue or sell any debt securities or calls, options, warrants or other rights to acquire any debt securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, guarantee any debt securities of another Person, enter into any "keep well" or other Contract to maintain any financial statement condition of another Person or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing (other than borrowings under the Company's existing loan facilities in the ordinary course of business), or (B) make any loans or advances to any other Person, except for loans, advances, capital contributions or investments between any Subsidiary of the Company and the Company or another Subsidiary of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (vi) except as required by Law or any judgment, (A) pay, discharge, settle or satisfy any material claims, liabilities, obligations or litigation (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise), other than the payment, discharge, settlement or satisfaction in the ordinary course of business or in accordance with their terms, of liabilities disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the most recent financial statements (or the notes thereto) of the Company included in the Filed Company SEC Documents (for amounts not in excess of such reserves), or (B) cancel any material indebtedness;
- (vii) except (x) as required to ensure that any Benefit Plan is not then out of compliance with applicable Law, or (y) to comply with any Benefit Plan or Contract entered into prior to the date of this Agreement, (A) adopt, enter into, terminate or amend (1) any collective bargaining Contract or Benefit Plan or (2) any other Contract, plan or policy involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as applied to directors and executive officers of the Company ("Key Persons") or (B) increase in any manner the compensation, bonus or fringe or other benefits of, or pay any discretionary bonus of any kind or amount whatsoever to, any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries other than Key Persons.
- (viii) adopt or enter into a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of such entity (other than among wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company); or

- (ix) authorize any of, or commit, resolve, propose or agree to take any of, the foregoing actions.
- (b) Advice of Changes; Filings. The Company, on the one hand, and Parent and Merger Sub, on the other hand, shall promptly advise the other party in writing if (i) any representation, warranty, condition or agreement made by it contained in this Agreement becomes untrue or inaccurate in a manner that would result in the failure of any one more of the conditions set forth in Section 8.02(a) or 8.02 (b) or Section 8.03(a) or 8.03(b), and (ii) the Company or Parent or Merger Sub fails to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; provided, however, that no such notification shall affect the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of the parties (or remedies with respect thereto) or the conditions precedent to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement.
- (c) Confidential Portions of Governmental Entity Filings. The Company and Parent shall, to the extent permitted by Law, promptly provide the other with copies of all filings made by such party with any Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than the portions of such filings that include confidential or proprietary information not directly related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Actions Taken at Direction of CEO. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not be deemed to be in breach of any agreement, covenant or obligation hereunder including, without limitation, those set forth in Articles VI and VII hereof, if the alleged breach is the proximate result of action taken by the Company at the direction or with the active participation of its Chief Executive Officer or the President/Chief Operating Officer/Chief Financial Officer without the approval or direction of the Company Board (including the affirmative vote or written consent of each of the members of the Special Committee) or the Special Committee.

Section 6.02 No Solicitation of Competing Transactions.

- (a) The Company (acting through the Board of Directors or the Special Committee or otherwise) shall not, directly or indirectly, through any representative or otherwise, initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of furnishing information), or take any other action to facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any Competing Transaction (as defined below), or enter into or maintain or continue discussions or negotiate with any person or entity in furtherance of such inquiries or to obtain a Competing Transaction, or agree to or endorse any Competing Transaction, or authorize or permit any of its representatives to take any such action; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prohibit the Special Committee or the Board of Directors (acting through and at the direction of the Special Committee) (either directly or indirectly through advisors, agents or other intermediaries) from (i) furnishing information in writing or orally (through the Company's employees and advisors) pursuant to a customary confidentiality letter (a copy of which shall be provided for informational purposes only to Parent) concerning the Company and its businesses, properties or assets to any person, corporation, entity or "group," as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, other than Parent or its affiliates (a "Third Party"), in response to any unsolicited inquiry, proposal or offer, (ii) engaging in discussions or negotiations with such a Third Party that has made such inquiry, proposal or offer, (iii) following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, taking and disclosing to the Company's stockholders a position contemplated by Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2 (a) under the Exchange Act or otherwise making disclosure to its stockholders with respect to such proposal, (iv) following receipt of a bona fide proposal relating to a Competing Transaction, withdrawing or modifying its recommendation of this Merger Agreement, and/or (v) terminating this Merger Agreement, but in each case referred to in the foregoing clauses (i) through (v) only to the extent that the Special Committee shall have concluded in good faith after consultation with counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the Special Committee's or the Board of Directors' fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under applicable law.
- (b) At all times prior to the Effective Time, the parties shall promptly (and in no event with a delay of more than 48 hours) notify one another upon receipt of a proposal for a Competing Transaction.

- (c) For purposes of this Agreement, "Competing Transaction" shall mean a transaction or proposal involving the Company (other than the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement) as to which the Special Committee, in good faith after consultation with counsel, shall have concluded would, if effectuated, result in a change of control of the Company necessitating the filing by the Company of a Current Report on Form 8-K pursuant to Item 5.01 thereof.
- (d) Change in Recommendation. Subject to compliance with its obligations under Rules 14d-9 or 14e-2 under the Exchange Act, as applicable, the Company shall be deemed to be in breach of this Agreement in the event that the Special Committee or the Company Board modifies or amends (or publicly proposes to modify or amend) in a manner adverse to Parent or withdraws (or publicly propose to withdraw) the Company Board Recommendation (being referred to as a "Change in Recommendation") unless (i) prior to the Company's obtaining the Stockholder Approval, in connection with such Change in Recommendation, the Special Committee determines, in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel), that the failure to effect a Change in Recommendation would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under applicable Law, (ii) the Financial Advisor shall have withdrawn, materially amended or materially modified its opinion dated October 17, 2012 to the effect that the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Public Stockholders or (iii) such action is otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02.

Section 6.03 Financing.

- (a) Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall use its best efforts to complete the Financing on the terms and conditions described in the Financing Commitments as promptly as practicable but in any event on or before the Outside Date, including using its best efforts to (i) negotiate definitive agreements with respect thereto (A) on the terms and conditions contained in the Financing Commitments or (B) on other terms and conditions that (1) are no less favorable to the Company, Parent and Merger Sub taken as a whole, (2) do not impose any conditions other than those set forth in the Financing Commitments (the "Financing Conditions") or adversely change in any material respect any Financing Condition, and (3) would not reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger on or before the Outside Date, (ii) satisfy on a timely basis all conditions applicable to the Company, Parent and/or Merger Sub in such definitive agreements that are within their control and (iii) not permit any amendment or modification to be made to, or any waiver of, any material provision or remedy under the Financing Commitments, if such amendment, modification or waiver (A) imposes any new or additional conditions or adversely changes in any material respect any Financing Condition or (B) would reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger on or before the Outside Date.
- (b) If all or a portion of the Financing becomes unavailable in accordance with the terms of the Financing Commitments, then (i) Parent shall notify the Company promptly and (ii) the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to obtain any such portion from alternative sources as promptly as practicable following the occurrence of such event, on terms that (A) are no less favorable than those in the Financing Commitments to the Company, Parent and Merger Sub taken as a whole and (B) would not reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger on or before the Outside Date (the "Alternative Financing"), and to obtain a new financing commitment letter related to such Alternative Financing (the "Alternative Financing Commitment"). If applicable, each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall use their respective best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange promptly and consummate the Alternative Financing on the terms and conditions described in the Alternative Financing Commitment as promptly as practicable but in any event on or before the Outside Date, including using best efforts to (i) negotiate definitive agreements with respect to the Alternative Financing (such definitive agreements, or any definitive agreements entered into under Section 6.04(a), the "Financing Agreements") (A) on the terms and conditions contained in the Alternative Financing Commitment or (B) on other terms and conditions that (1) are no less favorable to the Company, Parent and Merger Sub taken as a whole, (2) do not impose any new or

additional conditions, or adversely change in any material respect any existing conditions, to the receipt of the Alternative Financing as set forth in the Alternative Financing Commitments and (3) would not reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger on or before the Outside Date, (ii) satisfy on a timely basis all conditions applicable to the Company, Parent and Merger Sub in such definitive agreements that are within their control, and (iii) upon satisfaction of such conditions, to use their best efforts to cause the funding of such Alternative Financing.

ARTICLE VII

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

Section 7.01 Preparation of the Proxy Statement and Schedule 13E-3- Stockholders' Meeting.

- (a) Proxy Statement. As soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and file the Proxy Statement with the SEC. The Company shall cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to the Stockholders as promptly as practicable after the SEC confirms that it has no comments, or no further comments, with respect to the Proxy Statement. Parent shall furnish to the Company all information as may be reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation, filing and distribution of the Proxy Statement. No filing of, or amendment or supplement to, the Proxy Statement will be made by the Company without providing Parent a reasonable opportunity to review and comment thereon. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any information relating to the Company or Parent, or any of their respective Affiliates, directors or officers, should be discovered by the Company or Parent which should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement, so that such document would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, the party which discovers such information shall promptly notify the other party hereto and an appropriate amendment or supplement describing such information shall be promptly filed with the SEC and, to the extent required by Law, disseminated to the stockholders of the Company. The parties shall notify each other promptly of the receipt of any comments from the SEC or the staff of the SEC and of any request by the SEC or the staff of the SEC for amendments or supplements to the Proxy Statement or for additional information and shall supply each other with copies of all correspondence between it or any of its Representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC or the staff of the SEC, on the other hand, with respect to the Proxy Statement or the Merger.
- (b) Schedule 13E-3. Concurrently with the initial filing of the Proxy Statement with the SEC, Parent and its Affiliates shall, in cooperation with and subject to the approval of the Special Committee, prepare and file with the SEC, together with the Company, the Schedule 13E-3. Parent and the Company shall cause the Schedule 13E-3 to comply with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and respond promptly to any comments of the SEC or its staff regarding the Schedule 13E-3. Each party agrees to provide the other party and its counsel and the Special Committee with copies of any comments that such party or its counsel may receive from the staff of the SEC regarding the Schedule 13E-3 promptly after receipt thereof. The Company shall promptly furnish to Parent all information concerning the Company and its executive officers and directors as may reasonably be requested in connection with the preparation of the Schedule 13E-3. The Company and its counsel and the Special Committee shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Schedule 13E-3 and each supplement, amendment or response to comments with respect thereto prior to filing with or delivering to the SEC.
- (c) Stockholders' Meeting. Unless there has been a Change in Recommendation permitted by Section 6.02, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts, as soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement and the receipt of clearance of the Proxy Statement from the SEC, to establish a record date for, duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of the Stockholders (the "Stockholders' Meeting") for the purpose of obtaining the Stockholder Approval; provided that such date may be extended to the extent reasonably necessary to permit

the Company to file and distribute any material amendment to the Proxy Statement and the Schedule 13E-3 as is required by applicable Law. Subject to Section 6.02, the Company Board shall recommend to the Stockholders adoption of this Agreement and the Merger and shall include the Company Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement. A Change in Recommendation permitted by Section 6.02 will not constitute a breach by the Company of this Agreement. The Company may engage one or more proxy solicitors in connection with the solicitation of proxies or votes from the Stockholders to be cast at the Stockholders' Meeting.

Section 7.02 Access to Information; Confidentiality.

- (a) Parent Access. During the Interim Period, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, the Company shall afford to Parent, and to Parent's Representatives, reasonable access during normal business hours and upon reasonable prior notice to the Company to all its and its Subsidiaries' properties, books, Contracts, commitments, personnel and records, and, during such period, the Company shall furnish promptly to Parent (i) a copy of each report, schedule, registration statement and other document filed by it during such period pursuant to the requirements of federal or state securities Laws, and (ii) all other information concerning its and its Subsidiaries' business, properties and personnel as Parent may reasonably request; provided that such access and inspections shall not unreasonably disrupt the operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries; and provided further, that the Company shall not be required to (or to cause any of its Subsidiaries to) so confer, afford such access or furnish such copies or other information to the extent that doing so would result in a violation of Law, result in the loss of attorney-client privilege or violate confidentiality obligations owing to third parties.
- (b) Hold Confidential. Except for disclosures expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement, Parent shall hold, and shall cause its accountants, counsel, financial advisors and other Representatives to hold, all information received from the Company, directly or indirectly, in confidence and not make any public disclosure thereof; provided, that the foregoing shall not prevent Parent from disclosing such information (i) to the extent required by applicable Law or by a Governmental Entity (including, inter alia, in any Schedule 13D or 13E-3 filing that Parent is required to make), and (ii) to the extent such information is or becomes generally available to the public other than by disclosure by Parent or any Affiliate or Representative of Parent.

Section 7.03 Reasonable Best Efforts.

- (a) Actions. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, each of the parties agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper and advisable to consummate and make effective, as promptly as practicable, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including using reasonable best efforts to accomplish the following: (i) that the conditions set forth in Article VIII are satisfied; (ii) the obtaining of all necessary actions or nonactions, waivers, consents, clearances, and approvals from Governmental Entities and non-governmental third parties and the making of all necessary registrations, notices and filings (including filings with Governmental Entities); and (iii) the obtaining of all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties. Subject to first having used all reasonable best efforts to negotiate a resolution of any objections underlying such lawsuits or other legal proceedings, the Company and Parent shall use reasonable best efforts to defend and contest any lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including seeking to have any stay, temporary restraining order, or preliminary injunction entered by any Governmental Entity vacated or reversed.
- (b) Filings. The Company and Parent shall cooperate and consult with each other in connection with the making of all such filings, notifications and any other material actions pursuant to this Section 7.03, subject to applicable Law, by permitting counsel for the other party to review in advance, and consider in good faith the views of the other party in connection with, any proposed material written communication to any Governmental Entity and by providing counsel for the other party with copies of all filings and submissions made by such party and all correspondence between such party (and its advisors) with any Governmental Entity and any other

information supplied by such party and such party's Affiliates to a Governmental Entity or received from such a Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that material may be redacted (x) as necessary to comply with contractual arrangements, and (y) as necessary to address good faith legal privilege or confidentiality concerns. Neither party shall file any such document or take such action if the other party has reasonably objected (and not withdrawn its objection) to the filing of such document or the taking of such action on the grounds that such filing or action would reasonably be expected to either (i) prevent, materially delay or materially impede the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby, or (ii) cause a condition set forth in Article VIII to not be satisfied in a timely manner. Neither party shall consent to any voluntary extension of any statutory deadline or waiting period or to any voluntary delay of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at the behest of any Governmental Entity without the consent of the other party.

- (c) Advise of Changes. Each of the Company and Parent will promptly inform the other party upon receipt of any material communication from any Governmental Entity regarding any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. If the Company or Parent (or any of their respective Affiliates) receives a request for additional information or documentary material from any such Governmental Entity that is related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then such party will endeavor in good faith to make, or cause to be made, as soon as reasonably practicable and after consultation with the other party, an appropriate response in compliance with such request. The parties agree not to participate, or to permit their Affiliates to participate, in any substantive meeting or discussion with any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement unless it so consults with the other party in advance and, to the extent not prohibited by such Governmental Entity, gives the other party the opportunity to attend and participate. Each party will advise the other party promptly of any understandings, undertakings or agreements (oral or written) which the first party proposes to make or enter into with any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each party will use all reasonable efforts to resolve any objections that may be asserted with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under any antitrust, competition or trade regulatory Laws, including (subject to first having used all reasonable efforts to negotiate a resolution to any such objections) contesting and resisting any action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned any decree, judgment, injunction or other Order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to have such statute, rule, regulation, decree, judgment, injunction or other Order repealed, rescinded or made inapplicable so as to permit consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Limitations or Actions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no party is required to, and the Company may not, without the prior written consent of Parent, become subject to, consent or agree to, or otherwise take any action with respect to, any requirement, condition, limitation, understanding, agreement or Order to sell, to hold separate or otherwise dispose of, or to conduct, restrict, operate, invest or otherwise change the assets or business of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub, or any of their Affiliates in any manner which, individually or in the aggregate with all other such requirements, conditions, understandings, agreements and Orders could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the combined business, financial condition or results of operations of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company will, upon the reasonable request of Parent, become subject to, or consent or agree to or otherwise take any action with respect to, any requirement, condition, understanding, agreement or Order to sell, to hold separate or otherwise dispose of, or to conduct, restrict, operate, invest or otherwise change the assets or business of the Company or any of its Affiliates, so long as such requirement, condition, understanding, agreement or Order is binding on the Company only in the event that the Closing occurs. Furthermore, without the prior written consent of the Parent (determined in its sole discretion), in no event shall the Company or Parent or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates: (i) pay any consideration to, amend or enter into any agreement with, any non-governmental third party to obtain any consent to the Merger or to otherwise comply with Section 7.03(e); or (ii) agree to the imposition of limitations

on the ability of Parent or any Affiliate of Parent to hold, or exercise full rights of ownership of, any shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation, including the right to vote such shares on all matters properly presented to the stockholders of the Surviving Corporation.

(e) Action as to Laws. The Company and the Company Board shall (i) use reasonable best efforts to ensure that no state takeover Law or similar Law is or becomes applicable to this Agreement, the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) if any state takeover Law or similar Law becomes applicable to this Agreement, the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, use reasonable best efforts to ensure that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be consummated as promptly as practicable on the terms contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise to minimize the effect of such Law on this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 7.04 Indemnification Exculpation and Insurance.

- (a) Assumption. Parent acknowledges and agrees that the Surviving Corporation shall by operation of law assume the obligations with respect to all rights to indemnification, defense and exculpation from liabilities, including advancement of expenses, for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time now existing in favor of the current or former directors, officers, employees or agents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (each an "Indemnified Party") to the same extent as provided in the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' certificate or articles of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents or any indemnification Contract between such Indemnified Parties (in each case, as in effect on the date of this Agreement), without further action, as of the Effective Time and such obligations shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms for a period of not less than six (6) years from the Effective Time and that all rights to indemnification, defense or exculpation, as well as to advancement of expenses (including, but not limited to, legal fees), in respect of any action pending or asserted or any claim made within such period shall continue until the full, final and non-appealable disposition of such action or resolution of such claim.
- (b) Effect on Successor. In the event that the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and other assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, the Surviving Corporation shall not consummate any such action unless the Surviving Corporation shall cause proper provision to be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation shall expressly assume the obligations set forth in this Section 7.04 and shall not terminate or modify such obligations in a manner as to adversely affect any Indemnified Party.
- (c) Insurance. For six (6) years after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall maintain (directly or indirectly through the Company's existing insurance programs) in effect directors' and officers' liability insurance in respect of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, covering each person currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance policy maintained by the Company or its Subsidiaries on terms with respect to such coverage and amounts comparable to the insurance maintained currently by the Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable; provided that the Surviving Corporation may substitute therefor policies of at least the same coverage containing terms and conditions which are not less advantageous to the beneficiaries of the current policies and with carriers having an A.M. Best "key rating" of AX or better, provided that such substitution shall not result in any gaps or lapses in coverage with respect to matters occurring prior to the Effective Time.
- (d) Benefit. The provisions of this Section 7.04 (i) are intended to be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each Indemnified Party, his or her heirs and his or her representatives, and (ii) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights that any such Person may have by Contract or otherwise, including, without limitation, rights to indemnification or contribution. It is expressly agreed that the Indemnified Parties

shall be third party beneficiaries of this Section 7.04. The agreements and covenants contained in this Section 7.04 shall not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which any Indemnified Party is entitled, whether pursuant to Law, Contract or otherwise. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, shall be construed to or shall release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to the Company or its officers, directors and employees, it being understood and agreed that the indemnification provided for in this Section 7.04 is not prior to, or in substitution for, any such claim under any such policies.

Section 7.05 Fees and Expenses. All Expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such Expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated. The Company shall pay any and all Expenses reasonably incurred and duly documented by the Special Committee or such other members of the Company Board in connection with the Merger, including but not limited to the reasonable fees and expenses of the Financial Advisor and counsel to the Special Committee.

Section 7.06 Public Announcements. Parent and the Company shall consult with each other before issuing, and give each other the opportunity to review and comment upon, any press release or other public statements with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to such consultation, except as such party may reasonably conclude may be required by applicable Law, court process or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with any national securities exchange. The parties agree that the initial press release to be issued with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be in the form heretofore agreed to by the parties.

ARTICLE VIII

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

Section 8.01 Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger.

The respective obligation of each party to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver (except as provided otherwise in this Section 8.01) by both Parent and the Company on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) Stockholder Approval. The Company shall have obtained the Stockholder Approval. This condition is not waivable by either party.
- (b) Fairness Opinion. The Financial Advisor shall not have withdrawn, amended or modified its opinion dated October 17, 2012 to the effect that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Public Stockholders. This condition is not waivable by either party.
- (c) No Injunctions or Restraints. There shall not be in effect any statute, regulation, order, decree or judgment of any Governmental Entity which makes illegal or enjoins or prevents the consummation of the Merger.
- (d) Solvency. The Company shall have received an opinion, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent and the Company (including to the reasonable satisfaction of the Special Committee), from an independent valuation firm experienced in rendering solvency opinions, to the effect that as of the Closing, the Surviving Corporation will be Solvent. This condition is not waivable by either party.

Section 8.02 Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub. The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver by Parent on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement that are qualified as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct, and the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date. Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an officer of the Company to such effect dated as of the Closing Date.
- (b) Performance of Obligations of the Company. The Company shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by the Company under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date. Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an officer of the Company to such effect dated as of the Closing Date.
- (c) Consents. There shall not be any consents or approvals of any third parties required in connection with or as a result of the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation by the Company of the Merger and each of the other transactions contemplated hereby under any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or any of their respective properties or other assets are subject or any Law or Order applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective properties or other assets, except (i) any such consent or approval as has been obtained and such consents are in full force and effect and, (ii) any such consents or approvals which, if not obtained, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Director Resignations. The Company shall have received the written resignation of each director of the Company.
- (e) Financing. The Financing, in an amount and on terms substantially consistent with the Financing Commitments, shall be advanced to the Surviving Corporation at the Closing.

Section 8.03 Conditions to Obligation of the Company. The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement that are qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct, and the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date. The Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent and Merger Sub by an executive officer of Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, to such effect.
- (b) Performance of Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date, and the Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent and Merger Sub by its respective Chief Executive Officer to such effect dated as of the Closing Date.

Section 8.04 Frustration of Closing Conditions.

Neither the Company, on the one hand, nor Parent and Merger Sub, on the other hand, may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in Section 8.01, Section 8.02 or Section 8.03, as the case may be, to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such party's failure to act in good faith or use its reasonable best efforts to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as required by and subject to Section 7.03.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after receipt of the Stockholder Approval:

- (a) by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;
- (b) by either Parent or the Company:
- (i) if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before April 30, 2013 (the "Outside Date"); provided, however that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(b)(i) shall not be available to any party whose breach of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in this Agreement has (directly or indirectly) in whole or in material part been a cause of or resulted in the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or before such date:
- (ii) if the Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained at the Stockholders' Meeting duly convened therefor or at any adjournment or postponement thereof; or
- (iii) if any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have issued or entered an injunction or similar legal restraint or order permanently enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Merger and such injunction, legal restraint or order shall have become final and non-appealable; provided, however, that the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(b)(iii) shall have used such reasonable best efforts as may be required by Section 7.03 to prevent, oppose and remove such injunction;
- (c) by Parent, if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition set forth in Section 8.02, and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by the Company prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Parent, or (B) the Outside Date; provided, however, that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(c) if it or Merger Sub is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement that would cause any of the conditions in Section 8.03 not to be satisfied:
- (d) by the Company, if Parent or Merger Sub shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of any condition set forth in Section 8.03, and (ii) is uncured or incapable of being cured by Parent or Merger Sub prior to the earlier to occur of (A) ten (10) calendar days following receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from the Company, or (B) the Outside Date; provided, however, that the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(d) if it is then in material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement that would cause any of the conditions in Section 8.02 not to be satisfied;
- (e) prior to obtaining the Stockholder Approval, by the Company, in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of, Section 6.02(a); or
- (f) by Parent, in the event that (i) the Special Committee or the Company Board shall have made a Change in Recommendation (or publicly proposes to make a Change in Recommendation), or (ii) the Company has failed to comply in any material respect with Section 6.02 (including the Company's approving, recommending or entering into any actual or proposed acquisition agreement in violation of Section 6.02), or (iii) the Company shall have failed to comply with Section 7.01(c) to include the Company Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement.

Section 9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement by either the Company or Parent as provided in Section 9.01, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of Parent or the Company or their directors, officers or stockholders, under this Agreement, other than the provisions of Section 7.02(b), Section 7.05, this Section 9.02 and Article X, which provisions shall survive such termination.

Section 9.03 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time before or after receipt of the Stockholder Approval; provided, however, that after the Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained, there shall be made no amendment that by applicable Law requires further approval by the stockholders of the Company without such approval having been obtained. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

Section 9.04 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties may (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, (ii) to the extent permitted by applicable Law, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto, or (iii) subject to the proviso to the first sentence of Section 9.03 and to the extent permitted by applicable Law, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein, except those agreements or conditions, which by their terms are not waivable. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights nor shall any single or partial exercise by any party to this Agreement of any of its rights under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise of such rights or any other rights under this Agreement.

Section 9.05 Procedure for Termination or Amendment. A termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01 or an amendment of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.03 shall, in order to be effective, require, in the case of Parent or Merger Sub, action by its respective board of directors, and in the case of the Company, action by the Special Committee or the Company Board.

ARTICLE X

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 10.01 Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties. None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time. This Section 10.01 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties which by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

Section 10.02 Notices. Except for notices that are specifically required by the terms of this Agreement to be delivered orally, all notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally, telecopied (which is confirmed) or sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

If to Parent or Merger Sub, to:

UM Holdings, Ltd. 56 Haddon Avenue Haddonfield, New Jersey 08033 Attn: John Aglialoro, Chairman If to the Company, to:

Cybex International, Inc. 10 Trotter Drive Medway, MA 02053

Attn: John Aglialoro, Chairman and CEO

with a copy to:

Archer & Greiner, P.C. One Centennial Square 33 East Euclid Avenue Haddonfield, NJ 08033 Attn: James H. Carll, Esquire

and to:

Lowenstein Sandler PC 65 Livingston Avenue Roseland, New Jersey 07068 Attn: Peter H. Ehrenberg, Esquire

Section 10.03 Consents and Approvals. For any matter under this Agreement requiring the consent or approval of any party to be valid and binding on the parties hereto, such consent or approval must be in writing.

Section 10.04 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (including by facsimile or e-mail), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when two or more counterparts have been signed by all of the parties and delivered to the other parties.

Section 10.05 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the Schedules) and any agreements entered into contemporaneously herewith constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. Except for (i) following the Effective Time, the rights of the Company's stockholders to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with Section 3.01(a), and (ii) the provisions of Section 7.04 hereof, this Agreement (including the Schedules) is not intended to and do not confer upon any Person (including, inter alia, the Public Stockholders in their capacity as such) other than the parties hereto any legal or equitable rights or remedies.

Section 10.06 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles that would require the application of the law of another jurisdiction.

Section 10.07 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other party, and any assignment without such consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that Parent may assign any of its rights, interest and obligations under this Agreement to any of its Affiliates without the consent of the Company, but no such assignment shall relieve the assigning party of its obligations hereunder. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 10.08 Enforcement; Consent to Jurisdiction. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties to this Agreement shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement exclusively in any state or federal court sitting in the County of New York, State of New York. Each of the parties hereto (i) irrevocably consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the County of New York, State of New York in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, and (iii) agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court other than any state or federal court sitting in the County of New York, State of New York. Any judgment from any such court described above may, however, be enforced by any party in any other court in any other jurisdiction.

Section 10.09 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are fulfilled to the extent possible.

Section 10.10 No Recourse. This Agreement may only be enforced against, and any claims or causes of action that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement may only be made against the entities that are expressly identified as parties hereto, and no past, present or future Affiliate, director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, manager, partner, shareholder, agent, attorney or representative of any party hereto shall have any liability for any obligations or liabilities of the parties to this Agreement or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 10.11 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger to be signed by its respective officers hereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

/s/ Robert E. Smyth By:

Name: Robert E. Smyth

Title: Chair, Special Committee

UM HOLDINGS, LTD.

By: /s/ John Aglialoro

Name: John Aglialoro

Title: CEO

CYB MERGER CORP.

/s/ John Aglialoro

Name: John Aglialoro

Title: President

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

8690970v5

DUFF&PHELPS

Confidential October 17, 2012

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Cybex International, Inc. 10 Trotter Drive Medway, MA 02053

Dear Members of the Special Committee:

Duff & Phelps, LLC ("<u>Duff & Phelps</u>") was engaged by the Special Committee (the "<u>Special Committee</u>") of the Board of Directors (the "<u>Board of Directors</u>") of Cybex International, Inc., a New York corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), to serve as an independent financial advisor to the Special Committee and to provide an opinion to the Special Committee (the "<u>Opinion</u>") as of the date hereof as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Public Stockholders (as defined in the Merger Agreement to which reference is made below) of the Common Stock, par value \$0.10 per share (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), of the Company of the consideration to be received by such Public Shareholders in the contemplated transaction described below (the "<u>Proposed Transaction</u>") (without giving effect to any impact of the Proposed Transaction on any particular shareholder other than in its capacity as a shareholder).

Description of the Proposed Transaction

It is Duff & Phelps' understanding that the Proposed Transaction involves the merger of a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey corporation ("Parent"), with and into the Company, with the Company as the surviving corporation, pursuant to which each outstanding share of the Common Stock held by the Public Stockholders will be converted into the right to receive \$2.55 per share in cash (the "Per Share Merger Consideration"). The terms and conditions of the Proposed Transaction are more fully set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Scope of Analysis

In connection with this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as it has deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Duff & Phelps also took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as its experience in securities and business valuation, in general, and with respect to similar transactions, in particular. Duff & Phelps' procedures, investigations, and financial analysis with respect to the preparation of its Opinion included, but were not limited to, the items summarized below:

- 1. Reviewed the following documents:
 - a. The Company's annual reports and audited financial statements on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for the years ended 2007 through 2011 and the Company's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2012 included in the Company's Form 10-Q filed with the SEC;

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Cybex International, Inc. Page 2 of 4 October 17, 2012

- b. Unaudited financial information for the Company for the eight months ended on or around August 31, 2012:
- c. Other internal documents relating to the history, current operations, and probable future outlook of the Company, including financial projections, provided to us by management of the Company;
- d. A letter dated October 5, 2012 from the management of the Company which made certain representations as to historical financial statements, financial projections and the underlying assumptions, and a pro forma schedule of assets and liabilities (including identified contingent liabilities) for the Company (the "Management Representation Letter"); and
- e. Documents related to the Proposed Transaction, including the draft dated October 11, 2012 of the Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, Cyb Merger Corp., a New York corporation and Parent (the "Merger Agreement");
- 2. Discussed the information referred to above and the background and other elements of the Proposed Transaction with the management of the Company;
- 3. Reviewed the historical trading price and trading volume of the Company's common stock, and the publicly traded securities of certain other companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant;
- 4. Performed certain valuation and comparative analyses using generally accepted valuation and analytical techniques including a discounted cash flow analysis, an analysis of selected public companies that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant, and an analysis of selected transactions that Duff & Phelps deemed relevant; and
- 5. Conducted such other analyses and considered such other factors as Duff & Phelps deemed appropriate.

Assumptions, Qualifications and Limiting Conditions

In performing its analyses and rendering this Opinion with respect to the Proposed Transaction, Duff & Phelps, with the Company's consent:

- 1. Relied upon the accuracy, completeness, and fair presentation of all information, data, advice, opinions and representations obtained from public sources or provided to it from private sources, including Company management, and did not independently verify such information;
- Relied upon the fact that the Special Committee, the Board of Directors and the Company have been
 advised by counsel as to all legal matters with respect to the Proposed Transaction, including whether all
 procedures required by law to be taken in connection with the Proposed Transaction have been duly, validly
 and timely taken;
- 3. Assumed that any estimates, evaluations, forecasts and projections furnished to Duff & Phelps were reasonably prepared and based upon the best currently available information and good faith judgment of the person furnishing the same;
- 4. Assumed that information supplied and representations made by Company management are substantially accurate regarding the Company and the Proposed Transaction and that there has been no material change therein;
- 5. Assumed that the representations and warranties made in the Merger Agreement and the Management Representation Letter are substantially accurate;
- 6. Assumed that the final versions of all documents reviewed by Duff & Phelps in draft form conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed;

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Cybex International, Inc. Page 3 of 4 October 17, 2012

- 7. Assumed that there has been no material change in the assets, financial condition, business, or prospects of the Company since the date of the most recent financial statements and other information made available to Duff & Phelps;
- 8. Assumed that all of the conditions required to implement the Proposed Transaction will be satisfied and that the Proposed Transaction will be completed in accordance with the Merger Agreement without any amendments thereto or any waivers of any terms or conditions thereof; and
- 9. Assumed that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Proposed Transaction will be obtained without any adverse effect on the Company or the contemplated benefits expected to be derived in the Proposed Transaction.

To the extent that any of the foregoing assumptions or any of the facts on which this Opinion is based prove to be untrue in any material respect, this Opinion cannot and should not be relied upon. Furthermore, in Duff & Phelps' analysis and in connection with the preparation of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Proposed Transaction and as to which Duff & Phelps does not express any view or opinion in this Opinion including as to the reasonableness of such assumptions.

Duff & Phelps has prepared this Opinion effective as of the date hereof. This Opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated as of the date hereof, and Duff & Phelps disclaims any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting this Opinion which may come or be brought to the attention of Duff & Phelps after the date hereof.

Duff & Phelps did not evaluate the Company's solvency or conduct an independent appraisal or physical inspection of any specific assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise). Duff & Phelps has not been requested to, and did not, (i) initiate any discussions with, or solicit any indications of interest from, third parties with respect to the Proposed Transaction, the assets, businesses or operations of the Company, or any alternatives to the Proposed Transaction, (ii) negotiate the terms of the Proposed Transaction, and therefore, Duff & Phelps has assumed that such terms are the most beneficial terms, from the Company's perspective, that could, under the circumstances, be negotiated among the parties to the Merger Agreement and the Proposed Transaction, or (iii) advise the Special Committee or any other party with respect to alternatives to the Proposed Transaction or any other aspect of the Proposed Transaction.

Duff & Phelps is not expressing any opinion as to the market price or value of the Company's Common Stock after announcement of the Proposed Transaction. This Opinion should not be construed as a valuation opinion, a credit rating, a solvency opinion, an analysis of the Company's credit worthiness, tax advice, or accounting advice. Duff & Phelps has not made, and assumes no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal matter.

In rendering this Opinion, Duff & Phelps is not expressing any opinion with respect to the amount or nature of any compensation to any of the Company's officers, directors, or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to the Merger Consideration to be received by the Public Shareholders in the Proposed Transaction, or with respect to the fairness of any such compensation.

This Opinion is furnished for the use and benefit of the Special Committee in connection with its consideration of the Proposed Transaction and is not intended to, and does not, confer any rights or remedies upon any other person, and is not intended to be used, and may not be used, by any other person or for any other purpose,

Special Committee of the Board of Directors Cybex International, Inc. Page 4 of 4 October 17, 2012

without Duff & Phelps' express consent. This Opinion (i) does not address the merits of the underlying business decision to enter into the Proposed Transaction versus any alternative strategy or transaction, (ii) does not address any transaction related to the Proposed Transaction, (iii) is not a recommendation as to how the Special Committee, the Board of Directors or any stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Proposed Transaction, or whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction, and (iv) does not indicate that the consideration to be received by the Public Shareholders is the best possibly attainable under any circumstances; instead, it merely states whether the consideration in the Proposed Transaction is within a range suggested by certain financial analyses. The decision as to whether to proceed with the Proposed Transaction or any related transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analysis on which this Opinion is based. This letter should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on the part of Duff & Phelps to any party.

This Opinion is solely that of Duff & Phelps, and Duff & Phelps' liability in connection with this letter shall be limited in accordance with the terms set forth in the engagement letter between Duff & Phelps and the Company dated June 11, 2012 (the "Engagement Letter"). This letter is confidential, and its use and disclosure is strictly limited in accordance with the terms set forth in the Engagement Letter.

Disclosure of Prior Relationships

Duff & Phelps has acted as financial advisor to the Special Committee and will receive a fee for its services. No portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is contingent upon either the conclusion expressed in this Opinion or whether or not the Proposed Transaction is successfully consummated. Pursuant to the terms of the Engagement Letter, a portion of Duff & Phelps' fee is payable upon Duff & Phelps' stating to the Special Committee that it is prepared to deliver its Opinion. During the two years preceding the date of this Opinion, Duff & Phelps has not had any material relationship with any party to the Proposed Transaction for which compensation has been received or is intended to be received, nor is any such material relationship or related compensation mutually understood to be contemplated, other than this engagement and except that Duff & Phelps was engaged by the Company on behalf of the Special Committee in 2010 to serve as independent financial advisor and to provide a fairness opinion in connection with a transaction under consideration by the Company at that time, and Duff & Phelps received compensation and reimbursement of its expenses pursuant to that engagement. Duff & Phelps received customary fees, expense reimbursement, and indemnification for that prior engagement.

Conclusion

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, Duff & Phelps is of the opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Per Share Merger Consideration to be received by the Public Shareholders in the Proposed Transaction is fair from a financial point of view to such holders (without giving effect to any impact of the Proposed Transaction on any particular shareholder other than in its capacity as a shareholder).

This Opinion has been approved by the Opinion Review Committee of Duff & Phelps.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Duff & Phelps Duff & Phelps, LLC Special Meeting of Stockholders of Cybex International, Inc. February 6, 2013 at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time 10 Trotter Drive Medway, Massachusetts 02053

Special Meeting

Meeting—The Special Meeting of Stockholders of Cybex International, Inc. will be held at the Company's executive offices at 10 Trotter Drive, Medway, Massachusetts 02053, on February 6, 2013 at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Special Meeting

Notice—The Notice and Proxy Statement and Proxy Card are available at www.cfpproxy.com/0666sm

FOLD AND DETACH HERE PROXY

CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. 10 TROTTER DRIVE MEDWAY, MASSACHUSETTS 02053

PROXY FOR SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS FEBRUARY 6, 2013

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.

The undersigned, a stockholder of **CYBEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.**, a New York corporation (the "Company"), hereby appoints Arthur W. Hicks, Jr. and James H. Carll, or either of them, the proxy of the undersigned, with full power of substitution, to attend, vote and act for the undersigned at the Company's Special Meeting of Stockholders to be held on February 6, 2013, and at any postponement or adjournment thereof in accordance with their best judgment.

The undersigned hereby (a) acknowledges receipt of a copy of the proxy statement relating to the Special Meeting and (b) revokes any other proxy to vote at the Special Meeting.

This Proxy will be voted in accordance with the instructions set forth on the reverse side. If no specification is made, it will be voted "FOR" each proposal.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THIS FORM PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE, OR USE THE INTERNET OR TELEPHONIC OPTIONS DESCRIBED ON THE REVERSE SIDE, EVEN IF YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE SPECIAL MEETING.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side

Cybex International, Inc. 10 Trotter Drive Medway, Massachusetts 02053 Mr. and Mrs. Investor ADD 1 ADD 2 ADD 3

Using a **black ink pen**, mark your votes with an **X** as shown in this example. ☑ Please do not write outside the designated areas.

Special Meeting Proxy Card

Electronic Voting Instructions

You can vote by Internet or telephone. Available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week

Instead of mailing your proxy, you may choose one of the two voting methods outlined below to vote your proxy.

VALIDATION DETAILS ARE LOCATED IN THE TITLE BAR BELOW.

Proxies submitted by Internet or telephone must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on February 5, 2013



VOTE BY INTERNET

- Log on to the Internet and go to http://www.rtcoproxy.com/cybi
- Follow the steps outlined on the secured Web site.



- Call toll-free 1-855-730-0806 from a touch-tone telephone. There is NO CHARGE for this call.
- Follow the instructions provided by the recorded message.

1234567890

IF YOU HAVE NOT VOTED VIA THE INTERNET OR PHONE, FOLD ALONG THE PERFORATION, DETACH AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.

THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED AS DIRECTED, OR IF NO DIRECTION IS INDICATED, IT WILL BE VOTED "FOR" EACH PROPOSAL. THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

Cybex International, Inc.'s Board of Directors recommends a vote "FOR" proposals 1 and 2:

1.	To consider and vote on a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 17, 2012 (the "Merger Agreement") by and among Cybex International, Inc., a New York corporation, UM Holdings, Ltd., a New Jersey corporation, and CYB Merger Corp., a New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UM Holdings, Ltd., as it may hereafter be amended from time to time.		AGAINST	ABSTAIN
2.	To consider and vote on a proposal to adjourn or postpone the Special Meeting to a later date or time, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement if there are insufficient votes at the time of such adjournment or postponement to adopt the Merger Agreement.	FOR	AGAINST	ABSTAIN □

					AGAINST	ABSTAIN
3.	To consider and vote on such any adjournments or postpone	other business as may properly come before the Sments of the Special Meeting.	Special Meeting or			
	e: In their discretion, the proxies ial Meeting or any adjournment	are authorized to vote your shares upon such other or postponement thereof.	ther business as may	proper	ly come be	fore the
				Will A	Attend Mee	ting TYES
Sign	ature	Signature		Date		
othe	r fiduciary, please give full titl	r name(s) appear(s) above and date. When sig le as such. Joint owners should each sign perso corporate or partnership name, by an authori	sonally. All holders			